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Our history
The origins of the Office of the 

Auditor General for Western 
Australia herald back to the first 

months of settlement of the Swan 
River colony in 1829. 

Captain James Stirling, the Colony’s 
first Governor commanded that 

the Office of the Commissioners 
of the Board of Counsel and Audit 

be opened ‘for the despatch of 
business’ on 12 August 1829. 

Captain Mark Currie, was appointed 
as the Swan River Colony’s first 

Auditor on 1 July 1831.

Western Australia has had 18 
Auditors General, who are listed on 
the inside back cover of this report.

THE PRESIDENT  THE SPEAKER
LEGISLATIVE COUNCIL LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY

ANNUAL REPORT OF THE OFFICE OF THE AUDITOR 
GENERAL FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015 

In accordance with section 63, as modified by Schedule 3, 
of the Financial Management Act 2006, I hereby submit to 
Parliament for its information the Annual Report of the Office 
of the Auditor General for the year ended 30 June 2015.

The annual report has been prepared in accordance with the 
provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 and the 
Auditor General Act 2006.

COLIN MURPHY
AUDITOR GENERAL 
28 August 2015

http://www.slp.wa.gov.au/legislation/statutes.nsf/main_mrtitle_333_homepage.html
http://www.slp.wa.gov.au/legislation/statutes.nsf/main_mrtitle_333_homepage.html
http://www.slp.wa.gov.au/legislation/statutes.nsf/main_mrtitle_63_homepage.html
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About Our Report
Welcome to our 2014-15 Annual Report, which provides a thorough 
look at our performance and the services we have delivered to meet 
our desired outcome of an informed Parliament on public sector 
accountability and performance. 

This report gives an insight into who we are, what we do, what we set out 
to achieve, what we were able to achieve and where to next. 

Our annual report is not a report on the results of audits conducted, as 
we table this information separately in Parliament. Rather, it describes 
the functions and operations of the Office of the Auditor General and 
presents the audited financial statements and performance indicators for 
the Office for the year ended 30 June 2015.

This and earlier annual reports are available on our website at  
www.audit.wa.gov.au.

We have structured our report around six key areas:

Year in review – page 3-5 A snapshot of our performance and an overview of where to next.

Our Office – page 13-20 An insight into who we are, what we do, how and why.

Our operational performance – page 21-50 Demonstrates how we serve the public interest through a comprehensive suite of audit work. 

Our business activities – page 51-68 Outlines how we actively support our Office to deliver work that matters.

Governance – page 69-80 A comprehensive look at how we manage our people and our business.

Financial statements – page 81-128 Our financial performance for 2014-15.

Our full contents are on page 6-7
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About Us
Who we are
The Office of the Auditor General is one of the largest audit practices in 
Western Australia. Our role is to serve the public interest by providing 
Parliament with independent and impartial information about public 
sector accountability and performance. 

From our office in central Perth we manage the annual financial audits 
of the state’s 180 agencies and subsidiaries. In the past 12 months 
we completed financial audits of entities that had a combined worth of 
over $208 billion worth of assets. In addition to our financial audits, we 
also conduct and report on 20 or more performance audits each year. 
These assess efficiency and effectiveness of public sector agencies and 
programs.

We achieve this with a budget of $23 698 000 and an FTE of just 
over 130 people. Our people come with a range of qualifications and 
experiences, including commerce, economics, law, history, psychology, 
environmental science, human resources and information technology. 
We are very proud of this diversity because it strengthens our capacity 
and culture and makes the Office a more enjoyable place to work. 

Key relationships
The Auditor General is an independent officer of Parliament (page 14). 
The Office supporting the Auditor General is a public sector department 
but unlike other departments and agencies, the Office and the Auditor 
General do not report to any government minister but report directly 
to Parliament (Figure 1). Three parliamentary committees, Public 
Accounts Committee, Estimates and Financial Operations Committee 
and Joint Standing Committee on Audit, have particular oversight of our 
operations.

Figure 1: Office reporting structure to Parliament

The public sector environment we operate in
We deal with agencies employing over 137 900 people, that provide 
hugely diverse public services, including education, health, community 
services, justice, energy, natural resource management and economic 
development. There are however, common challenges faced by the 
public sector that affect operations and influence how and what we audit. 
These include:

yy a drive for efficiency as state government’s fiscal situation worsens

yy reductions to the number of full time employees across the sector

yy agency amalgamations and restructures following government 
reviews

yy changing workforce demographic, with a large component of the 
workforce nearing retirement age, affecting succession planning and 
retention of business intelligence held by long-term employees soon 
to retire.  
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Our Year and People at a Glance

62%
of financial audit 

opinions issued earlier 
than last year  

(page 26)

97% 
Members of Parliament 

satisfied with Auditor 
General reports and 

services (page 30)

We responded to 

90% of all referrals 
and enquiries within 

our target, even with an 

unprecedented 75% 
jump in the total number 

received (page 79)

95% 
of our financial audit 

clients said they valued the 
Office’s recommendations 

to improve the financial 
management and 

internal controls of their 
organisation  

(page 33) Over 2 800 
responses to our 

community survey on 
Safe and Sustainable 

Cycling for Perth (page 39)

Gareth Govan worked on the SIHI 
performance audit  
(report details page 45)

Rachael Wilkins worked on the 
traffic congestion performance audit  
(report details page 46)

Derek Tsang supports Financial 
Audit on financial reporting issues

Blake Cooper worked on HR leave 
reconciliations

We tabled just 20 
reports against our 

target of 25, but 
handled a record 

number of opinions on 
Ministerial notifications  

(page 29)
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Our Performance Scorecard
Our progress at a glance
The following pages show key measures we use to assess  
our progress against our strategic plan.  

Strategic Plan 2011-16
Appendix 1 (page 136) outlines each of our strategies, and where to find  
evidence of success in our annual report.

 Our current strategic plan 2011-16 is on track and we are happy with our progress.  
 We are winding up this plan and are currently developing our next five-year plan (page 18). 

Key result 
areas

At 30 June 2015

Number of 
strategies Complete In 

Progress Comment

Our Business 
Performance 19 18 1 Strategy not complete is to ‘reduce reliance upon IT systems provided by external providers’. 

A lot of work has been done in this area in 2014-15 and will continue into next year (page 65).  
—

Our Clients 15 14 1 Strategy not complete is ‘aim to table reports as planned, on time’. We did not meet our target 
this year (page 23). We have a number of initiatives in place to help address this. 

Our Products 
and Services 10 10 - All strategies complete – including to ‘maintain a contemporary auditing approach…’, which 

had not been completed to a satisfactory point last year (page 77).  

Our People 15 15 - All strategies complete – including a review of our comprehensive Workforce Development 
Plan (page 55), which had not been completed to a satisfactory point last year. 

Total 59 57 2

Per cent 100% 97% 3%

Legend – here and throughout this report

 Complete / satisfactory ongoing results

— Target not met but no immediate cause for concern

 Not yet started / poor results – we are taking action to address
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Looking Forward

yy Develop new five-year: 

y� Strategic Plan (page 18)

y� Workforce Development Strategy (page 55)

yy Consider and plan for the prospect of introducing a local 
government auditing program.

Our Products and Services

Effectiveness indicator – number of audit reports against a three year cumulative 
target of 75 reports (page 23)  
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Financial auditing – products issued (page 28)
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Our Products and Services

Efficiency indicator – cost per million dollars of gross government expenditure and 
average number of days to deliver financial audit opinions (page 24)
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Our Clients

Client feedback – overall satisfaction rating (page 30)
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Our Business Performance

Financial performance – total cost of services (sourced from Statement of 
Comprehensive Income) (page 22)
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https://audit.wa.gov.au/work-in-progress/
http://www.parliament.wa.gov.au/WebCMS/WebCMS.nsf/index
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Auditor General’s Overview
Each year in this role brings new and interesting challenges, and 
2014-15 was no exception. Our audit program covered a range of 
topics, each with unique challenges. In some cases, significant effort 
was required in obtaining access to information required for audit. The 
year also saw increasing numbers of enquiries and referrals from the 
public and members of Parliament (page 79), as well as an increase in 
the number of notices from Ministers where information requested by 
Parliament was not provided (page 29).  

As the Office prepared for its first parliamentary review since the 
passage of our legislation, the Corruption and Crime Commission added 
to earlier recommendations that the Office should have a role in auditing 
local government.

Appropriately, the Office was not immune from the Government’s 
savings program. Late last year, in response to a deteriorating budget, 
Government announced a $2 billion savings package over four 
years, including a one per cent efficiency dividend on most general 
government agencies, cuts to non-essential procurement expenditure, 
a targeted voluntary redundancy scheme and further efficiencies in the 
government’s Asset Investment Program.

This has had a two-fold effect on my Office – firstly, I have where 
possible responded to the government’s efficiency drive in the operations 
of my Office. This affects my budget and resourcing decisions, and 
ultimately how we deliver an increasing audit program. The other effect 
is through the actions that agencies take to achieve efficiencies and 
basically, to deliver more with less. This requires increased audit scrutiny 
from my Office as potential gaps in systems and controls are exposed.
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Parliamentary review of the Office and the 
Auditor General Act highly anticipated
I continue to rely on internal, external and peer reviews as valuable 
opportunities to track how the Office is progressing and to identify areas 
for improvement. We have an extensive program of these reviews as 
outlined on page 73. 

I was particularly pleased to welcome in May this year the reviewers 
appointed by the Joint Standing Committee on Audit (JSCA) to assess 
the performance of the Office (page 53). This review is prescribed in the 
Act, and I have been anticipating it for some time. The JSCA gave the 
reviewers comprehensive terms of reference and a reporting date of 
around late November. I look forward to receiving the final report and to 
implementing any improvement opportunities as quickly as possible.  

Upon completion of the performance review of the Office, the JSCA 
has announced that it will then undertake a review of the operation 
and effectiveness of the Auditor General Act 2006. While the Act has 
served us well and in most regards still represents contemporary audit 
legislation, it does need improvement in some important areas. Notably, 
giving unequivocal access to Cabinet documents and documents 
protected by legal professional privilege (page 20).

Change of mandate to include local 
government audit a possibility
The government recently flagged the possibility of expanding the role 
of the Auditor General to conduct financial and performance audits 
of local governments. This has been raised a number of times since 
it was recommended by the Public Accounts Committee in 2006 and 
the Premier’s latest comments follow a recommendation made in a 
Corruption and Crime Commission report on Misconduct Risk in Local 
Government Procurement. As outlined on page 20, this would require 

a legislation change through Parliament and if it were to occur, it will 
require a significant review of our Office resourcing and delivery of our 
key audit products.

Delivering work that matters
I was pleased to have covered a wide range of topics in our audit 
program this year. The 20 reports I tabled in Parliament covered topics 
across our four key areas of governance, service delivery, social and 
environment and economic development (page 40). We also had 
good coverage of issues affecting metropolitan and regional areas. I 
was, however, disappointed to have not met our target of 25 reports in 
2014-15 (page 23). Unexpected employee absences and some project 
overruns meant that a number of our planned reports did not make our 
30 June cut off. Given that these reports are now well advanced, I do 
expect to table a high number of reports in 2015-16.   

This year, we significantly increased our use of community surveys to 
inform our audit work, receiving just over 4 600 responses across four 
surveys (page 38). We also enhanced the ‘have your say’ function on 
our website to encourage community feedback on our upcoming audit 
work, which contributed to the increase in referrals and enquiries to our 
Office. All this information, together with our website download statistics 
(page 40), feed not only into our current audit work, but also influences 
our forward audit program. 

One particular report this year demonstrated the importance of listening 
to what people want to know and delivering work that matters in a timely 
fashion. We reported Delivering Essential Services to Remote Aboriginal 
Communities at a time when the issue was of immense public interest 
with funding support for these communities being debated at a state and 
Commonwealth level. On tabling the report, we received our highest 
ever attendance at our Members of Parliament briefing (page 52) and 
received significant media coverage. 

http://www.parliament.wa.gov.au/publications/tabledpapers.nsf/displaypaper/3912665a4cfaf9709d87bdb048257df800356831/$file/2665.pdf
http://www.parliament.wa.gov.au/publications/tabledpapers.nsf/displaypaper/3912665a4cfaf9709d87bdb048257df800356831/$file/2665.pdf
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Positive client feedback
Our annual Members of Parliament survey showed overall satisfaction 
with our reports and services increased to 97 per cent (from 90 per cent 
in 2013-14), which is our highest rating in over 10 years (page 32). 
Our annual financial audit client surveys also showed high satisfaction 
rates, with 95 per cent saying they value the Office’s recommendations 
to improve the financial management and internal controls of their 
organisations (page 33).

Effectively responding to increasing audit 
expectations
This year we issued 190 Royalties for Regions certifications (page 27), 
which is a 167 per cent increase in just three years. We doubled the 
number of opinions on Ministerial notifications we delivered (page 29). 
We also handled 75 per cent more referrals and enquiries to our Office 
than last year (page 79), many of which were audit requests from 
Members of Parliament, public sector agencies and the general public.

As these three examples demonstrate, there is an ever-increasing 
expectation on our Office to deliver more reassurance across a wide 
range of public sector activity in a timely fashion. I am pleased to say we 
are rising to the challenge. 

Increased audit scrutiny delivered within 
target 
With agencies focusing on achieving savings in response to 
government’s efficiency drive, there is a real risk that they lose focus 
on the quality and security of their internal financial controls. This has 
required increased effort and complexity across our suite of audits.   

This year we introduced a new efficiency indicator, which measures how 
long we take to issue our audit opinions to agencies (page 24). Thanks 
to the hard work and dedication of my financial audit and support teams, 
and the cooperation of agencies, we were able to achieve an average 
turnaround of just 67 days, which was three days fewer than our target of 
70 days. 

This is a fantastic result as agencies are keen to receive their opinion 
as soon as possible so they can meet their own parliamentary reporting 
requirements.   

Referrals and enquiries feeding into our 
topic selection
Despite the significant increase in referrals and enquiries to our Office 
this year, we were still able to respond to 90 per cent of these within our 
target timeframes (page 79). Many of these resulted in ideas that fed into 
our audit topic selection process (page 36). Our recent selection process 
focused on topics around efficiency of government services and activity 
and a number of these will shortly feature in our forward audit program.

Managing our workforce to meet business 
requirements
We continue to take a strategic and considered approach to managing 
our workforce, though this year we were not able to meet the ambitious 
target set for reduced salary expenditure due to the level of resourcing 
required to meet the audit expectations on our Office. We understand the 
importance of constraining salary expenses. We will continue to identify 
savings by carefully considering each vacant position as it arises while 
ensuring that our recruitment satisfies business requirements. 
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Looking forward to 2015-16 and beyond
While the JSCA reviews will continue to be a focus in 2015-16, as will 
the possibility of taking on local government audit, a number of other 
important changes are also in train. 

We have begun work on developing our new strategic plan, with our 
current plan ending in December 2015 (page 18). I was pleased to 
have recently hosted a strategic planning session with my employees 
to discuss our future direction, our desired outcomes, our vision and 
mission. This continues to be a robust process and I am confident we 
will develop a strategic plan that not only sets the future direction for our 
Office, but which will also have complete employee buy-in. 

My efforts to find efficiencies in our work continues and one area we are 
focusing on is the strategic and efficient use of our information systems 
(page 65). We have already begun realising a number of reporting 
and data accuracy benefits by consolidating business information 
from different systems, and as this work continues in 2015-16 further 
efficiencies will be realised. We are also investigating options to deliver 
my audit opinions to agencies online, rather than by hard copy. Our 
ultimate aim is to save time and money for both ourselves and the 
agencies we audit.

Finally, a key consideration for next year and beyond is the changing 
demographics of our workforce with a considerable number of 
employees nearing retirement. This is an issue faced across the public 
sector. Our Workforce Development Plan anticipates this and includes a 
number of initiatives around attraction and retention and skilling up our 
workforce to become the next generation of leaders (page 55).

Acknowledgements
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COLIN MURPHY 
AUDITOR GENERAL
28 August 2015
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Highlights 2014-15
Performance and legislative review
The Joint Standing Committee on Audit this year commenced its 
performance review of the Office with a review of our legislation to 
follow shortly after. This is something we have been anticipating for 
some time and look forward to receiving the report in late 2015. These 
reviews should provide important assurance to the Parliament about the 
performance of the Office and the suitability of the Act (page 53). 

Early delivery of audit opinions and high 
client satisfaction
We were able to deliver our audit opinions to agencies in less time 
this year than our target and in less time than the previous four years 
(page 26). The earlier the opinion is issued the sooner agencies are able 
to finalise their reporting requirements for Parliament. We also received 
higher client satisfaction results this year, with 91 per cent of our financial 
audit clients agreeing that our audit program was undertaken in a timely 
manner and 94 per cent agreeing that our management letters clearly 
communicated the audit findings and issues (page 33).

New approach to report writing
This year we expanded the involvement of our Communications 
Branch in the production of our reports to Parliament (page 67). Their 
involvement is now much earlier on in the process and is aimed at 
increasing the focus on report structure, key messaging and plain 
English. We have seen efficiency and quality gains, with many reporting 
issues addressed before it gets to senior management proofing stage. 

Highest Members of Parliament satisfaction 
rating in over ten years
Our annual Members of Parliament survey contained some excellent 
results, with 97 per cent expressing overall satisfaction with the Auditor 
General’s reports and services (90 per cent in 2013-14). This is our 
highest satisfaction rating in over 10 years. We also saw a significant 
increase in the number of Members who agreed that we were effective 
in meeting our outcome of informing Parliament on accountability 
and performance in the public sector, from 78 per cent last year to 
90 per cent this year (page 30).  

Making a difference – ongoing impact of 
our reports
We continue to see our reports informing, influencing or directly resulting 
in positive changes to public sector accountability and performance. This 
year some examples where our reports have had an impact, include the 
release of a draft state CCTV strategy, a decision to fund water pipeline 
repairs in the Wheatbelt and a reform of the governance structure of 
Healthway (page 38). Our reports often have a life long after they are 
tabled in Parliament and we continue to see the impact for many years. 
Our report The Planning and Management of Perth Arena was tabled in 
March 2010 and yet it was our sixth most downloaded report this year 
(page 40), which demonstrates ongoing interest in state major capital 
projects. 

https://audit.wa.gov.au/reports-and-publications/reports/the-planning-and-management-of-perth-arena-12010/
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Our Office
An insight into who we are, what we do, how and why. 

Strategic plan relationship:
The information in this section overarches  
our strategic plan and guides what we do, under 
what authority.

Notable information:
Auditor General’s responsibilities – page 14

Government goals – page 15

Executive Management Group – page 16

Strategic planning – page 18

Looking Forward:
Development of our new five-year strategic plan  
– page 19

Significant issues for next financial year  
– page 20

Image of Mt Whaleback, Newman appeared on the cover of our report Ensuring Compliance with Conditions on Mining – Follow-up (page 48).
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Our Office
What we do
The purpose of the Office of the Auditor General is to support the Auditor 
General. The Office comprises three operational and two non-operational 
business units.

The operational units develop our key products, which are audits of 
agencies that culminate in audit reports to Parliament (page 40). The two 
non-operational units provide corporate support and technical and audit 
quality support.

We outline the roles of each of these units further on page 16.

The Auditor General for Western Australia
Mr Colin Murphy, is a statutory officer with responsibility for auditing 
the state public sector. The Governor, in accordance with the Auditor 
General Act 2006 appointed Mr Murphy as Auditor General for a non-
renewable term of 10 years in June 2007.

The Auditor General reports directly to Parliament and ultimately the 
people of Western Australia rather than to government. Subject to the 
Act and other written laws, Mr Murphy has complete discretion in the 
performance of his functions. 

This independence and freedom from pressure, influence or interference 
is the cornerstone of public sector audit.

Auditor General’s responsibilities
The Auditor General is responsible for:

yy auditing the Annual Report on State Finances

yy conducting and issuing audit opinions on financial statements, 
controls and key performance indicators for departments, statutory 
authorities, tertiary institutions and on financial statements of 
corporatised entities 

yy issuing audit certifications

yy conducting performance audits of the efficiency and effectiveness 
of agency operations as well as compliance audits of legislation and 
policies, information systems audits and special investigations 

yy reporting the results of audits to Parliament in an objective, competent 
and timely manner.

Details of the audits we completed in 2014-15 are included in the 
operational performance section of this report, from page 27.
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How we contribute to government goals
Government has a set of five goals, which agencies are required to 
consider when delivering services and outcomes. These are; results-
based service delivery, financial and economic responsibility, social and 
environmental responsibility, stronger focus on the regions and state 
building – major projects. 

The work of the Auditor General assists Parliament to determine if 
agencies are achieving these goals. Our audit reports provide assurance 
about the efficient and effective delivery of services and the responsible 
management of the state’s finances. Our desired outcome reflects this:

Desired Outcome Service

An informed Parliament on public sector 
accountability and performance Public sector auditing

Table 1

Importantly, we hold ourselves to account and have a suite of 
governance controls and checks in place to uphold our commitment to 
financial responsibility, transparency and accountability – see further 
details in the Governance section of our report from page 70.

Enabling legislation
The Governor appoints the Auditor General under the Auditor General 
Act 2006. The Office of the Auditor General is a department of the public 
service under the Public Sector Management Act 1994.

As the Accountable Authority, the Auditor General must discharge 
responsibilities under the Financial Management Act 2006.

Key legislation for the Office
We have processes and controls in place to ensure that we comply with 
all State and Commonwealth legislation and regulations which impact 
our activities, including laws affecting agencies and activities subject to 
audit by the Auditor General.

The following laws have a direct impact on the operations of our Office:

yy Auditor General Act 2006

yy Disability Services Act 1993

yy Equal Opportunity Act 1984

yy Financial Management Act 2006

yy Freedom of Information Act 1992

yy Industrial Relations Act 1979

yy Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993

yy Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984

yy Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003

yy Public Sector Management Act 1994

yy Salaries and Allowances Act 1975

yy State Records Act 2000

yy State Supply Commission Act 1991

yy Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981.
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Organisational structure
The Office of the Auditor General has five business units.

ASSISTANT  
AUDITOR GENERAL
Don Cunninghame

ASSISTANT  
AUDITOR GENERAL

Jason Beeley 

ASSISTANT  
AUDITOR GENERAL

Sandra Labuschagne

Financial Audit
conducts financial statement 
and controls audits,  
performance indicator 
audits, across government 
benchmarking audits and 
issues audit opinions

Performance Audit
conducts audits into the 
efficiency and effectiveness 
of public sector agencies 
and programs and agency 
performance

Information 
Systems and 
Performance Audit
conducts narrow scope 
performance audits, 
compliance audits and 
information systems audits

ASSISTANT  
AUDITOR GENERAL

Michelle Shafizadeh 

ASSISTANT  
AUDITOR GENERAL

Sadie Godfrey

Technical and Audit 
Quality
provides technical accounting 
and auditing advice, oversight 
of audit methodologies, 
parliamentary liaison and risk 
management

Business Services
provides workforce and 
professional development, 
financial management, 
information technology, 
administration, information 
management, strategic 
planning and communications.

DEPUTY AUDITOR GENERAL
Glen Clarke

AUDITOR GENERAL
Colin Murphy
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Senior officers
Auditor General Colin Murphy 
BCom, FCPA, FCA, FGIA, PSM

Colin Murphy was appointed 
Auditor General for Western 
Australia in June 2007. Colin has 
extensive experience in finance 
and administration in state and 
Commonwealth government roles. 
He has held senior positions 
within the state government in the 
Departments of Justice, Treasury 
and Finance, Land Administration 
and the Building Management 
Authority. He has also worked for 
the Commonwealth Department of 
Finance in Perth and Washington 
DC and as Business Manager 
for Murdoch University. Colin 
is a member of the Australian 
Auditing and Assurance Standards 
Board. He is a Fellow, former 
Board member and past State 
President of CPA Australia and a 
Fellow of the Governance Institute 
of Australia and the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants. Colin was 
awarded the Public Service Medal 
in the 2010 Australia Day Honours 
and in 2013 was presented 
with the WA Institute of Public 
Administration Patrons Award for 
significant contribution to the state 
and public sector.

Glen Clarke 
BBus, FCPA

As Deputy Auditor General, 
Glen is responsible for the three 
operational audit business units 
of the Office and has worked 
extensively in all three. He has 
previously held a senior position in 
the Commonwealth Department of 
Veteran’s Affairs and is currently 
the Deputy Chairman of Bizlink, 
a not-for-profit organisation that 
assists people with disabilities to 
obtain open employment.

Don Cunninghame 
BCom, FCPA, CISA

Don is a Fellow of CPA Australia 
and a Certified Information 
Systems Auditor. He joined the 
Office in 1992 after an information 
systems audit career mainly in 
the internal audit divisions of 
large insurance companies. Don 
has worked in our information 
systems audit branch, headed our 
corporate services division, was 
our chief finance officer and was 
a director of financial audit before 
being appointed as an Assistant 
Auditor General in 2008.

Jason Beeley 
BA Hons (Oxon), Dip Strategic Studies

Jason joined the Office in 
2006, following five years as a 
commercial and general manager 
in the defence and technology 
sectors. He previously worked for 
eight years with the UK National 
Audit Office in London, conducting 
and managing value for money 
studies, mainly of the Ministry of 
Defence. He was appointed as an 
Assistant Auditor General in 2009, 
and is Chair of the Australasian 
Council of Auditors-General Heads 
of Performance Audit Group.

Sandra Labuschagne 
BCompt, Hons BCompt CA (SA)

Sandra joined the Office in 2012 
and has extensive public and 
private sector auditing experience 
in South Africa, New Zealand 
and Australia. Sandra worked in 
our Technical and Audit Quality 
business unit, before being 
appointed as an Assistant Auditor 
General in 2014.

Michelle Shafizadeh 
BBus, FCA, Registered Company Auditor

Michelle joined the Office in 2010 
and became an Assistant Auditor 
General in 2011. She is a Fellow 
of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants and a Registered 
Company Auditor. Prior to joining 
the Office, Michelle was a member 
of the National Assurance Services 
Technical Division of William Buck 
Chartered Accountants. Michelle 
was also a Perth Assurance 
Services Partner of BDO 
Chartered Accountants where she 
was employed for over 14 years.

Sadie Godfrey 
MBA (Curtin), Assoc Dip Bus (Accounting)

Sadie has diverse and extensive 
experience in corporate 
management, working in the 
areas of education and industrial 
relations. She was previously 
Director of Corporate Services at 
the Department of the Registrar, 
Western Australian Industrial 
Relations Commission before 
joining the Office as an Assistant 
Auditor General in 2008.

Remuneration of senior officers
In 2015, the total remuneration of our seven senior officers was $1 804 790. 
Full details are included on page 123. 
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Our strategic direction
Strategic plan framework

Vision
Serving the 

public interest 
by an informed 

Parliament

Mission
To improve 

public sector 
performance 

and 
accountability  
by reporting 

independently to 
Parliament

Values

Integrity
We conduct our business in an 

independent, professional and ethical 
manner. We apply an open, honest and 

fair approach to our stakeholders.

Quality 
We improve the performance of the 

Office and the public sector by working 
together to manage our resources, our 

people and our relationships.

Respect 
We respect and value the contribution of 
our people and encourage a cooperative 

approach to our work.

Key  
Result 
Areas

Our Clients
Our clients are Parliament, government agencies and 
the community of Western Australia. We continue to 

maintain our independence to ensure our credibility. We 
strive to add value to Parliament and client agencies.

1

Our Products and Services
Our products and services include independent financial 
statement audits, performance and compliance audits, 

assurance reports, certifications and the sharing 
of knowledge and expertise. We aim to increase 

opportunities for improvement.

2

Our People
We not only want to meet the standards we expect of 

others, we want to exceed those standards. We aim to 
continue to build the capacity of the Office.

3

Our Business Performance
We recognise the need to act on opportunities to 

improve and enhance the efficiency of our work. We 
work to shift effort to things that matter.

4

Figure 2: Our strategic planning framework
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Strategic planning
Our five-year strategic plan provides a clear set of objectives and 
initiatives that provide a shared direction and goals.

We have incorporated our strategic plan into all our business operations, 
including the operational plans of our business units, our Quality 
Assurance Plan (page 77), Workforce Development Plan (page 55), 
Internal Audit Plan (page 72) and Information and Communication 
Technology Strategic Plan (page 65).

The Executive Management Group conducts three strategic planning 
meetings per year to track progress against our stated objectives. These 
meetings allow us to measure our performance, set goals for the next 
period and to assess and adjust our initiatives to ensure that we meet the 
overall direction of the Office.

Appendix 1 shows a summary of our five-year strategic plan, which acts 
as a report card on our progress to date.

Key result areas
Our key result areas are buckets of activities that have clear 
accountabilities and outcomes against which we regularly measure 
and report on our performance. We communicate our progress and 
achievements against the four key result areas with the relevant 
objectives, initiatives, measures and targets.

Office corporate governance
Our corporate governance underpins our strategic plan and includes key 
activities we use to plan, direct, control and monitor key aspects of our 
business. We have included detailed information about our corporate 
governance from page 70.

Looking forward – new strategic plan
Our current five-year strategic plan ends in December 2015. 
Recently, we started developing a new plan through facilitated 
sessions involving our Executive and middle and senior managers, 
and engagement with other employees at Office meetings. We have 
already agreed on our Vision, Mission and Values, as reflected in this 
report. We expect our new plan to be in place, with the support and 
buy-in of our employees, by the end of 2015. 
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Significant Issues for the Next Financial Year
Strive for efficiencies while delivering audit 
mandate
The Office’s legislative obligation to conduct audits of the public sector 
will challenge its capacity to stay within our salary budget over the 
forward estimates. However, the Office is cognisant of the state’s overall 
economic environment and associated fiscal challenges. Accordingly, 
we are making concerted efforts to achieve the target, in addition to 
identifying opportunities to reduce other costs.  

Increasing number of Ministerial 
notifications
There is an increasing number of Ministerial notifications referred to our 
Office (page 29). Under legislation, the Auditor General is required to 
express an opinion as to whether it is reasonable and appropriate for a 
Minister not to provide information to Parliament. While we do manage 
our resources to accommodate this work, it is difficult to anticipate when 
and how many of these notifications will come to us and the scale of the 
work involved. This can affect our resourcing and delivery of other audit 
work.

Accounting and auditing standards 
Changes to accounting and auditing standards continue to affect the 
Office’s business environment. These changes add to the complexity 
of audit tasks across the Office and directly impact the level of work 
conducted by audit staff. 

Expansion of mandate – local government
The government recently flagged the possibility of expanding the role of 
the Auditor General to conduct financial and performance audits of the 
state’s 138 local governments. This would require a legislation change to 
expand the Auditor General’s mandate.  

If amended legislation passes through Parliament, the impact on the 
Office will be significant. For instance, the number of entities for which 
we would be the auditors would increase by about 75 per cent, though 
we anticipate that many of the financial audits would be contracted out 
under our supervision. In the coming months we expect to be working 
closely with the Department of Local Government and Communities as 
well as local governments to ensure that we are ready for the new role – 
if it goes ahead.

Access to Cabinet documents and legal 
professional privilege
The Auditor General Act 2006 is still relatively contemporary audit 
legislation but it does have some deficiencies that are impacting 
the efficiency and effectiveness of our audits. In particular, access 
constraints to documents protected by Cabinet-in-confidence or legal 
professional privilege have impacted recent audits. The ability to gather 
sufficient and appropriate evidence is a fundamental audit requirement 
and in worst case scenarios can prevent an auditor from issuing an audit 
opinion.
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Our Operational Performance
Demonstrates how we serve the public interest through a comprehensive suite of audit work. 

Image of Kimberly community Bayulu appeared on the cover of our report Delivering Essential Services to Remote Aboriginal Communities (page 43).

Strategic plan relationship:
The majority of the information in this section aligns 
with the strategies and measures in our key result 
areas of ‘Our Business Performance’, ‘Our Clients’ 
and ‘Our Products and Services’.

We consider success to be meeting or exceeding 
our set targets and improvements on the previous 
year’s performance. 

Notable information:
Financial performance summary – page 22

Key performance indicators – page 23

Our financial audit outcomes – page 26

Our performance audit outcomes – page 28

What our clients thought of us – page 30

Our audit reports 2014-15 – page 39

Looking Forward:
Our three-year target period for the number of audit 
reports we deliver each year ended this year with 
five reports fewer than our target. Our next three-
year target, from 2015-16 to 2017-18 remains the 
same at 75 reports over the three-year period – 
page 23.
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Our Operational Performance
Financial performance
Full details of our financial performance is presented in our financial statements section of this report (page 83). The following summarises financial 
performance trends and actual versus target for 2014-15. 

2010-11 
Actual 

$000

2011-12 
Actual 
$000*

2012-13 
Actual 

$000

2013-14 
Actual 

$000

2014-15 
Actual 

$000

2014-15 
Target 

$000

Variation 
$000 Status

Total cost of services 
(sourced from Statement of Comprehensive Income) 20 223 21 875 22 499 23 379 24 703 23 698 1 005 
Total income other than income from State Government  
(sourced from Statement of Comprehensive Income) 15 296 16 067 15 489 16 813 17 346 16 823 523 
Net cost of services 
(sourced from Statement of Comprehensive Income) 4 927 5 808 7 010 6 566 7 341 6 875 466 
Total equity (sourced from Statement of Financial Position) 7 165 7 454 8 439 9 494 9 863 9 893 (30) 
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents held 
(sourced from Statement of Cash Flows) 307 (438) 851 (99) 916 (74) 990 

Number of approved full-time equivalent (FTE) staff level 119 121 124 127 136 141 (5) 
Table 2

* Note: We have reclassified the total cost of services and total income other than income from State Government comparative figures to be comparable with figures presented in the current 
financial year.

The legislative requirement to conduct audits means that non-
discretionary components of the Office budget accounts for the vast 
majority of expenditure. The two largest items are salary and audit 
contractor expenses. The third largest expense item, which is also 
non-discretionary is office accommodation, with our location and rent 
determined by government.  

Employee expenses in audit areas account for the increased cost of 
services over target. Additional financial audit work needed at some 
agencies was the main factor contributing to the variance above target 
for total income. These two factors combined to account for the variance 
in net increase in cash.

Further explanations are contained in note 28 ‘Explanatory statement’ to 
the financial statements on page 113 of this report. 



Office of the Auditor General WA  |  Annual Report 2014-2015  |  25

Key performance indicators
Effectiveness
The Office’s effectiveness indicator shows the extent to which we have 
informed Parliament about public sector accountability and performance, 
against four specified categories.

Full details of the categories and our performance is available on 
page 126.

This year we did not meet our target, falling short by five reports. It 
is important to note that while the Office aims to meet the individual 
category targets and the total target, we are also intent on responding to 
key issues as they emerge, and not sacrificing the quality of our reports 
in order to achieve a quantitative measure.

Table 3 shows our actual results for our three-year target period, and our 
performance against the 2014-15 target. 

Report Type 2012-13 
Actual

2013-14 
Actual

2014-15 
Actual

2014-15 
Target Status

Actual 
over 3 
years

Target  
over 3 
years

Status

Service Delivery 4 5 4 5  13 13 
Economic Development 2 4 2 3  8 8 
Social and Environment 3 2 2 3  7 9 
Governance 15 15 12 14  42 45 
Year Total 24 26 20 25  70 75 

Table 3

Failure to meet our target was largely due to unexpected employee 
absences and project overruns. In addition, office resources were 
directed to accommodate the significant increase in Ministerial 
notification work received this year as outlined on page 29.

For further information and details about reports tabled this year refer to 
page 40. 

Our topic selection process is outlined on page 36.

Positive client survey result
We measure our success in this area primarily based on the number 
of reports tabled and through a survey of Members of Parliament. 
This year the percentage of Members who agreed that we were 
effective in meeting our outcome of an informed Parliament 
significantly increased from a low of 78 per cent last year up to 
90 per cent. Full survey details are included on page 31.   
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Efficiency
The Office’s key efficiency performance indicators measure the cost of our audits relative to government expenditure.

This year we also added a new efficiency indicator, which measures how long we take to issue our audit opinions to agencies. The quicker the agency 
receives their opinion from us, the quicker they are able to finalise their annual reports for submission to Parliament. We were able to deliver our audit 
opinions in less time than our target and in less time than the previous four years. This is in part due to efficiency initiatives we have put in place as 
described on page 34.  

Table 4 shows the cost per million dollars of gross government expenditure for our efficiency indicators.

Efficiency Indicator 2010-11  
Actual

2011-12  
Actual

2012-13  
Actual

2013-14  
Actual

2014-15  
Actual

2014-15  
Target Status

Total audit cost per million dollars of gross government 
expenditure* $509 $516 $497 $472 $509 $466 
Attest (financial) audit cost per million dollars of gross 
government expenditure $382 $387 $373 $355 $370 $326 
Performance audit cost per million dollars of gross 
government expenditure $127 $129 $124 $117 $139 $140 

Average number of days taken after balance date to 
issue financial audit opinions

72.2  
days

69.5 
days

70.8 
days

69.1 
days

67.0 
days

70.0 
days 

Table 4

* Note: The gross government expenditure value incorporates total public sector expenditure together with expenditure by universities, superannuation boards and 
other entities whose expenditure is not reported within total public sector expenditure in the Government Mid-Year Financial Projections Statement.

We have provided further information on our key efficiency indicators on page 126.
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Additional indicators of our performance
The indicators set out in the table below are not audited, however they are included in this annual report because they are important in understanding 
the Office’s operational performance. We did not meet our target in the two reporting areas of broad scope and narrow scope performance audits, 
which contributed to us not meeting our three-year key performance effectiveness indicator, as explained on page 23.

Parliamentary reports 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 
Actual

2014-15 
Target Status

Broad scope and follow-up performance audit reports 3 7 8 9 5 9 
Narrow scope performance audits 10 12 10 12 9 11 
Across government benchmarking audits (introduced in 2011-12) n/a 3 4 3 4 3 
Annual financial audits 2 2 2 2 2 2 

Table 5

The following indicators also demonstrate our ongoing performance in meeting our outcome of ‘An informed Parliament on public sector accountability 
and performance’:

Measure Further information

Parliamentary surveys Page 30

Client agency surveys Page 33

Top 10 web downloads of our audit reports Page 40

Internal, external and peer reviews Page 73

Table 6
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Financial auditing
Introduction
Financial auditing provides independent assurance to Parliament that 
the agencies’ financial statements are presented in accordance with 
Treasurer’s Instructions, Australian Accounting Standards and other 
mandatory professional reporting requirements and: 

yy are based on proper accounts

yy present fairly the operating results and cash flows for the period under 
review 

yy show the financial position at the end of the financial reporting period. 

The audit of most agencies also includes assurance that the controls 
exercised by the agency are sufficient to provide reasonable assurance 
that the receipt, expenditure, and investment of money, the acquisition 
and disposal of property and the incurring of liabilities have been in 
accordance with legislative provisions.

Audit opinions
Agencies that operate under the Financial Management Act 2006 (the 
majority of public sector agencies) receive three opinions from the 
Auditor General:

yy an opinion on the financial statements of the agency

yy an opinion regarding the controls in the agency

yy an opinion regarding the key performance indicators of the agency 
and whether they are fairly presented, relevant and appropriate.

These agencies are required under the Act to have their annual reports 
tabled within 90 days of financial year end.

Agencies operating under other legislation receive an opinion on their 
financial statements with a small number also receiving an opinion on 
controls. 

Timeliness
We aim to deliver all our audit opinions in time for agencies annual 
reports to be tabled within 90 days of financial year end. As shown in 
Table 7, we consistently achieve between 99 and 100 per cent for this 
measure, with delays caused by an agency not being prepared for our 
audit or having an extension granted by government. 

The table on page 24 shows the average number of days taken to issue 
our financial audit opinions. This year, we delivered 62 per cent of our 
audit opinions earlier than last year.

What we set out 
to do

What we achieved
Status2010-11 

%
2011-12 

%
2012-13 

%
2013-14 

%
2014-15 

%

Issue 100% of audit 
opinions in time for 
agencies’ annual 
reports to be tabled 
within 90 days of 
financial year end

99.4 99.4* 100 99.3^ 99.3^ —

Table 7

* We issued one opinion on 28 September 2011 – the responsible Minister had 
an extension of time for tabling the annual report.

^ One agency audit was delayed because it had not completed all requirements 
to allow their opinion to be issued within 90 days.
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Audit opinions issued 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15

Annual Report on State 
Finances 1 1 1 1 1

Parliamentary 
departments 3 3 3 3 3

Government 
departments 40 40 40 40 42

Statutory authorities 95 98 92 86 83

Universities and state 
training providers 14 14 15 15 15

Superannuation funds 3 3 3 3 3

Corporatised entities 15 15 15 15 19

Cemetery boards 6 5 5 13 5

Subsidiary entities 16 15 14 12 11

Request audits 8 5 2 4 7

Total 201 199 190 192 189
Table 8

We also measure the success of our financial audits through annual 
financial audit client surveys. We consistently receive high levels of 
satisfaction from our audit clients, as outlined on page 33. 

A complete list of agencies subject to financial audit is on page 142.

Audit certifications
Our audit work includes the certification of financial and statistical 
information produced by departments and statutory authorities. This 
assists agencies to discharge conditions of Commonwealth funding, 
grants or legislation and assists them to meet requirements of their 
funding agreements in a timely manner. In 2014-15, 190 of the 224 
certifications were for Royalties for Regions projects (Table 9).

Across government benchmarking audits
In addition to the annual financial audits, our financial auditors also 
conduct across government benchmarking audits (AGBAs). These audits 
focus on common business practices across the sector and provide 
agencies with information about areas of better practice as well as 
potential deficiencies and pitfalls. This year our AGBAs were:

yy Purchasing Through Common Use Arrangements  
(Report 19 – November 2014)

yy Official Public Sector Air Travel (Report 5 – April 2015)

yy Managing and Monitoring Motor Vehicle Usage  
(Report 6 – April 2015)

yy Managing the Accuracy of Leave Records (Report 13 – June 2015).

Our internal management process includes self-assessing ourselves 
against each of our AGBAs to identify opportunities for improvement. 
This process is outlined on page 73.
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Output
Table 9 summarises the audit work delivered by our Financial Audit unit 
from 2010-11 to 2014-15.

Output – financial audit 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15

Audit reports tabled in 
Parliament 2 2 2 2 2

Audit opinions issued to 
Minister and agencies 201 199 190 192 189

Audit certifications issued 37 29 35 37 34

Royalties for Regions 
certifications issued 45 71 130 186 190

Across government 
benchmarking audits 
tabled in Parliament  
(introduced in 2011-12)

n/a 3 4 3 4

Table 9

Performance auditing
Performance audits assess the efficiency and effectiveness of agency 
activities, services and programs. These audits can also identify 
instances of waste, legislative non-compliance, examples of good 
practice and will make practical recommendations for improvement. We 
conduct performance audits under section 18 of the Auditor General Act 
2006 and in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.

We conduct two types of performance audits: 

yy broad scope performance audits, which focus on the effectiveness 
and efficiency of larger programs, projects and services 

yy narrow scope performance audits, which have a tighter focus and 
may assess internal agency controls, compliance with legislation, 
policy and good practice, and information systems. 

We also conduct follow-up audits to assess actions taken by agencies in 
response to our recommendations and changes and improvements that 
result.

We conduct post project reviews of all our performance audits, and 
survey agencies for their views on the process after we have completed 
the audit (page 78). Our Performance Audit Methodology User Group 
meets regularly to identify and implement continuous improvement 
opportunities.

Our audited key effectiveness indicator on page 126 provides an 
indication of our performance in relation to our reports tabled in 
Parliament. From page 40 of this report you will find summary 
information on all our reports tabled in 2014-15.
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Opinions on Ministerial notifications
As mentioned in ‘Significant Issues’ on page 20, the last two years has 
seen a large increase in the number of Ministerial notifications referred 
to our Office. This increase is likely due to increased awareness among 
Members of Parliament of the requirement to advise the Auditor General 
when they have refused to provide information to Parliament.  

The level of resourcing and the time required to form an opinion on each 
notification can vary but is often considerable. As we are not specifically 
funded to provide these opinions, we draw the necessary resources 
from our performance audit area, which impacts on our scheduled audit 
program.

Table 10 shows the number of notifications received by our Office since 
2010-11.

2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15

Number of Ministerial 
notifications received 2 3 0 7 14

Table 10

Summaries of the Ministerial notifications we tabled in Parliament in 2014-15 are 
available from page 40.  

Friday 26 June 2015, West Australian, page 1. Our Opinion on Ministerial 
Notification (page 41) sparked media interest about the increase in the 
notifications received by our Office.
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Our client feedback
We use an independent research company to conduct client surveys 
throughout the year.

The results of these surveys are not part of our suite of key performance 
indicators but are very important to us in understanding how we are 
performing and how well we are meeting the needs and expectations of 
our clients:

yy Members of Parliament

yy financial audit clients

yy performance audit clients. 

The results play an important part in our ongoing quality assurance and 
continuous improvement efforts (page 77) and are used to measure the 
effectiveness of a number of our strategic plan initiatives (Appendix 1).

Members of Parliament survey
Our annual survey of Members of Parliament monitors our performance 
in meeting our outcome of an informed parliament on public sector 
accountability and performance. Through this survey, Members of 
Parliament can share their views in areas such as satisfaction with our 
services and the effectiveness and usefulness of our products.

We understand there are many demands on Members’ time and 
appreciate the time taken to respond to our survey.

This year, the response rate to the survey was 41 per cent, considerably 
higher than last year (33 per cent). This improved response rate was 
assisted by a concerted effort by our Office and the research company to 
encourage Members to respond. 

The results this year were very encouraging with overall satisfaction 
with the Auditor General’s reports and services increasing to 97 per cent 
(90 per cent in 2013-14). This is our highest satisfaction rating in over 
10 years (Figure 3). 
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Consistent with previous years, parliamentarians generally agreed 
that the Auditor General’s reports and services help improve public 
sector administration, provide valuable information on public sector 
performance and that the reports communicate issues clearly.   

The percentage of respondents who agreed that we were effective in 
meeting our outcome of informing Parliament on accountability and 
performance in the public sector increased significantly, from 78 per cent 
to 90 per cent.  

Table 11 shows the results received against four key areas.

These results suggest that: 

yy we are choosing audit topics that are of interest to Members (page 36)

yy our parliamentary liaison program is effective in addressing 
information requirements of Members (page 52) 

yy we are managing referrals and enquiries from Members effectively 
(page 78). 

Indicator
% Agree or Strongly Agree

Status
2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15

The Office of the Auditor General is effective in achieving its desired outcome of 
informing Parliament on public sector accountability and performance of the public sector 81 82 86 78 90 

Reports dealt with matters of significance to Parliament 89 91 97 96 97 

Services and reports of the Office of the Auditor General are useful to Parliament 93 92 93 89 87 
% Satisfied or Very Satisfied

Overall satisfaction with Auditor General reports and services 91 90 83 90 97 
Table 11
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2015 (36*)

2014 (31)

2013 (29)

2012 (52)

2011 (57)

2010 (53)

2009 (40)

2008 (40)

2007 (38)

2006 (48)

2005 (34)

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

n Very satisfied n Satisfied n Neither satisfied or dissatisfied
n Dissatisfied n Very dissatisfied
* Number of respondents

97%

90%

83%

90%

91%

95%

92%

94%

94%

90%

89%

Total satisfaction. 
Up 7% since 2014

Overall, how satisfied are you with the Auditor General’s reports 
and services?
The vast majority of parliamentarians were satisfied with the Auditor 
General’s reports and services, with a notable proportion ‘very 
satisfied’. Overall satisfaction was significantly higher than in most 
previous years, and particularly in comparison with the more recent 
years (2014 and 2013).
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Liz Murray is our survey liaison officer.

Source: Orima

Figure 3: Overall satisfaction with Auditor General’s reports and 
services 2005-15
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Financial audit client surveys
All clients who received an audit opinion have the opportunity to 
participate in the annual financial audit client survey. The survey is 
conducted in two rounds, capturing both our June and December 
financial audit clients.

The survey contains various questions in order to gauge how we are 
performing in the areas of:

yy audit process 

yy audit reporting

yy audit value (Financial, Key Performance Indicator and Information 
Systems)

yy overall performance.

Although the response rate this year of 73 per cent was lower than last 
year (82 per cent), the results were very positive with clients providing 
positive ratings of our audit process and reporting quality and generally 
perceived the audits to be of high value to their agency.

Ninety-five per cent of clients valued the assurance and 
recommendations they obtained from the financial statement audit. 
Consistent with 2014, the vast majority of audit clients considered the 
Key Performance Indicator audit and the Information Systems audit to 
be of high value to their organisation. There was however, a decrease 
from last year in the clients’ assessment of the value of our Information 
Systems audit work. Improvements were suggested in the areas of 
collaboration and communication in relation to the audit plan and a 
greater level of understanding of organisations systems. 

Although a number of questions are asked in the survey, Table 12 shows 
the results against key questions in each area of focus.

Focus area Indicator
% Agree

Status
2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15

Audit process
The Office’s audit program was undertaken in a timely manner 83 91 80 88 91 
Audit staff were responsive to our needs 93 94 87 91 95 

Audit reporting
The Auditor General’s audit opinion was issued in a timely manner 92 97 95 95 95 —
The management letters clearly communicated the audit findings and 
issues 95 91 91 92 94 

Audit value

We value the assurance we obtain from the audit of our statutory 
financial statements 88 90 91 99 95 
We value the Office’s recommendations to improve the financial 
management and internal controls of our organisation 81 86 88 95 95 —

Table 12
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The vast majority of audit clients were positive in their assessment of the 
auditors’ professionalism, knowledge, responsiveness and involvement 
and the overall assessment of our performance was very positive. There 
were however areas of suggested improvement, notably communication 
and timeliness. 

Improvements made in our financial audit area will have contributed to 
our ongoing high client responses, including:

yy a number of structural and process changes aimed at increasing 
efficiency and, as shown on page 24, we have reduced the average 
time taken to issue audit opinions 

yy enhanced professional development program to deliver targeted 
training to our financial auditors (page 55).

Performance audit client survey
We conduct the surveys of performance audit clients with agencies 
throughout the year, shortly after we table a performance report in 
Parliament that involved that particular agency.

Like our financial audit client surveys, the surveys of our performance 
audit clients focus on our audit process, reporting, value and our overall 
performance.

The nature of audit work includes close scrutiny and possible criticism 
of agency performance, and we understand that this can influence the 
responses to the survey. Nevertheless, the surveys provide a valuable 
way for us to identify areas for improvement.

The overall survey response rate this year was 82 per cent and while 
the results showed a significant increase in response to the value of 
the audit to our clients, the areas of audit process and reporting both 
declined resulting in a decrease in our overall rating.

The majority of audit clients ‘agreed’ or ‘strongly agreed’ that the auditors 
conducted themselves professionally, communicated effectively and that 
their organisation was promptly informed of significant issues/findings 
as they arose during the audit. However, perceived effectiveness of 
communication declined compared to 2013-14.

Seventy-six per cent agreed that the audit would help them improve their 
performance of the audited activity (60 per cent in 2014) and most clients 
indicated that the audit prompted action and/or changes within their 
agency.

While the improvement in relation to the perceived value of our 
audits (up 15 per cent from 2014) is very pleasing, a repeated theme 
throughout the survey results related to our ability to understand 
individual organisations.

Less than half of the survey respondents (45 per cent) agreed that we 
adequately understood their organisation and operating environment. 
This was a significantly lower rating than last year (70 per cent) and 
obviously an area that we will need to examine and focus on improving.
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Aggregate performance index 
scores
For both performance and financial 
audits, the survey analysis includes 
the calculation of aggregate 
performance indices across the four 
focus areas of audit process, audit 
reporting, audit value and our overall 
performance.

The aggregate index for an area is 
the average of the individual question 
indices for survey questions across 
that specific area. The index for a 
question is the average response for 
each question across all respondents.

Table 13 and 14 show the aggregate 
performance indices for both our 
financial and performance auditing 
work for the past five years. 

Financial Audit
Focus area 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 Status

Audit process 79.8 80.1 77.3 77.8 79.8 
Audit reporting 78.9 80.0 80.4 81.7 82.1 

Audit 
value

Financial statements 78.0 78.7 78.8 85.1 87.4 
72.0 73.7 73.7 78.9 81.5 Performance indicator

75.1 76.7 77.9 76.1 75.4 Information systems

Overall performance 76.8 77.9 77.6 79.9 81.2 
Table 13

Performance Audit
Focus area 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 Status

Audit process 71.3 72.8 69.8 78.2 68.9 
Audit reporting 66.6 72.7 68.8 78.0 73.3 
Audit value 66.1 76.5 68.8 65.6 70.1 
Overall performance 68.0 74.0 69.2 73.9 70.8 

Table 14
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Our products and services
Performance audits topic selection
The independent reports that the Auditor General provides to Parliament 
inform Members and the public about the effectiveness and efficiency 
of public sector agencies and services. The reports often generate 
significant interest in Parliament and beyond. Positive reports can 
increase parliamentary and community confidence whereas adverse 
findings can alert Parliament and the public to matters of concern. 

Deciding what to audit is a key part of the Auditor General’s 
independence and is not subject to direction from Parliament or 
government. We have to exercise this independence responsibly, so we 
have processes in place to make sure our selection of topics is objective, 
robust and transparent.

Figure 4 shows our topic selection framework.

Figure 4: Our topic selection framework
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Each year we receive many enquiries, expressions of concern and 
requests for audits and investigations from Members of Parliament and 
the community. The information we receive often helps us to identify 
topics for future audits. Our topic selection process allows us to balance 
these demands and to choose audits based on full consideration of their 
relative merits.

We collate all the potential topics for audit regularly and we identify 
priority projects to establish our forward program. We seek to select a 
program that is balanced in its coverage, contains topics that matter to 
Parliament and the community, and that reflects how and where the state 
is spending taxpayer’s money. We use the following criteria:

Materiality: Does the activity or program have potentially significant 
financial, economic, social or environmental management implications?

Impact: Is an audit likely to have a positive impact on the community? 
Could it lead to improvements across the public sector in efficiency, 
effectiveness or accountability? Would an audit address concerns within 
Parliament?

Risk: Are there any indicators of known or suspected problems? Has 
the program changed significantly or undergone sudden expansion? 
Are issues emerging in related areas that could affect the area being 
considered for audit? Are there inherent risks that may not be well 
managed? Would any problems result in adverse consequences?

Context: Is there strong community interest in the topic? Does the 
program have high political sensitivity or national importance? Is it the 
right time to review this area? Are issues already well known? Is there 
another review or audit in progress covering similar issues? Would an 
audit of the area reinforce other important current messages or themes?

Coverage: Have we audited this area/agency recently? Does the topic 
help meet our objective of providing a balanced coverage of government 
portfolios and performance over time?

Auditability/Efficiency: Is the area amenable to audit? Will information 
and evidence be available? Can we use a past methodology, or will the 
methodology be reusable? Can we use analytical tools? Can we do the 
audit with resources that match the impact and materiality of the topic, or 
will it take disproportionate resources for limited benefit?

Once established, we discuss our forward work program with the Public 
Accounts Committee and the Estimates and Financial Operations 
Committee. Once an audit has begun, we make its objective, focus and 
timeframes public via the work in progress section of our website at 
www.audit.wa.gov.au/work-in-progress.

https://audit.wa.gov.au/work-in-progress/
https://audit.wa.gov.au/work-in-progress/
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Making a difference – report successes
Our desired outcome is an informed Parliament on public sector 
accountability and performance. Positive change to government activity 
and practice is a good reflection of the impact our work is having and of 
our progress in meeting our desired outcome. 

Some examples that came to light in 2014-15 of where our work has 
informed, influenced, or directly resulted in change include:

yy the release of a draft closed circuit television systems (CCTV) strategy 
in March 2015, which is largely aligned with the recommendations of 
our report Use of CCTV Equipment and Information (October 2011)

yy a recent decision to spend $32 million on repairing water pipelines 
supplying farmlands in the Wheatbelt was attributed by the Minister, in 
part, to the findings of our report Water Corporation: Management of 
Water Pipes (February 2014) 

yy a number of initiatives included in the government’s $20 million 
investment in biosecurity for pests and diseases were recommended 
in our report Managing the Impact of Plant and Animal Pests: A State-
wide Challenge (December 2013)

yy a major government reform of services provided to Aboriginal 
communities announced in May 2015, addresses a number of 
concerns we raised in our report Delivering Essential Services to 
Remote Aboriginal Communities (May 2015) (page 43).

Healthway – use of hospitality resources
In February 2015, the Public Sector Commissioner undertook an 
investigation into activities and practices at Healthway associated 
with the management and oversight of tickets, hospitality and other 
benefits in high value sponsorship agreements. We referred this 
issue to the Public Sector Commissioner after we found it in our 
annual financial audit work. 

Following our referral and the subsequent investigation, government 
announced a reform of the governance structure of Healthway, which 
will allow for greater public accountability. It also resulted in a number 
of other boards and agencies looking at their own use of hospitality 
resources. 

Referrals to other integrity agencies are part of our standard process 
if matters cross jurisdictional boundaries. All significant findings from 
our audits are reported to Parliament, and we will table a report, 
which references the Healthway issue later in 2015. 

Community surveys
In 2014-15, we increased our use of surveys to support and enrich our 
audit findings. We conducted four surveys this year receiving 4 632 
responses, compared to two surveys last year with 2 370 responses.  

These online surveys are a low-cost but effective way of gaining further 
insight into our audit topics from specific target groups. Not all our audit 
topics are suitable for a survey as they are too narrow, or too specific to 
an agency, however, we have a standard invitation on our website for 
anyone wanting to submit information about any of our current audits for 
our audit team to consider.   
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Surveys conducted by the Office in 2014-15 are shown in Table 15. 

Survey 
date Audit Survey target group Number of 

responses

March  
2015 

Safe and Sustainable 
Cycling for Western 
Australia (due for 
completion in late 2015)

All road users in 
Western Australia 2 828

January 
2015

Support and 
Preparedness of Fire 
and Emergency Service 
Volunteers  
(August 2015)

All fire and 
emergency services 
volunteers in Western 
Australia

1 316

September 
2014

SIHI: District Medical 
Workforce Investment 
Program (April 2015) 
(page 45)

People in the 
southern inland 
area (extending 
from Kalbarri and 
Meekatharra in the 
north, to Laverton 
in the east, down 
to Esperance in the 
south east)

463

September 
2014

Training and Support for 
Justices of the Peace 
(November 2014)  
(page 48)

Justices of the Peace 
in Western Australia 25

Table 15

Our reports tabled in 2014-15
During 2014-15, we tabled 20 reports in Parliament. On the following 
pages is a brief summary of each of the reports. These reports are 
available on our website at www.audit.wa.gov.au/reports.

Parliament follow up of our reports
We acknowledge and appreciate the important role the Public Accounts 
Committee (PAC) plays in its follow up of recommendations made in 
our tabled performance reports. PAC requires agencies to explain in 
writing what action they have taken to address our recommendations 
and can require senior management to appear at a hearing to provide 
further information. PAC may also choose to seek comment from the 
responsible Minister. 

PAC issued its latest report in October 2014, which is available on the 
Parliament website www.parliament.wa.gov.au.

http://www.parliament.wa.gov.au/WebCMS/WebCMS.nsf/index
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Management of Pesticides in Western Australia

Narrow Scope Performance Audit

KPI Category – Social and Environment

Tabled – June 2015

This report examined the management of pesticides in Western 
Australia (WA). The focus was to determine whether there is a 
coordinated and effective approach to minimising the risk of 
inappropriate pesticide use in WA. The audit did not look at 
manufacturing, importing, warehousing or supply of pesticides up to the 
point of retail sale.

We found agencies were working reasonably well to manage the 
risks of inappropriate pesticide use in WA. Licensing and training 
for the majority of commercial operators is sound, but more rigorous 
assessment of qualifications and training is required for some licence 
categories. National monitoring programs show that pesticide residues 
in foods rarely exceed accepted levels. However, the state based 
food monitoring program has shown unacceptable levels of pesticides 
in some foods in some years. The Department of Health has not 
adequately followed up these incidents to understand or address the 
causes.

Agencies do not regularly check the management and safe use of 
pesticides. However, the small number of complaints and incidents 
reported each year are dealt with appropriately. Better coordination of 
effort, information collection and sharing would help detect and prevent 
the misuse of pesticides.

Website download statistics provide an indication of the degree of public 
interest in our reports. Table 16 shows our top 10 accessed reports for 
the financial year ending 30 June 2015.

Report Pdf 
Downloads

Viewed 
Online*

Total 
Downloads

Information Systems Audit Report 
2013 (June 2013)

9 705 1 333 11 038

Information Systems Audit Report 
2014 (June 2014)

5 635 5 258 10 893

Audit Results Report – Annual 2013-14 
Financial Audits (May 2014)

2 215 1 632 3 847

Behaviour Management in Schools 
(March 2014)

1 773 1 827 3 600

Main Roads Projects to Address Traffic 
Congestion (March 2015)

1 369 1 138 2 507

The Planning and Management of 
Perth Arena (March 2010)

2 152 272 2 424

New Recruits in the Western Australian 
Police (June 2012)

2 149 264 2 413

Moving On: The Transition of Year 7 to 
Secondary School (May 2014)

1 790 568 2 358

Our Heritage and Our Future: Health 
of the Swan Canning River System 
(August 2014)

1 485 740 2 225

Fraud Prevention and Detection in the 
Public Sector (June 2013)

632 1 467 2 099

Table 16

* The number of times our online report home page was viewed by a ‘unique’ 
user (each user is only counted once, even if they viewed the page multiple 
times). 
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Managing the Accuracy of Leave Records

Across Government Benchmarking 
Audit

KPI Category – Governance

Tabled – June 2015

Our objective was to assess if agencies had proper policies, 
procedures and systems to ensure accurate records of staff 
attendance, in accordance with Treasurer’s Instruction (TI) 502 
Records of Attendance and Time Worked, and if they had deducted 
leave taken from leave balances.

We found that agencies generally had policies, procedures and 
controls in place to ensure accurate records of staff attendance and 
accurate leave balances. However, most agencies had opportunities 
for improvement. These included completing attendance records, 
timeliness of leave approvals and doing regular reconciliations to make 
sure they capture all leave in the recording system. The results were 
similar to our 2012 audit.

Opinions on Ministerial Notifications

Opinion on Ministerial Notification

KPI Category – Governance

Tabled – June 2015

This report deals with decisions by three Ministers not to provide 
information to Parliament. We found:

1. The decision by the Minister for Transport not to provide information 
to the Legislative Council was not reasonable and therefore 
not appropriate. The information sought was a briefing note on 
future Commonwealth funding arrangements for major transport 
infrastructure projects.

2. The decision by the Minister for Tourism not to provide information to 
Parliament was not reasonable and therefore not appropriate. The 
Minister declined to provide the total value of incentives associated 
with the sale of FESA House. He also declined to provide a 
breakdown by component.

3. i) The decision by the Minister for Planning not to provide Parliament 
with detailed information about unsolicited approaches to buy the 
East Perth Power Station site was reasonable and appropriate. The 
Minister declined to provide the names of the interested buyers, the 
date of the first contact, and the names of those present at meetings 
held to discuss the approaches.

 ii) The decision by the Minister for Planning not to provide the current 
valuation of the East Perth Power Station site was not reasonable 
and therefore not appropriate.
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Regulation of Training Organisations

Narrow Scope Performance Audit

KPI Category – Governance

Tabled – June 2015

This report assessed whether the Training Accreditation Council 
(Council) can provide assurance that Registered Training 
Organisations (RTO) deliver quality training and assessment of student 
skills. We focused on the Training Accreditation Council’s monitoring 
of RTOs during 2013 and 2014 and whether it took appropriate action 
when it identified problems with their performance.

We found that the Council follows the national approach in how it 
regulates RTOs. This includes deciding which RTOs to register, 
checking compliance, and when to sanction RTOs that do not comply.

The Council’s activities restrict registration to eligible RTOs and offers 
some assurance that non-compliance will be identified and fixed. In 
2013-14, more than half of the Council’s checks found non-compliance 
with the national standards. As a result of the Council’s work, most 
problems that led to non-compliance were fixed.

Non-compliance by RTOs raises concern that students may not get 
the training they need and industry expects. The Council is concerned 
about the high rate of RTO non-compliance and is working on ways to 
improve compliance and reduce the risks to students and industry.

Management of Adults on Bail

Performance Audit

KPI Category – Service Delivery

Tabled – June 2015

We found there were opportunities to improve the effectiveness and 
efficiency of the bail system. The number of people granted bail but 
held in remand, sometimes for long periods, could be reduced if more 
support were provided to help them meet bail release conditions. It 
could also save the state significant imprisonment costs. For instance, 
a person granted bail but who is remanded in prison for one week 
while they arrange to meet their bail conditions will cost the state 
about $5 390. Opportunities also exist to reduce instances of people 
on bail not attending Court hearings, thereby saving Police and Court 
resources. As an example, text message reminders to people on bail 
have proven elsewhere to lessen the non-attendance rate. 

While the collection of information about bail has improved, there 
remains a lack of key information on effectiveness, for instance on 
the breach rate of the different bail conditions or the extent to which 
breaches lead to enforcement action. Better and more consistent 
monitoring, analysis and reporting is necessary to make sure risks are 
minimised and people on bail are managed effectively. 

Managing people on bail is a responsibility shared between the 
Department of the Attorney General, Corrective Services and WA 
Police. Each of these agencies have made some efforts to improve the 
way they meet their responsibilities. However, greater collaboration will 
be needed to realise further gains. 
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Opinions on Ministerial Notifications

Opinion on Ministerial Notification

KPI Category – Governance

Tabled – June 2015

This report found that three separate decisions by the Minister for 
Regional Development and for Lands not to provide information to 
Parliament were reasonable and appropriate.

The decisions made by Minister Redman related to:

• a summary of legal advice sought in relation to the Royalties for 
Regions annual expenditure limit of $1 billion

• the business case for the proposed expansion of the Busselton 
Airport

• settlement of a claim against an Ord River Expansion Project 
contractor.

We found the decisions to be reasonable; however, there were lessons 
for all agencies about the shortcomings in how the decisions were 
made and documented.

Under legislation, the Auditor General is required to express an opinion 
as to whether it is reasonable and appropriate for a Minister not to 
provide information to Parliament.

Delivering Essential Services to Remote Aboriginal 
Communities

Performance Audit

KPI Category – Service Delivery

Tabled – May 2015

This report provides an assessment of how well the Department of 
Housing (Housing) delivers power, water and wastewater repair and 
maintenance services to selected remote Aboriginal communities 
through the Remote Area Essential Services Program.

The Remote Area Essential Services Program delivers reliable power 
and water supplies to selected remote Aboriginal communities, but the 
quality of drinking water often falls short of Australian standards. 

Housing’s current arrangements for managing the Program limit 
its effectiveness and efficiency. The condition of key assets and 
associated future costs is not well understood, and weaknesses 
in coordinating services to communities means there are missed 
opportunities to reduce costs.

The criteria to determine eligibility for the Program have not been 
applied since 2008. This means that some communities may be 
receiving services they are no longer entitled to while others may have 
become eligible but are receiving no services.
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Opinions on Ministerial NotificationsManaging the Accuracy of Leave Records

Across Government Benchmarking 
Audit

KPI Category – Governance

Tabled – April 2015

Financial Audit

KPI Category – Governance

Tabled – May 2015

Managing and Monitoring Motor Vehicle UsageAudit Results Report – Annual 2014 Financial 
Audits

The focus of this audit was to assess whether agencies have 
appropriate procedures and practices in place to demonstrate that 
they are managing their fleet in accordance with selected aspects of 
Treasurer’s Instruction 411 Motor Vehicles, the WA Government Fleet 
Policy and Guidelines and the State Fleet General Agreement.

We looked at the areas that agencies should be monitoring, such as 
timely servicing, the review of fuel consumption reports, recording 
of pool vehicle drivers, and whether lease vehicles were returned 
promptly and within the allowed lease kilometres, to avoid financial 
penalties.

We found agencies had established policies for managing and 
monitoring motor vehicles and they generally followed satisfactory 
procedures and complied with requirements. Only one agency could 
not demonstrate that it was periodically reviewing the cost effective 
composition and use of its fleet. Six of the eight agencies audited need 
to improve their monitoring of motor vehicle use.

Expenditure by state government agencies on vehicle purchases is 
more than $200 million per year, and in the previous financial year 
agencies leased around 11 000 vehicles.

Overall, this report showed that the quality of financial reporting 
and controls at the State’s universities and state training providers 
remained steady, although the number of unresolved issues from the 
previous year increased.

This year’s report highlighted that universities need to continue to 
manage their annual and long service leave liabilities proactively. 
Universities’ leave liabilities continued to grow, sitting at $255 million in 
2014 – a 22 per cent increase in three years.

This report advised that clear audit opinions were issued to all four 
public universities, the 11 state training providers, and six university 
subsidiaries.

Although fewer tertiary institutions achieved best practice status for 
good financial controls and reporting practices this year, we were still 
able to complete most audits earlier than the previous year.

The report again included a summary of selected key financial and 
performance information for each of the educational institutions. 
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Opinions on Ministerial NotificationsManaging the Accuracy of Leave Records

Performance Audit

KPI Category – Service Delivery

Tabled – April 2015

Across Government Benchmarking 
Audit

KPI Category – Governance

Tabled – April 2015

SIHI: District Medial Workforce Investment 
ProgramOfficial Public Sector Air Travel

This audit assessed whether the District Medical Workforce 
Investment Program has improved access to medical staff and 24-
hour emergency services for people living in the southern inland area 
of the state. This area extends from Kalbarri and Meekatharra in the 
north, to Laverton in the east, down to Esperance in the south east. 

We found that the Program has increased access to emergency 
medical services, which have been stabilised through the provision 
of more consistent 24/7 medical cover across the district networks. 
However, the Program’s full benefits are yet to be realised, which has 
affected primary and Aboriginal health services, and increased the 
need for locums to fill emergency department rosters.

Royalties for Regions funding of the Program is scheduled to cease in 
2016-17, so the WA Country Health Service needs to plan how it will 
sustain these services.

We recommended that WA Country Health Service should evaluate 
the effectiveness of the Program, strengthen governance for incentive 
payments as well as demonstrate how it will sustain acceptable 
levels of emergency medical cover for these communities beyond the 
Program’s end in June 2017.

Our report on official public sector air travel found that while agencies 
generally managed official public sector air travel satisfactorily, there 
was room for improvement.

We identified a number of improvement opportunities for agencies, 
including better policies and procedures, using online bookings to 
reduce transaction costs and making use of the ‘Best Fare of the Day’ 
to minimise flight costs.

The nine agencies included in this audit had appropriately approved 
most air travel but all could potentially reduce flight costs and still meet 
business requirements.

We found that all the agencies needed to improve their policies and 
procedures, to help minimise costs, and to provide guidance to staff 
booking travel and those who are travelling. We were, however, 
pleased to note that agencies had reported the majority of air travel to 
Parliament appropriately.
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Main Roads Projects to Address Traffic CongestionAsbestos Management in Public Sector Agencies

Performance Audit

KPI Category – Economic Development

Tabled – March 2015

Narrow Scope Performance Audit

KPI Category – Governance

Tabled – April 2015

This report provided an assessment of whether Main Roads 
infrastructure and traffic management projects were effective in 
addressing traffic congestion in metropolitan Perth. We found that 
demand on the road network has increased and although difficult to 
define, Main Roads predicts that traffic congestion will get worse. 

Main Roads could not demonstrate that its projects and activities to 
address congestion have made the best use of resources. The broad 
transport-planning framework is incomplete. There are no agreed traffic 
congestion priorities, performance levels, measures and targets across 
Main Roads and its partner agencies, such as the Department of 
Transport (DoT). Although Main Roads collects a lot of data, coherent 
congestion information is limited to a small part of the freeway network, 
and not reported to DoT or publicly. 

Main Roads has delivered a number of projects that have mitigated 
congestion on parts of the network and within the CBD. They were 
delivered under budget, within the expected timeframe and achieved 
their intended localised outcomes. 

Main Roads has recognised it does not have the capacity to manage 
traffic congestion effectively and is introducing significant changes 
to the way it does business. This will bring Main Roads in line with 
better practice in managing traffic congestion and should also allow 
government to make more informed transport decisions.

This report, which follows our 2007 report on Management of 
Asbestos-Related Risks by Government, assessed if seven public 
sector agencies managed asbestos risks effectively. 

The seven agencies included in this latest audit were responsible for 
over 50 000 properties and all were addressing high-risk asbestos. 
We found three agencies displayed better practice in identifying and 
managing asbestos - they had regular inspections, remediated high-
risk asbestos as a priority, kept up-to-date records, provided training 
and communicated the risks to staff and others.

This was a clear improvement on our 2007 report in which none of the 
agencies audited had complete and up-to-date asbestos registers and 
management plans.

We identified elements of better practice at the other four agencies. 
They all remediated or removed known high-risk asbestos as a priority, 
but their registers and Asbestos Management Plans were incomplete 
or not up to date. We also found weaknesses in their training and 
communication, which meant agencies had not adequately informed 
staff and others of the presence of asbestos.

There was no single body to coordinate the management of asbestos 
across government and as a result, agencies had differing practices 
in identifying and managing asbestos risks, which had led to gaps and 
inefficiencies.
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Opinion on Ministerial NotificationRegulation of Real Estate and Settlement Agents

Opinion on Ministerial Notification

KPI Category – N/A*

Tabled – December 2014

Narrow Scope Performance Audit

KPI Category – Governance

Tabled – February 2015

This report found that a decision by the Minister for Forestry not to 
provide information to Parliament was reasonable and appropriate.

Following advice from the Forest Products Commission (FPC) and 
the State Solicitors Office, the Minister decided to provide contracts 
between FPC and a number of their customers to Parliament with 
commercially sensitive information redacted. 

The advice provided, and actions taken by FPC were appropriate and 
the Auditor General recommended that they formalise the process they 
followed for use in future requests.

Under legislation, the Auditor General is required to express an opinion 
as to whether it is reasonable and appropriate for a Minister not to 
provide information to Parliament.

* This did not meet our criteria for a ‘report’ and is therefore not counted 
toward our KPI’s.

The purchase of a home is often the most expensive investment 
people will make. Real estate and settlement agents and sales 
representatives are often in positions of trust and are required by 
legislation to be licensed. Regulation of agents is the responsibility of 
the Department of Commerce (Commerce).

We found that Commerce had suitable arrangements in place to 
ensure that only appropriately qualified and reputable people are 
licensed to work as agents or sales representatives. Checks are 
conducted when agents first apply for a licence and on renewal. 

However, legal and practical limitations on the monitoring of agents 
after they are licensed means that Commerce cannot be certain that 
agents continue to be of good character during the three years their 
licence is valid. The risk of direct financial loss to consumers remains 
low and claims on the Fidelity Account have decreased since 2009.

Measures to protect consumers from property fraud are also in place. 
However, the effectiveness of these depend on the care and diligence 
exercised by agents when selling property.

The report also noted the important new measures in place to protect 
consumers, after the two high profile cases of property fraud in 2010 
and 2011. At August 2014, around 5 400 agents and 9 320 sales 
representatives were licensed or registered. 
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Ensuring Compliance with Conditions on Mining – 
Follow-up

Performance Audit

KPI Category – Economic Development

Tabled – November 2014

The focus of this follow-up audit was the progress agencies have 
made since our 2011 audit of Ensuring Compliance with Conditions on 
Mining.

We found there had been significant improvement by government and 
agencies in addressing the issues we identified in 2011. There is more 
clarity about the roles and responsibilities of various agencies within 
what remains a complex set of legislative arrangements. Establishing 
the Mining Rehabilitation Fund has decreased the state’s exposure to 
liabilities, and will help manage the risks posed by legacy mines. 

However, the Fund does not provide a single financial protection 
system against rehabilitation failures for mines operating under the 29 
mining State Agreements. These miners can opt in to the Fund but are 
not required to. Including State Agreement mines would increase the 
money in the Fund and the scope to manage legacy sites.

Improved assessment, inspection and reporting processes mean that 
the Department of Mines and Petroleum has greater capacity to assess 
whether conditions placed on mines are being met. The centralised, 
publicly available register of mining offsets improves transparency. 
The Department of Aboriginal Affairs now has a sound approach to 
monitoring and inspecting how mine sites comply with Aboriginal 
heritage requirements.

Training and Support for Justices of the Peace

Narrow Scope Performance Audit

KPI Category – Service Delivery

Tabled – November 2014

Our objective was to determine if Justices of the Peace were trained 
and supported so they can carry out their duties.

We found that the Department of the Attorney General (DotAG) did not 
know whether JPs need more training because it did not collect and 
assess information about the duties they perform in the community. 
This is despite the fact that duties performed in the community can 
include authorising search warrants and deciding on bail at police 
stations in country areas.

All prospective JPs must complete and pass training on their Court and 
community duties before they can be appointed. DotAG has improved 
the breadth and depth of training as well as its accessibility in recent 
years. 

While all existing JPs are provided with the opportunity to receive 
training, only the small number of JPs that preside in Court are 
required to complete ongoing training. There is a lack of any 
requirement for JPs to receive ongoing training on duties they may 
perform in the community. This is reflected in our test results, which 
showed that over 50 per cent of JPs had not received any training for 
three years or more.
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Audit Results Report – Annual 2013-14 Financial 
Audits

Financial Audit

KPI Category – Governance

Tabled – November 2014

Our annual Audit Results Report covered 158 audit opinions and 202 
certifications, and again highlighted concern at the high rate of errors in 
draft financial statements.

Although many agencies were performing satisfactorily in relation to 
their financial reporting and controls, we still identified significant errors 
during our audit of agencies’ financial statements.

Because agencies did not identify these during the year, it was not until 
well after year-end that these errors were recognised and corrected 
and a more accurate understanding of the state’s financial result could 
be obtained.

Other items of interest in this report include the issuing of eight 
qualified audit opinions, a stabilising of the State’s leave liability, 
agencies not complying with the regulations for voluntary redundancy 
payments and Statements of Corporate Intent of corporatised entities 
not being tabled in Parliament in a timely manner.

This year’s report again also includes information and ratios relating 
to State Finances as well as a brief description of some of the more 
significant agency financial transactions that occurred in 2013-14.

Purchasing Through Common Use Agreements

Across Government Benchmarking 
Audit

KPI Category – Governance

Tabled – November 2014

In this audit, we set out to determine if agencies were effectively using 
Common Use Agreements (CUAs) or had reasonably justified their 
rationale for not selecting a supplier under the CUA.

We selected and audited 283 purchases at eight agencies. The types 
of purchases selected included IT products and services, industrial 
services, cleaning, labour hire, office supplies and remuneration 
services.

Overall, agencies had well established policies for the use of CUAs and 
they were generally following satisfactory procedures and complying 
with requirements. Where purchases were not from an approved 
supplier under the CUA, the reasons were adequately justified in 
advance. However, for four of the eight agencies audited, there was 
a lack of formal monitoring of the outcome of non-CUA purchases to 
assess whether the agency received value for money.

Approved suppliers provide government with commonly used goods 
and services under 62 CUAs. The CUAs help agencies to reduce the 
time and effort involved in selecting a supplier at a competitive price, 
and can reduce the risk of favouritism of particular suppliers.
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Our Heritage and Our Future: Health of the Swan 
Canning River System

Narrow Scope Performance Audit

KPI Category – Social and Environment

Tabled – June 2015

We found that despite a range of plans, strategies and actions, the 
Swan Canning river system was not adequately protected. Water 
quality in the middle and upper Swan and Canning rivers is declining 
and while the lower estuary is in reasonable condition, it is under 
threat. 

The Swan River Trust has a difficult task to protect and enhance the 
rivers within a complex urban ecosystem and rural catchment. Often 
the Trust does not directly manage many of the broader scale threats 
affecting the rivers. 

Long-term monitoring has provided useful information on trends in river 
health. However the Trust has not used this information to create a 
good understanding in the community and Parliament about the decline 
in the condition of the river. 

The Trust’s draft River Protection Strategy (RPS) has still not been 
approved seven years after the Act was passed. Further, the draft RPS 
and other Trust plans do not identify which threats impact most on 
water quality and the highest priority actions to address these. 

The Trust has funded local programs to rehabilitate areas next to the 
river. While these programs will have some impact on nutrients and 
pollutants flowing into the river, strategies to manage key threats to 
water quality have been less successful. 

Opinions on Ministerial Notifications

Opinion on Ministerial Notification

KPI Category – Governance

Tabled – September 2014

This report includes the first section 82 notification we have 
received where a Minister had decided not to provide evidence to 
a parliamentary committee. Unlike Parliament, where all evidence 
is considered public, parliamentary committees operate under a 
number of standing orders that govern the way evidence provided to 
committees is dealt with. This includes, in the case of a standing or 
select committee, the option to accept a request to keep information 
confidential.

We considered two decisions by Minister Harvey in her role as Minister 
for Tourism to not provide information to Parliament regarding:

• information on the Feasibility for International Cricket (Cricket Test 
Matches)

• information about the Western Australian Tourism Commission’s 
(Tourism WA) analysis of the Experience Extraordinary campaign.

On both occasions, we agreed that the information assessed by 
Tourism WA as commercially confidential was reasonable. The Minister 
for Tourism had decided that the information would not be provided, 
based on the damage that could be caused to the state if it was 
released publicly.



Office of the Auditor General WA  |  Annual Report 2014-2015  |  53

Our Business Activities
Outlines how we actively support our Office to deliver work that matters.

Image of Kent Street Weir wetlands, which appeared in our report Our Heritage and Our Future: Health of the Swan Canning River System (page 50).

Strategic plan relationship:
The majority of the information in this section aligns 
with the strategies and measures in the ‘Our People’ 
key result area of our strategic plan, and touches on 
‘Our Clients’ and ‘Our Products and Services’.

Notable information:
Our parliamentary liaison program – page 52

How we maintain and contribute to professional 
auditing standards – page 54

Our Workforce Development Plan – page 55

Advances in IT – page 65

Looking Forward:
Development of our new five-year Workforce 
Development Plan – page 55

New approach to our graduate recruitment  
– page 58

Introduction of new software to develop our 
performance audit reports – page 66
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Our Business Activities
Working with Parliament
Unlike public sector departments and agencies, our Office does not 
report to any government minister but reports directly to Parliament. In 
order to meet our desired outcome of an informed Parliament on public 
sector accountability and performance, we have in place a number 
of initiatives to promote quality relationships with Parliament and 
parliamentary committees.   

Parliamentary liaison program
Our parliamentary liaison program ensures that we provide Parliament 
with relevant and timely information, in keeping with our obligations 
under the Auditor General Act 2006. This benefits both Parliament 
and our Office and supports our mission to improve public sector 
performance and accountability by reporting independently to 
Parliament. 

This program includes:

yy comprehensive briefings about our Office to all new members of 
Parliament and parliamentary committees

yy regular meetings and briefings with parliamentary committees 
throughout the year

yy briefings to parliamentarians in relation to the tabling of our reports 

yy briefing our parliamentary oversight committees on our proposed 
forward audit program and current audit issues 

yy providing information to support inquiries by parliamentary committees 
(page 53).

We use the results of our annual parliamentary survey (page 30), 
together with direct feedback throughout the year, to identify any 
potential initiatives or improvements that could further enhance our 
parliamentary liaison program.

Members of Parliament report briefings  
– new record attendance

As part of our parliamentary liaison program, we offer Members of 
Parliament a briefing on each of our reports.  

We set an all-time attendance record with the tabling this year of 
our report, Delivering Essential Services to Remote Aboriginal 
Communities (Report 8 – May 2015) (page 43), with 21 Members or 
their representatives attending our report briefing. Usually, around 
four or five Members attend.

The high interest in this report was partly driven by the broad 
parliamentary and public debate about the funding of and possible 
closure of remote aboriginal communities. The Parliament’s interest 
in the report reinforced the importance of choosing audit topics that 
are of interest and that are timely.  
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Parliamentary inquiries
We have been involved in, or provided information to assist a number of 
parliamentary inquiries during 2014-15, including: 

Review of the Performance of the Office of the Auditor General
As discussed in the Auditor General’s overview on page 8, the Joint 
Standing Committee on Audit (JSCA) has commenced a review of our 
performance.  

The Auditor General Act 2006 (AG Act) requires the JSCA to carry out a 
review of the operation and effectiveness of the AG Act and the Auditor 
General’s performance. The Act requires the JSCA to perform these 
reviews on a five yearly interval. 

Following a public tender process, the JSCA contracted Vista Advisory to 
perform Stage 1 of the review, which focuses on the performance of the 
Office. The review commenced in May with completion expected in late 
November 2015. 

Inquiry into Information and Communication Technology 
Procurement and Contract Management
The Auditor General and Senior Director, Information Systems Audit 
appeared before the Public Accounts Committee (PAC) to assist with 
their inquiry into the procurement and contract management framework 
for the delivery of Information and Communications Technology projects 
across the WA public sector.

At the committee’s request, the Auditor General provided:

yy information on the findings of our Information Systems audit reports 

yy examples of agencies in WA and elsewhere that have demonstrated 
effective management of ICT procurement and/or contracts 

yy a list of jurisdictions that have systems and frameworks in place which 
agencies can follow. 

Review of WA Police Key Performance Indicators
Our Assistant Auditor General and Senior Director, Financial Audit, 
appeared before the Community Development and Justice Standing 
Committee, along with WA Police and Department of Treasury officials to 
discuss the WA Police’s Key Performance Indicators (KPI).  

The Committee’s inquiry into WA Police’s methods for evaluating 
performance, included review of their KPIs and sought advice as to our 
role in the review of these KPIs. Our representatives outlined how we 
audit KPIs and clarified our role when agencies develop new KPIs.

Inquiry into the provision of information to Parliament
Our Auditor General and Deputy Auditor General appeared before 
the Estimates and Financial Operations Committee to assist with its 
inquiry into the provision of information to Parliament. This relates to the 
section 82 work we do (page 29).

The Committee’s interest was in the Auditor General’s audit approach 
to reaching an opinion on the Minister’s decision and the legal advice 
supporting that approach.

Parliamentary requests for information or investigation 
Since July 2008, we have commenced 11 audits (10 per cent of our 
total performance audits) following issues raised by external parties, 
primarily parliamentarians. We incorporated a number of other issues 
that parliamentarians raised into broader audits. 

We consider all requests for audit through our comprehensive topic 
selection process (page 36). 

Two examples of performance audits that were completed this year, 
which came about as a result of parliamentarian requests were 
Asbestos Management in Public Sector Agencies (page 46) and Pilbara 
Underground Power Project (tabled in August 2015).

http://parliament.wa.gov.au/Parliament/commit.nsf/(EvidenceOnly)/55C949F8FBBD083E48257E5100081AC6?opendocument
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Working with our peers to advance audit
Australasian Council of Auditors-General
The Australasian Council of Auditors-General (ACAG) is an association 
established by Auditors General in 1993. It allows Auditors General 
to share information and business intelligence and supports the 
development of effective and efficient auditing methods and practices by 
members. 

ACAG also enables Auditors General to express their collective opinions, 
where appropriate, on financial accounting and auditing standards 
and related issues such as exposure drafts issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board and their international equivalents.

We also participate in ACAG’s sub committees, which provide mutual 
benefits and learning opportunities between audit offices. These are:

yy Financial Reporting and Auditing Committee: provides strategic and 
technical advice on developments in accounting, financial reporting 
and financial auditing.

yy Heads of Performance Audit Group: provides strategic advice and 
information to support the development of effective and efficient 
performance auditing practices.

yy ACAG Information Systems Audit Group: provides a forum to 
exchange knowledge and experience in information technology (IT) 
audit and use of IT as a support tool for auditors.

yy Quality Assurance Committee: develops and maintains ACAG’s 
capacity to perform quality assurance reviews when requested by 
Auditors General (page 74). 

Looking forward – 
Audit Learning Network Portal

We are working closely with ACAG to develop an online portal that 
Offices will use to share information and collaborate on projects. We 
have provided technical support to host the ACAG website and have 
led the collation of content for the portal. Once complete, the portal 
will enable efficient information sharing and collaboration between the 
ACAG offices, including in areas such as professional development, 
audit techniques and technical papers.

Auditing and Assurance Standards Board
The Auditor General is a member of the Auditing and Assurance 
Standards Board (AUASB), which is an independent, statutory agency 
of the Australian Government, responsible for developing, issuing and 
maintaining auditing and assurance standards.

Our Assistant Auditor General Technical and Audit Quality was a member 
of a Project Advisory Group for Assurance Engagement on Controls, 
which is a subgroup of the AUASB.

Integrity Coordinating Group
Our Office has been a member of the Integrity Coordinating Group (ICG) 
since it was established in 2005. The ICG is an informal association 
of five independent integrity agencies whose purpose is to use their 
combined voice to promote and strengthen integrity in Western 
Australian public bodies. The five agencies are, the Office of the 
Auditor General, the Western Australian Ombudsman: the Public Sector 
Commission, the Corruption and Crime Commission and the Office of the 
Information Commissioner. 
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The heads of the five agencies meet several times each year to share 
information and to collaborate where appropriate. Outputs of the ICG 
include guidance papers and seminars that promote the concept of 
integrity in government. 

Research into collaboration by integrity agencies
We have agreed to provide in-kind support to the Curtin Business 
School (Curtin University) who are researching collaboration by integrity 
agencies in Western Australia. The research will identify the enablers 
and barriers to collaboration by integrity agencies, including the 
legislation establishing their powers and functions, and the scrutiny of 
their work. They expect to release the final report by October 2015.

Developing our workforce
Meeting our mandate to Parliament, the public sector and the people 
of Western Australia of delivering quality audit services efficiently and 
effectively requires a competent, dedicated and enthusiastic workforce. 
We understand how important it is to manage and develop our people. 
We endeavour to provide all of our people with a supportive environment 
and to encourage them in their roles to achieve the desired outcomes of 
this Office.

Workforce Development Plan
Our Workforce Development Plan is integral to managing and developing 
our people. The Plan is aligned with the Office Strategic Plan (page 18), 
targeting our strategies to help achieve wider Office goals and priorities.

Reporting progress against the Plan continues to be a key focus, and 
this year we have put a lot of work into developing useful, timely and 
accurate progress reports. These allow the Office to make informed 
decisions about the future of our workforce.

Looking forward –  
Workforce Development Plan

Our current Workforce Development Plan is due to end in December 
2015. The first step in its review will be a full evaluation of our 
performance against the current goals and targets. We will use the 
outcomes, together with lessons learned to develop our new Plan. 

Like our strategic planning process, this will involve high level input by 
Executive. We will benchmark against peer groups and better practice 
in workforce development, consult with our employees and assess our 
current and future environment, as well as that of our clients. Our aim 
by 2016 is to have a new five-year plan in place, which will have the 
support and buy-in of our employees. 

Learning and professional development
The Office’s Professional Development Plan is one component of 
workforce planning. Our Professional Development (PD) Committee 
works to deliver a well-structured program designed to meet both the 
needs of the Office and individuals. 

The Office is proud to have received Recognised Knowledge Partner 
Status with CPA Australia due to our commitment to PD, training and 
performance management. Throughout this year, our employees have 
continued to receive a number of benefits, most notably automatic 
continuing professional development recognition for CPA members. We 
have also received recognition with the Chartered Accountants Australia 
and New Zealand as a Recognised Training Employer. 
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Input for PD topics, training areas and improvement opportunities comes: 

yy through changes in our social, political and economic environment

yy directly from our people 

yy as a result of development areas identified through the performance 
development and review program (page 57) 

yy through employee evaluations of the relevance and quality of our PD 
Program.

The PD Program has a whole of office component and targeted sessions 
reflecting specific employee training needs, delivered across relevant 
business units.

An example of the targeted training we deliver is the focus groups for 
CPA Australia and Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand 
candidates. Employees doing these exams identify issues and topics 
for discussion relevant to their studies and the committee arranges a 
speaker to discuss and provide guidance.

We primarily deliver our whole of office training through monthly PD 
sessions. This program includes both technical and non-technical 
learning. Specialist guest speakers lead some sessions and we use 
a number of different training methods to supplement our program, 
including online courses and webcasts of national speakers. We also 
recognise the importance of fostering the speaking and presentation 
skills of our own employees. Giving our people the opportunity to present 
on topics within their expertise and providing constructive feedback has 
resulted in lifting presentation skills and improved employee capabilities.

Specific training sessions presented in 2014-15 included:

yy efficiencies in business activities, ranging from financial auditing to 
managing email 

yy public sector awareness, including presentations from agencies

yy performance development and review techniques and advice 

yy health and wellbeing sessions

yy accounting and auditing standards updates

yy technical accounting and audit methodology training

yy continuous improvement – review of key Office projects.

This year we also reviewed our long-standing plain English training and 
support resources, reflecting our strong commitment to clear, concise 
writing, free from jargon and government speak. Our improvements are 
outlined on page 67.  

Toastmasters
Another way we encourage employees to improve their 
communication and public speaking skills is through the creation, 
hosting and promotion of the Fortunate Toastmasters Club. A 
number of our employees are active members of the group, which 
was formed in early 2015. Toastmasters is an internationally 
recognised organisation that aims to give members the skills and 
confidence to express themselves effectively in any situation.
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Performance development and review
Last year we reviewed our performance development and review 
(PDR) tool and this year we began comprehensive training on effective 
performance management and review techniques. 

For our PDR process to be meaningful and constructive, it is important all 
our employees have a clear understanding of what is required.

Leadership and management program
So far, 52 employees have completed our customised Leadership and 
Management Program for executive and managers, which we introduced 
in 2011. Our final group under this program completed the course in 
March 2015.

This is a significant investment in our people aimed at providing 
advanced leadership and management skills for all our leaders. 
Managers are encouraged to share what they have learned with the 
people they supervise. The resulting united approach to management 
and a common management language across the Office is delivering a 
range of positive outcomes.

As part of the 18-week course, all participants are required to apply 
leadership and management concepts, skills and tools to develop and 
deliver a business improvement project. 

Examples of the projects completed by participants this year include:

yy alignment of feedback received from audit clients with our continuous 
improvement process ensuring all improvement opportunities are 
recognised and actioned  

yy review, benchmarking and recommendation on the future direction of 
our audit-specific software currently used to produce some of our audit 
reports

yy a new process for managing contracted audits

Looking forward –  
investing in our future leaders

The importance and value of leadership training to the Office is also 
relevant to our next level of leaders. This year we are rolling out ‘new 
supervisor’ training for employees who are at the stage where they 
can feasibly move into leadership roles. This training will help to equip 
these employees for future management roles, which feeds into our 
succession planning.   
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Graduate recruitment and support
We were pleased to welcome six new financial audit graduates to the 
Office in February 2015. This followed a very successful recruitment 
program that resulted in 149 applicants with 34 shortlisted for an 
interview.

All our graduates attended an intensive five-week induction and training 
program to provide a strong foundation from the very beginning of their 
time as part of our workforce. The program includes: 

yy introduction to the Office

yy professional behavioural and customer service standards

yy practical auditing

yy legal compliance requirements

yy a three week practicum.

Graduate focused training lasts for three years from commencement of 
employment.

Looking forward – graduate recruitment
Our Financial Audit management team is heavily involved in the 
recruitment and training of our new graduates each year. While 
our graduate recruitment program has had fantastic results with a 
large number of quality applicants, we have noted that the timing of 
the work required coincides with one of the busiest periods for our 
Financial Audit business unit. To address this, we have this year 
started our 2016 graduate recruitment earlier. This has the added 
benefit of giving more time for applicants to view our recruitment 
advertising and to make an informed decision of why our Office is an 
employer of choice. 

University liaison program
We continue to build our strategic relationships with the universities 
through targeted sponsorship of business school awards and 
scholarships at four of the Western Australian universities – Edith 
Cowan, Murdoch, Notre Dame and the University of WA. The Auditor 
General also regularly speaks about the role of public sector audit at 
various student events.

In August, we welcomed our first intern from Edith Cowan University 
(ECU) who worked on a number of projects in our Technical and Audit 
Quality area. Our second intern started in our human resources area in 
early July 2015. 

These unpaid placements benefit participants by attracting credits in their 
unit of study while promoting us a potential employer and enhancing our 
relationship with the University. 

We also have a long-standing relationship with ECU for student 
placements in our Information Systems Audit branch where the students 
have developed and enhanced software to provide a management 
letter drafting, analysis and tracking system with extranet facilities. The 
placement has provided the students with high-end exposure to complex 
IT environments.
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Secondments in and out of the Office
Secondments between the Office and other public sector agencies are 
a cost effective and efficient way of allowing employees the opportunity 
to broaden their experience, improve their expertise and increase their 
skill set. Secondments also provide benefits to the Office with employees 
bringing different ideas and suggestions back to our workplace following 
the secondment.

In addition to secondments across the Western Australian public sector, 
we have an ongoing relationship with other audit offices in Australia and 
around the world. This year we were able to support the secondment of 
an employee to the British Columbia Audit Office.

As a first this year, one of our financial auditors completed a secondment 
with a private accounting firm. We regard this arrangement with 
PricewaterhouseCoopers as a development opportunity for employees, 
as well as a mutually beneficial way of sharing audit knowledge and 
expertise between the public and private sectors.

Table 17 shows the different placements in and out of our Office since 
2011-12.

Placements 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15

Into the Office from 
other agencies 2 7 8 6 3

Out of the Office to 
other agencies 5 14 15 11 9

Table 17

My international secondment experience
I was fortunate to 
work on secondment 
with the Office of the 
Auditor General of 
British Columbia, 
Canada, in 2014-15. I 
worked on a number of 
challenging information 
and communication 
technology audits and 
I was able to attend 
two major international 
conferences. This 
experience broadened my 
professional knowledge 
and allowed me to 

develop some great comparisons and ideas for our own Office. 
During the holidays, I was able to travel extensively with my family 
through Canada and North America. The professional and personal 
experiences gained for myself and my family will stay with us for a 
very long time. Thank you OAG!

Brad Pearce, Principal Performance Analyst, Information Systems and Performance Audit  
– pictured with his family while on secondment with the Office of the Auditor General  

of British Columbia.
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Office forums
This year as an efficiency initiative, we merged our quarterly whole of 
Office forums with our PD days to reduce travel time and work disruption 
caused by holding separate events. 

We use our Office forums to:

yy inform employees of current or emerging issues

yy share relevant performance information such as how we are 
performing against our targets, as well as areas where additional 
effort may be required

yy acknowledge the achievements of the different business units 

yy share relevant employee matters including employee movements, 
transfers and new appointments, as well as personal news relating to 
engagements, weddings and babies

yy hear from employees, especially those on inter-Office exchanges from 
other countries or those returning from exchanges, to share lessons 
learned.

In the first Forum of each year, we invite our financial audit graduates 
from the previous year to present a review of their first years’ experience 
as graduate auditors. The results are often humorous and always 
insightful. In the final forum of each year, we invite a guest speaker 
to provide an inspirational, motivational or light-hearted end-of-year 
session.

Our people
Attracting the right people to the right positions is increasingly important 
to us as we strive to accommodate our increasing audit program without 
growing our FTE. While the Auditor General has some discretion over 
the management and staffing of the Office, the Office is a public sector 
department and as such is subject to the obligations and constraints of 
the Public Sector Management Act. 

Table 18 shows our FTE at June 30 for the last five years.

Full time equivalent employees by business unit at 
30 June

Business Unit 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 Status

Auditor General 6.3 4.6 6.8 5.8 5.0 

Financial Audit 59.4 59.5 60.4 65.2 66.3 

Information Systems 
and Performance 
Audit

11.7 12.2 12.9 13.4 16.1 

Performance Audit 15.6 18.8 14.0 15.0 19.0 

Technical and Audit 
Quality 4.6 6.0 9.9 5.8 5.8 —

Business Services 21.5 20.5 20.6 22.2 22.5 

Total 119.1 121.6 124.6 127.4 134.7 

Table 18
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Employee attrition
Our attrition rate of 10.4 per cent was an increase from last year’s 
historic low of 5.5 per cent. A significant portion of this reflects a key 
issue that is set to increasingly impact the public sector – retirement of 
employees.

2010-11 
%

2011-12 
%

2012-13 
%

2013-14 
%

2014-15 
% Status

Employee 
attrition rate 11 17 11 5.5 10.4 

Table 19

Fourteen valued employees left the Office in 2014-15: five were 
resignations, five were retirements, and the remaining four were 
transfers to other public sector agencies.

The economic environment has changed and demand from other public 
sector entities for highly skilled employees across a range of disciplines 
is growing. In the face of this, retention strategies and other initiatives 
identified in our Workforce Development Plan are designed to enhance 
our recruiting competitiveness and employee retention (refer to page 55 
for more information).

Equity and diversity
Thirty-four per cent of our employees are from culturally and linguistically 
diverse and non-English speaking backgrounds. This presents unique 
challenges, especially in the area of communication skills. To assist 
these employees specifically, we offer speech therapy support to help 
in both verbal and written communication skills. We have the online 
Macquarie Dictionary, which includes an English pronunciation tool 
available on our intranet. We also conduct introductory plain English 
workshops, which are stepping-stones for more advanced training.

We provide Workplace Behaviour and Equal Employment Opportunity 
training to graduates and new employees as part of their induction 
program and again throughout the year for all employees. This year the 
Office of Multicultural Interests presented on diversity in the workplace at 
our October professional development day.

Table 20 shows each diversity group as a percentage of our workforce at 
30 June 2015.

Equity and 
Diversity

2010-11 
%

2011-12 
%

2012-13 
%

2013-14 
%

2014-15 
% Status

Women 58.9 58.0 58.0 56.0 59.0 

Aboriginal 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 —

People from 
culturally diverse 
backgrounds

36.4 36.4 25.0 34.0 34.0 —

People with 
disabilities 3.1 3.1 2.9 1.3 0.74 

Youth 9.8 9.8 11.7 6.8 6.0 

Table 20
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Occupational Safety and Health
Table 21 shows our occupational safety and health (OSH) performance 
in 2014-15. We had no OSH incidents this year and we exceeded 
our training target, with 90 per cent of managers trained in their OSH 
responsibilities. 

Measure 2012-131 2014-15 Target Status

Number of fatalities 0 0 0 
Lost time injury and/or 
diseases incident rate3 0 0 0 or 10% 

reduction2 
Lost time injury and/or 
disease severity rate 0 0 0 or 10% 

reduction2 
Percentage of injured 
workers returned to work:
i. within 13 weeks
ii.  within 26 weeks

n/a n/a Greater than or 
equal to 80% 

Percentage of managers 
trained in occupational 
safety, health and 
injury management 
responsibilities

90% 90% Greater than or 
equal to 80% 

Table 21
1 This is a three-year trend. Thus, the year is three years prior to current 

reporting year (current year is 2014-15; comparative year is 2012-13).

2 The reduction is calculated over a three-year period.

3 The lost time injury/disease incidence rate is the number of lost time 
injuries/diseases where one day or more was lost in the financial year per 
100 employees.

Our Audit and Risk Management Committee (page 72) assumes 
responsibility for addressing OSH matters; with all employees sharing 
the responsibility for workplace safety and health. 

All new employees receive information and instruction on their 
obligations and responsibilities under our OSH and injury management 
policies as part of the induction process. All OSH documentation is 
readily available on our intranet, including:

yy Occupational Safety and Health Policy

yy Management of Ill or Injured Workers Policy

yy Workers Compensation Guides

yy Injury Management and Return to Work Program

yy Incident and Accident Report Forms.

To ensure an acceptable, measurable level of OSH awareness we 
register all employees for online OSH and injury management training. 
We deliver this at two different levels – one for all employees and a 
second specifically for supervisors and managers. We monitor and report 
to executive the training completion rates, which allows us to identify 
specific areas for further training.

Disability Access and Inclusion Plan
We are committed to ensuring that people with disability have the same 
access to our services, information and facilities by implementing the 
strategies and initiatives identified in the Office’s Disability Access and 
Inclusion Plan (DAIP) 2011-2016.

As Table 29 on page 131 shows, we have successfully completed all the 
strategies we set out to achieve as part of the 2011-2016 plan. 

We updated our DAIP this year to include Outcome 7, and through a 
consultative process developed new strategies to address barriers to 
access and inclusion in employment. 
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Employee relations
In addition to our professional and workforce development activity, 
we have a number of initiatives in place to support our employees, 
professionally and personally. 

Employee Assistance Program
This program provides a highly valued service of independent 
counselling, advice and support to all employees and their immediate 
families, who access it for a broad range of personal and work related 
reasons.

Annual de-identified reporting is provided to the Executive Management 
Group on employee use of the program. Where trends emerge, remedial 
actions such as awareness raising, health and wellbeing promotion and 
training are considered.

Grievance resolution
We currently have four employees across the Office trained in grievance 
resolution whose contact details are published on the intranet and on 
posters around the Office, reminding employees that this resource is 
available and supported.

Code of conduct
The Office of the Auditor General is committed to the highest standards 
of corporate governance. Employees must comply with our legislation, 
internal policies, and our code of conduct. The code of conduct specifies 
appropriate standards of employee behaviour, with direct relevance 
to the Office’s unique role and responsibilities. Employees must also 
adhere to requirements imposed on professional auditors.

Employees acknowledge their understanding of and commitment to 
the Office’s code of conduct annually. The signed declaration states 
their commitment to and acknowledgement of the unique personal and 
professional obligations of working with the Office of the Auditor General 
and their continuing compliance with the code’s requirements.

Wellness Committee
Our Wellness Committee aims to engage employees in healthy activities 
and improve wellbeing across the Office.

This year the committee organised a number of wellness initiatives, 
which the Office supported, including: 

yy a weekly fruit box in our lunchroom

yy group Blood Donor days – with 20 blood donations from employees in 
2014-15

yy one on one ergonomic assessments for employees

yy a wellness calendar for employee health and fitness events, such as 
fundraising marathons 

yy the annual flu vaccination program

yy a new year’s resolution support pack, containing health and wellness 
information

yy awareness raising of RUOK? Day, Mental Health Week and Lifeline

yy promotion of nearby yoga classes, Bike Week and a Box&Bike offer

yy guest speakers at our PD days, including Diabetes WA.
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Employee suggestions and ideas
Our online employee suggestion box continues to be a popular 
communication tool. The suggestion box is easily accessible through the 
intranet and employees can ask any questions or make suggestions on 
issues relating to the Office. Responses are coordinated and posted on 
the suggestion board for all employees to view.

We also have an online idea box, known as the innovation wiki that 
employees can use to share and build on others’ innovation ideas. The 
Office’s Innovation team has progressively developed the wiki and it has 
proven to be a popular way for employees to share and discuss ideas 
that they may not otherwise know what to do with. 

The Innovation team’s main aim is to establish innovation as an 
accepted part of Office culture. The Team is currently working on 
establishing a clearer link between our strategic planning processes and 
innovative thinking. The idea is to encourage our employees to think 
beyond business as per usual when developing strategic plan initiatives.

Streamlined police clearances
This year, we introduced a process to improve turnaround of employee 
National Police Clearances. This initiative has resulted in a number of 
efficiency gains including: 

yy halving the cost of obtaining clearances

yy decreasing internal administration

yy no out of pocket expenses for employees.

Doing our bit for charity
We have long participated in fundraising activities and we pride 
ourselves on doing our bit for charity. Some of the fundraising efforts we 
conducted throughout 2014-15 included:

yy Cancer Council’s Biggest Morning Tea

yy Ride to Conquer Cancer

yy Movember for men’s health

yy Wear Purple for Epilepsy.

Social club
Our Office Social Club has a wide membership across the Office. 
The Club organises events throughout the year, with many providing 
additional fundraising support for the various charities listed above. 

Key events in 2014-15 included a Christmas lunch, an end of financial 
year lunch and a number of social sundowners. 

Financial auditors at our Office forum, which was also a fund raiser for epilepsy.
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Information technology and management
Information technology offers both opportunity and challenges. Our 
Information and Communication Technology (ICT) Committee (page 72) 
considers our use of ICT in achieving business objectives while 
addressing the risks and challenges. 

Information technology
We are now into the third year of our Information Technology (IT) 
Strategic Plan. While the first two years of the plan laid the foundation 
and put in place strong procedures and policies, this year we have been 
able to progress to the next phase to consolidate and enhance our 
delivery of IT services to the Office.

Throughout the year, we have focused on engagement and consultation 
across the business. These discussions have provided us the 
opportunity to look at new advancements in technology and how we 
can best use those to make further improvements in the four key areas 
of; governance, information management, service management and 
innovation and technology.

At the beginning of 2015, we identified four key principles, which would 
underpin the work we do in the IT area:

yy Service – provision of best practice and innovative ICT services, 
applications and infrastructure

yy Engagement – engage with the business so that outcomes provided 
are aligned with business needs

yy Accessibility and security – ensure employees accessibility to 
information whilst maintaining security and confidentiality of all Office 
information

yy Governance – provide an efficient and effective information 
governance framework that supports our current business needs and 
ensures we identify, consider and treat all risks. 

Some of our key activities this year included:

yy a review of all our existing service contracts with external providers. 
This included updated service level agreements and tighter and more 
accountable project management processes

yy rollout of new laptops to all our employees to replace ageing 
technology and a laptop memory upgrade

yy update and launch of our intranet platform to Sharepoint 2013, which 
allows us to collaborate on documents, such as audit reports (refer to 
‘Audit methodology’ on page 66), and present business intelligence 
information to the Office from other existing systems. 

Key milestone – introduction of our new 
automated accounts payable system

This year we successfully introduced a new system to manage our 
payments and processes through our Finance Branch. We have 
historically relied on paper-based invoicing to process our invoices 
and purchase orders throughout the business. Our new integrated 
system, ‘Kofax Total Agility’, processes these online, thereby saving 
time and reducing paper use. We have also been able to automate 
much of our reporting requirements and can deliver business 
intelligence information more efficiently. We continue to develop this 
system to further meet business requirements.  
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Audit methodology software
The way we conduct and produce our audit work is one of our most 
important considerations.

A wide range of audit software is available, though since 2009 we have 
used a specifically designed public sector software package titled IPSAM 
for our financial auditing and ASPIRE for our narrow scope performance 
auditing. 

This year significant work has gone into developing the functionality of 
our current intranet platform to meet the audit software requirements for 
performance auditing, particularly the collaboration requirements. This 
new functionality was successfully trialled in 2015 in our Performance 
Audit business unit, which undertakes our broad scope performance 
audits.

Looking forward – Audit methodology
Our ultimate goal is to have both our performance audit business unit 
areas – Performance Audit (which does broad scope performance 
audits) and Information Systems Performance Audit (which does 
narrow scope performance audits) – using the one software that 
meets all our defined business needs. There are security, support 
and operational efficiencies in using one platform, however given the 
different nature of the types of audit each area does, the challenge 
is finding a solution that satisfies all our requirements and still meets 
our quality assurance standards. We are aiming to have an agreed 
solution in place by the end of 2015. 

Information management
Audit offices rely on business intelligence and information to assist in key 
decision-making. This year we have put significant effort into achieving 
greater efficiencies and effectiveness in this area, including:

yy integration of current business information systems to make 
information more accessible. An example is the automatic import of 
data from our human resources management system into our practice 
management system, which allows us to produce reports using real 
time data

yy development of a ‘single point of truth’ concept that reduces 
duplication of effort while providing access to current information

yy automated management reporting, reducing manual processes, which 
has also improved the reliability and accuracy of the data generated.

Emma Vasic and Dave Palmer manage our compliance with the Office’s 
Recordkeeping Plan (page 134).
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Communications
This year we have focused our communications activity primarily around 
three key areas:

yy simplifying our reports using a more tailored ‘Plain English’ approach

yy efficient production and enhanced accessibility of our audit reports

yy increased communication with our external stakeholders, including 
Members of Parliament, public sector agencies and the wider 
community.

Plain English review
The Office is committed to plain English writing, which is free of jargon 
and government speak. Consistent with this commitment was a review 
in 2014 of our long-standing approach to training to ensure it still met our 
requirements.

As a result, we reinvigorated our training to include: 

yy a new ‘Editing’ course targeted at senior reviewers to establish a 
shared set of expectations for reports

yy training in writing corporate documents  

yy snapshot assessments of key reports during drafting to identify 
messaging issues early.

We also increased the involvement of the Communications branch 
during the report writing process to assist in identifying key messages, 
develop clear reporting structures and identify writing issues early in the 
process (page 12). This has already shown efficiency and quality gains 
with many of the writing and messaging issues resolved before the draft 
reports get to our Executive for approval.

Efficient production and enhanced accessibility of our 
audit reports
This year we introduced a new customised Word template for use by our 
audit teams when developing their audit reports from initial draft through 
to the final document. We previously drafted the reports in Word before 
transferring them to a graphic design software package for printing. This 
initiative has had a number of benefits, including:

yy Reduced risk – producing the audit reports from start to print in Word 
has eliminated many of the quality and version control risks we faced 
when transferring from one software package to another.

yy Reduced time and effort – eliminating the need to transfer our 
draft reports into a graphic design software package has saved 
us anywhere from two days to a week in layout and editing time, 
depending on the complexity of the report.

yy More efficient online reporting – we have gradually reduced the 
hard copy reports we print (from around 250 in 2010 to 80 copies in 
2015). Word documents transfer to our website much easier and with 
more reliable formatting than pdf documents. It is now much more 
efficient for us to convert our hard copy reports into an online format. 

Increased communication with our external stakeholders
To achieve our purpose of ‘serving the public interest’ it is vitally 
important that we produce work that matters to Parliament and ultimately 
the community. One way we can ensure our audit report topics matter to 
a wide audience is to ask for community feedback and gauge community 
response to our work.
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This year we have:

yy added a ‘Have Your Say’ feedback button to the work in progress 
page on our website, encouraging community feedback on our 
upcoming audit topics

yy started using Twitter to promote our upcoming audit topics and to 
invite feedback (@OAG_WA)

yy increased the use of community surveys to inform our audit reports 
(page 39) 

yy enhanced the accessibility of our online reports by creating a mobile 
device view which people can access on mobile phones and tablets

yy allowed employees to access Twitter and LinkedIn from their work 
computers, adhering to our social media policy, so they can keep 
aware of current issues and trends that could feed into our report topic 
selection process (page 36).

These initiatives have resulted in a significant increase in referrals and 
enquiries made to our Office, many of which feed directly into our audit 
topic selection process (page 36). 

Energy Management Plan
This year we reduced our energy consumption by three per cent, which 
has put us on track to meet our target of a five per cent reduction over 
five years.

In keeping with our corporate policy and strategic plan, we are committed 
to limiting our use of resources and minimising waste. 

An example of a simple, yet effective energy saving initiative we 
introduced this year was scanning of human resource (HR) forms. 
Employees are required to submit a number of different forms and 
information for recording on their personnel files. Rather than request 
paper copies, our HR branch programmed the communal photocopiers 
to scan documents directly to the HR email inbox for electronic filing.   

We have identified three key focus areas in our Energy Management 
Plan 2012-16:

yy Measurement – accurate measurement and monitoring provides 
a baseline for achieving comparable results. To achieve this we 
examine our monthly utility statement and maintain an ongoing record 
of energy usage by floor to identify significant variations.

yy Behaviour – promoting energy conservation and energy efficient 
behaviour among staff can also lead to savings. We encourage 
staff to turn office equipment off when not in use and we promote 
responsible energy usage, both at home and at work.

yy Technology – utilising energy efficient technology and using existing 
equipment more efficiently can provide significant long-term savings. 
We achieve this by considering the life cycle costs of all new plant 
and equipment, ensuring equipment replacement programs considers 
energy efficient alternatives and where possible set high energy 
usage equipment to auto save.
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Governance
A comprehensive look at how we manage our people and our business in a transparent, 
accountable and responsible manner.

Image of Parliament (our primary client) appeared on the cover of our Opinions on Ministerial Notification report (page 41)

Strategic plan relationship:
The majority of the information in this section 
aligns with the strategies and measures in the 
‘Our Business Performance’ key result area of our 
strategic plan.

Notable information:
Key governance arrangements – page 72

Internal, external and peer reviews of our Office  
– page 73

Referrals and enquiries – page 78

Looking Forward:
Into 2015-16, we will continue to focus on continuous 
improvement (page 78), quality assurance (page 77) 
and efficiency and effectiveness (page 78) in the 
work we do and the products we deliver.
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Processes exist to ensure clear 
communication and interaction 
between this Office and parliamentary 
representatives in accordance with 
the relationship outlined in the Auditor 
General Act 2006.

Refer:

yy Key legislation (page 15)

yy Members of Parliament 
survey (page 30)

yy Parliamentary liaison 
program (page 52)

1. Government and public sector relationship

Accountability for deliverables is 
the responsibility of the Executive 
Management Group, which comprises 
leaders from the five business units. 
The role of these business units is 
clearly defined, yet flexibility exists 
to enable the Office to respond to 
structural changes.

Refer:

yy Senior officers (page 17)

yy Organisational structure 
(page 16)

3. Organisational structure

Our strategic plan clearly defines our 
goals and key objectives. The plan is 
developed to articulate our operational 
outcomes and outlines key initiatives, 
accountability and responsibilities.

Refer:
yy Workforce Development 

Plan (page 55)

yy Key performance 
indicators (page 23)

yy Organisational structure 
(page 16

2. Management and oversight

Governance
Commitment to good governance
The Office of the Auditor General is committed to achieving and 
demonstrating good governance. In monitoring and assessing our 
own performance, we are mindful of keeping up with good practice. 
In this regard, we have found the Public Sector Commission’s Good 
Governance Guide is valuable for assisting us to achieve a high standard 
of organisational performance.

The Good Governance Guide includes nine key governance principles. 
The following pages describe how we apply those principles and includes 
references to pages in this report for more information.

Governance principle Where to find it in this report
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Operational plans provide information 
relating to work programs and progress 
towards initiatives. These are reported 
to the Executive Management Group for 
review and to confirm we are achieving 
desired outcomes.

Refer:

yy Quality Assurance Plan 
(page 77)

yy Workforce Development 
Plan (page 55)

4. Operations

Our Office values accountability 
and efficiency and ensures financial 
processes are consistent with 
accounting standards. Formal 
structures exist to monitor actual versus 
budget and report monthly to the 
Executive Management Group.

Refer:

yy Financial performance 
(page 22)

yy Financial statements 
(page 83)

7. Finance

Workforce planning is a high priority 
and includes strategies for retention 
and attraction as well as development 
of staff with the intent to build 
leadership capabilities to ensure growth 
of individuals and skill development.

Refer:

yy Our people (page 60)

yy Workforce Development 
Plan (page 55)

6. People

Our risk management framework 
outlines the policies and processes 
in regard to management of risk and 
business continuity. The status of 
identified risks is reported monthly to 
the Executive Management Group.

Refer:
yy Risk management (page 72)
yy Business Continuity  

(page 72)
yy Audit and Risk 

Management Committee 
(page 72)

9. Risk Management

Ethical behaviour and integrity are 
core values that underpin our work 
and the high standards required of all 
employees. We manage this through 
awareness promotion and ongoing 
accountability and ethics training.

Refer:

yy Our values (page 18)

yy Quality Assurance Plan 
(page 77)

yy Audit and Risk 
Management Committee 
(page 72)

5. Ethics and integrity

Internal policies and guidelines exist 
to ensure information is disseminated 
efficiently and effectively, particularly 
in relation to external communication 
with Parliament and the media and the 
tabling of our reports to Parliament.

Refer:

yy Members of Parliament 
survey (page 30)

yy Communications activities 
(page 67)

yy Reports tabled in 2014-15 
(page 40)

8. Communication

Governance principle Where to find it in this report Governance principle Where to find it in this report
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Key governance arrangements
Audit and Risk Management Committee
Our Audit and Risk Management Committee (ARMC) meets regularly 
to improve the effectiveness of internal audit, external audit and risk 
management.

The Deputy Auditor General chairs the committee with support from 
selected senior managers from across the Office whose qualifications 
and experience enable the committee to meet its terms of reference. The 
members are:

yy Deputy Auditor General (biography on page 17)

yy Assistant Auditor General, Technical and Audit Quality (biography on 
page 17)

yy Director, Information Systems Audit

yy Director Finance, Information and Technology (Chief Finance Officer)

yy Director, Performance Audit

yy Senior Director, Financial Audit.

One of the key governance tasks managed by the committee is 
the coordination of our internal audit program. 2020 Global Pty Ltd. 
conducted our internal audit for the year ended 30 June 2015. Further 
information is included on page 75.

The committee also oversees and manages our actions taken to address 
quality assurance findings, gift decision register, conflict of interest and 
potential conflict of interest registers, fraud and corruption register and 
complaints register.

It also has the key responsibility of overseeing our Business Continuity 
Management Program (BCMP), risk registers and treatment action plans. 

Information and Communication Technology Committee
We have an active Information and Communication Technology (ICT) 
Committee, which meets regularly to discuss ICT projects, activities, 
opportunities and risks across the Office.

The focus areas of this committee include:

yy the long-term plans and directions of all corporate systems

yy progress on all strategic ICT related projects

yy capital work funding submissions and reporting.

This committee regularly reports to the Executive Management Group, 
and includes representatives from all business units of the Office 
to ensure a strategic approach to ICT and broad consideration of 
operational and business needs.

Other committees
Several other committees provide focused advice and support to the 
Executive Management Group. These are:

yy Office Consultative Committee 

yy Professional Development Committee

yy Methodology user groups for financial audits, performance audits 
and key performance indicator audits. Each group provides advice 
on the need for changes to the methodology and assists with the 
implementation of the changes.



Office of the Auditor General WA  |  Annual Report 2014-2015  |  75

Internal, external and peer reviews
We are often asked ‘who audits the Auditor General’… and the answer 
is, many people do!

Our Office is subject to various review processes, which we value as 
they provide us with assurance that our processes are effective, efficient 
and evolving.

The following pages provide a summary of our performance against the 
review processes we conducted in 2014-15.

Who  
audits the 

Auditor 
General?

Parliamentary 
review  

(page 12)
Peer  

review  
(page 74)

Internal  
audit  

(page 75)

Internal  
quality 

assurance 
reviews  

(page77)

Annual  
financial audit 

(page 81)

Internal 
information 

systems audit 
(page 76)

Internal self 
assessments 

(page 73)

Figure 5: Internal, external and peer reviews of our Office in 2014-15

Internal self-assessments
Many of the audits we conduct of other agencies also have relevance 
to ourselves, especially our across government benchmarking audits. 
For this reason, we often self-assess our own internal processes and 
controls against the audit criteria used for these audits. We address 
any improvement opportunities coming out of these reviews as soon as 
practicable.

In 2014-15, our Business Services unit self-assessed our performance 
against the criteria used in the audits of:

yy Managing the Accuracy of Leave Records (page 41)

yy Managing and Monitoring Motor Vehicle Use (page 44)

yy Official Public Sector Air Travel (page 45)

yy Purchasing Through Common Use Arrangements (page 49).
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Peer Review – Australasian Council of Auditors-General
The Australasian Council of Auditors-General (ACAG) coordinates quality assurance peer reviews of member audit offices when requested by an 
Auditor General. 

In October 2014, five senior auditors from four other audit offices reviewed us against the ACAG Governance and Audit Framework. The framework is 
derived from professional standards, specifically, APES 320, Quality Control for Firms and  ASQC1, Quality Control for firms that perform audits and 
reviews of financial statements and financial information.

The auditors were from the New South Wales, New Zealand, Victoria and Queensland Audit Offices. 

The review conclusion was:

Overall, the Office provides an important service efficiently and effectively to the Parliament and the people of Western Australia. It achieves 
this notwithstanding funding pressures, the complexity of its role and the demands on it. The Office has a vision for the future and a set of 
values it operates by that are both aspirational and relevant. Staff are engaged and well trained for their roles.

A range of recommendations were accepted and have already been implemented (Table 22).

Summary of findings  
Australasian Council of Auditors-General peer review 2014-15

Section Number of 
recommendations Not started In progress Complete

Office governance 10 0 8 2

Audit practice management 2 1 1 0

Financial audit assessment 16 0 1 15

Performance audit assessment 8 0 4 4

Total recommendations 36 1 14 21

Percentage 100% 3% 39% 58%

Table 22
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Internal audit
2020 Global Business Consultants who are our internal auditors, provided their 2014-15 report in late May. This year, 10 key areas were audited 
(Table 23), which were developed in consultation with our Audit and Risk Management Committee (page 72), Executive Management Group and 
external auditors.

Overall, the report showed a pleasing assessment of compliance and controls, with 2020 Global commenting that:

There was a high level of compliance and good controls evident in all scope areas. The OAG’s policy and procedures frameworks were current 
and well documented. OAG staff were knowledgeable and skilled in their areas of responsibility and reception to our recommendations during 
the audit, some of which were implemented immediately.    

We have already implemented the majority of the recommendations, with the remainder to be completed by December 2015 (Table 23).     

Summary of findings – 2014-15 internal audit

Area Rating
Total 

recommendations

Recommendations:
Not yet 

addressed
Completed

Purchasing Minor 7 2 5

Recordkeeping plan (page 134) Minor 1 1 –

Assets Minor 6 2 4

Conflicts of interest Minor 2 – 2

Section 82 Minor 6 3 3

Automated business solution Minor 1 – 1

Work in progress calculation methodology Minor 1 1 –

Recruitment and appointment of staff Moderate 2 1 1

Accuracy of leave records Moderate 5 1 4

Payroll – contractors and temporary staff Moderate 2 – 2

Contract management (non-audit) Moderate 5 3 2

Total 38 14 24

Table 23
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Internal information systems audits
Like the financial management self-assessments referred to on 
page 73, we also periodically self-assess the adequacy of our corporate 
information systems. This work, which is mostly performed by our 
Information Systems (IS) Audit unit, has in the past, included an external 
penetration test to assess the security of our systems and a security gap 
analysis audit. 

In December 2014, the IS audit team assessed the maturity of our 
general computer controls. The specific areas assessed and the ratings 
compared to our 2012 assessment is shown in Table 24. The ratings 
range from 0 to 5 with 5 being the highest rating and 3 being the 
benchmark sought.

Area – Information Systems 2012 2014 Status

Assessment and management of IT risks 2-3 4 

Managing changes 1-2 2 

Ensuring continuous service 2 2 —

Ensuring systems security 2-3 2 

Managing the physical environment 3-4 3 

Managing operations 1-2 2 

Strategic planning n/a 2 —

Managing projects n/a 2 —

Table 24

The ratings we received were not acceptable, however, this review 
allowed us to understand our weaknesses and focus our efforts on 
making improvements. In most areas, we could easily improve these 
ratings by better documenting key processes and finalising initiatives that 
were already underway. 

We are pleased that a range of improved processes are now in place 
and we look forward to a follow up review in 2015-16 which we are 
confident will deliver improved ratings in all areas.

Our Information Systems audit team conduct extensive self-assessments on 
our Office information systems.
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Quality, efficiency and continuous 
improvement
Quality framework and Quality Assurance Plan
Quality is fundamentally important to everything we do. The Office has 
a framework that establishes and maintains quality over the audit work 
we perform. We have instilled this framework throughout our workforce, 
sending a strong message that audit quality is more than meeting 
professional standards.

Our framework includes a Quality Assurance Plan, which our Executive 
Management Group approves on an annual basis. Our Technical and 
Audit Quality business unit is responsible for facilitating the Plan and for 
reporting results to the Executive Management Group. The Audit and 
Risk Management Committee oversees the implementation of accepted 
recommendations. 

We link this plan to our strategic plan and it plays a vital role for our 
Office in terms of:

yy internal control

yy risk management

yy corporate governance

yy compliance monitoring.

Examples of our ongoing quality assurance activities include:

yy Inspection of engagement files – to ensure a quality audit is 
performed and continuous improvement opportunities and good 
practice is identified and shared with the Office.

yy Review of audit methodologies – to ensure that they continue to 
comply with the auditing standards.

yy Review of audit files of contract audit firms – to ensure the quality 
of contract audit firms who perform audit work on our behalf.

yy Review of published information of contract audit firms – to 
ensure that the results of public information including quality 
assurance reviews performed by regulatory bodies and membership 
organisations are known by our Office.

yy Liaison with contract audit firms – to seek information about 
the firms on aspects of their business that may be topical or may 
represent a particular risk for the current year.

yy Engagement Quality Control Reviews (EQCR) – to evaluate and 
report on the implementation of the EQCR process in the Office.

yy Independence – to evaluate and report on the implementation of the 
Conflict of Interest Policy.

yy External Peer Review Program – to get an independent opinion as 
to the quality of our audits that we perform. This may be from another 
audit office in Australia or from an independent reviewer.

Training is a critical part of the Quality Assurance Plan. We have 
delivered specific training sessions on ‘what is audit quality?’, ‘the 
importance of audit quality’ and ‘the role and responsibility for audit 
quality’.
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Office efficiency and effectiveness
We strive to be efficient and effective in all areas of our business. Last 
year we introduced an Efficiency and Effectiveness Plan, which is 
aligned with our strategic plan. This Plan includes a number of projects 
designed to identify ways in which we can operate more efficiently based 
on our current resourcing and budget.

Examples of projects included in the Plan for 2015 are:

yy investigate if efficiencies can be gained through using technology to 
replace our current paper-based audit opinions

yy increased use of data analytics in our financial audit area, which 
will feed into a number of different audit processes, increasing 
accessibility and limiting duplication of effort.  

Focus on continuous improvement
Through our continuous improvement policy we aim to adopt continuous 
improvement as a regular part of what we do and how we conduct 
ourselves, rather than as an afterthought or an additional activity. In this 
way, we have embedded continuous improvement within our culture and 
our business processes through the cycle of planning, execution and 
review.

Activities that contribute to our continuous improvement process include:

yy Post project reviews – these are conducted following the tabling 
of each audit report and include the examination of lessons learnt 
throughout the project and suggested improvements.

yy Audit methodology user groups – our audit methodologies are 
key to what we do, how we do it and why. The user groups meet 
regularly to ensure that the methodologies are compliant with auditing 
standards and to identify any best practice or continuous improvement 
opportunities we could implement.

Managing complaints, referrals and 
enquiries
The Office of the Auditor General receives information that assists 
us to perform our functions from many different sources. We treat 
all information we receive with confidentially, subject to legal and 
parliamentary processes. We manage all feedback, suggestions and 
concerns in a way that demonstrates the Office values of Integrity, 
Quality and Respect.

Our website includes information and advice on how to contact us and 
provides the opportunity to submit feedback electronically or through 
alternative contact channels.

It is important to note that information received through these avenues 
can be examined under the Auditor General Act 2006, and can be 
considered as part of our topic selection process (page 36).

The following provides information regarding matters bought to our 
attention and how we managed these.

Public Interest Disclosures
The Office of the Auditor General is one of a number of accountability 
agencies to which people can make public interest disclosures (PID) 
under the Public Interest Disclosures Act 2003. This Act establishes us 
as the appropriate authority to receive PIDs that relate to substantial 
unauthorised or irregular use of, or substantial mismanagement of, public 
resources.

In 2014-15, we received no complaints that met the criteria of a PID.

The Auditor General appoints key employees, including some executive 
members of the Office, as PID officers. We deliver appropriate training 
for these employees so they can receive and manage PIDs effectively.
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Complaints
We define a complaint about the Office of the Auditor General as any 
expression of dissatisfaction or concern made about the Office, its staff, 
external contractors, services, products or practices.

We received no complaints in 2014-15.

We inform employees of their responsibilities in this area and our policy 
and process is available on our intranet. 

The Office adheres to the guiding principles recommended by the 
Ombudsman to manage each complaint effectively. These principles are 
available on the Ombudsman website www.ombudsman.wa.gov.au. 

Referrals and enquiries
In 2014-15, we had a 75 per cent increase in the number of referrals and 
enquiries lodged with us.

The significant increase in referrals from members of the public and from 
public sector agencies is primarily due to community consultation work 
we have completed on our website (page 68): 

yy we enhanced our website work-in-progress page to encourage 
community feedback. This feedback mechanism is now much more 
prominent and the result has been significantly more contacts made 
from community members and agencies

yy we increased our use of community surveys to inform our audit 
reports (page 38), which has driven a large number of unrelated 
enquiries through to our Office.   

Table 25 shows the number of referrals and enquiries received in the 
2014-15 financial year, with the total number of referrals significantly 
higher than prior years.

Referrals and/or 
enquiries received 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 Status

Members of the public 60 72 61 45 76 

Member of Parliament 
or parliamentary 
committees

8 18 15 16 20 

WA State Government 
agencies N/A 9 14 15 37 

Total 68 99 90 76 133 

Table 25

* The information we kept in 2010-11 did not specify if the referral or enquiry 
came from an agency.

There were no trends or repeated concerns this year, however the 
clear majority of referrals once again related to governance matters and 
compliance within public sector agencies. 

In 2014-15, the average number of days we took to respond was four 
working days, an improvement from six days last year. We responded to 
90 per cent of all referrals and enquiries within our target of 10 working 
days for standard and 30 days for complex referrals and enquiries, which 
was also an improvement on last years’ outcome of 84 per cent.  

Referrals can be an early warning of issues relating to the performance, 
probity and compliance of the sector. We record and review all referrals 
and enquiries to identify any trends and wider issues across government.
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When considering the issues referred to us, our focus is on systemic 
weaknesses rather than a one-off issue affecting an individual. If 
the matter is systemic and within our mandate, then any decision to 
investigate is made after consideration against internal protocols and in 
an objective and ethical manner to ensure a consistent response. If the 
issues are outside our mandate, we will assist individuals to redirect their 
issues to those who can best assist.

Where matters cross jurisdictional boundaries, such as the work of the 
Corruption and Crime Commission or the Public Sector Commission, we 
have processes in place to communicate with other integrity agencies to 
highlight potential issues, whilst maintaining confidentiality.

Thelma and Maddi on reception are often the first point of contact for people 
calling our Office with referrals and enquiries.
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Financial Statements, Performance 
Indicators, Disclosures and Other 
Legal Requirements

Strategic plan relationship:
This section includes many of the measures and 
indicators we use to monitor the progress of our 
strategic plan.

Notable information:
Financial statements – page 88 to 124.

Performance indicators – page 126 to 128.

Looking Forward:
The Office will continue to review our reporting 
processes to ensure relevant and timely information 
is made available to users to support key 
decision‑making. 
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Certification of Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2015

The accompanying financial statements of the Office of the Auditor General have been prepared in compliance  
with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to present fairly the  
financial transactions for the financial year ended 30 June 2015 and the financial position as at 30 June 2015.

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars included in the  
financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

 
JAMES DEW CA COLIN MURPHY FCPA FCA
CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER  ACCOUNTABLE AUTHORITY
3 August 2015 3 August 2015
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Independent Auditor’s Opinion
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Independent Auditor’s Opinion
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2015

Note 2015 2014
$000 $000

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses
Employee benefits expense 5 15 661 14 056
Supplies and services 6 6 205 6 604
Depreciation and amortisation expense 7 527 442
Accommodation expenses 8 2 255 2 216
Other expenses 9 55 61
Total cost of services 24 703 23 379

Income
Revenue
User charges and fees 10 17 305 16 780
Other revenue 11 41 33
Total Revenue 17 346 16 813

Gains
Gain on disposal of non-current assets 12 16 -
Total Gains 16 -
Total income other than income from State Government 17 362 16 813
NET COST OF SERVICES 7 341 6 566

Income from State Government 13
Service appropriation 6 902 6 790
Services received free of charge 508 531
Total income from State Government 7 410 7 321
SURPLUS FOR THE PERIOD 69 755

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD 69 755

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2015

Note 2015 2014
$000 $000

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 24 3 535 2 619
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 14,24 538 -
Receivables 15 7 506 7 347
Amounts receivable for services 16 314 297
Other current assets 17 331 535
Total Current Assets 12 224 10 798

Non-Current Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 14,24 – 538
Amounts receivable for services 16 2 088 1 708
Property, plant and equipment 18 394 750
Intangible assets 19 201 232
Total Non-Current Assets 2 683 3 228
TOTAL ASSETS 14 907 14 026

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables 21 1 075 1 107
Provisions 22 2 801 2 551
Total Current Liabilities 3 876 3 658

Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions 22 1 168 874
Total Non-Current Liabilities 1 168 874
TOTAL LIABILITIES 5 044 4 532

NET ASSETS 9 863 9 494

EQUITY 23
Contributed equity 7 781 7 481
Accumulated surplus 2 082 2 013
TOTAL EQUITY 9 863 9 494

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2015

Note
Contributed 

equity
Accumulated 

surplus Total equity
$000 $000 $000

Balance at 1 July 2013 23 7 181 1 258 8 439
Surplus - 755 755

Total comprehensive income for the period - 755 755

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Capital appropriations 300 - 300

Total 300 - 300
Balance at 30 June 2014 7 481 2 013 9 494

Balance at 1 July 2014 23 7 481 2 013 9 494
Surplus - 69 69

Total comprehensive income for the period - 69 69

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Capital appropriations 300 - 300

Total 300 - 300
Balance at 30 June 2015 7 781 2 082 9 863

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2015

Note 2015 2014
$000 $000

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation 6 208 6 124
Capital appropriations 300 300
Holding account drawdown 297 297
Net cash provided by State Government 6 805 6 721

Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee benefits (15 059) (13 998)
Supplies and services (6 107) (7 026)
Accommodation (1 752) (1 723)
GST payments on purchases (788) (932)
GST payments to taxation authority (1 114) (1 026)
Other payments (55) (60)

Receipts
User charges and fees 17 163 16 640
GST receipts on sales 1 749 1 710
GST receipts from taxation authority 157 248
Other receipts 41 33
Net cash used in operating activities 24 (5 765) (6 134)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Purchase of non-current assets (140) (686)
Receipts
Proceeds from sale of non-current assets 16 -
Net cash used in investing activities (124) (686)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 916 (99)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 3 157 3 256
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 24 4 073 3 157

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Summary of Consolidated Account 
Appropriations and Income Estimates
For the year ended 30 June 2015

2015 2015 2015 2014
Estimate Actual Variance Actual Actual Variance

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

DELIVERY OF SERVICES
Item 93  Net amount appropriated to deliver services 6 212 6 188 (24) 6 188 6 096 92
Amount Authorised by Other Statutes

– Salaries and Allowances Act 1975 714 714 - 714 694 20
Total appropriations provided to deliver services 6 926 6 902 (24) 6 902 6 790 112

CAPITAL
Item 152  Capital appropriations 300 300 - 300 300 -

GRAND TOTAL 7 226 7 202 (24) 7 202 7 090 112

DETAILS OF EXPENSES BY SERVICE
Public Sector Auditing 23 698 24 703 1 005 24 703 23 379 1 324
Total Cost of Services 23 698 24 703 1 005 24 703 23 379 1 324
Less Total Income (16 823) (17 362) (539) (17 362) (16 813) (549)
Net Cost of Services 6 875 7 341 466 7 341 6 566 775
Adjustments 51 (439) (490) (439) 224 (663)
Total appropriations provided to deliver services 6 926 6 902 (24) 6 902 6 790 112

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
Purchase of non-current physical assets 597 140 (457) 140 686 (546)
Adjustments for other funding sources (297) 160 457 160 (386) 546
Capital appropriations 300 300 - 300 300 -

Adjustments comprise movements in cash balances and other accrual items such as receivables, payables and superannuation.

Note 28 ’Explanatory statement’ provides details of any significant variations between estimates and actual results for 2015 and between the actual 
results for 2015 and 2014.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2015

Note 1. Australian Accounting Standards

General
The Office of the Auditor General’s (the Office) financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2015 have been prepared in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards. The term ‘Australian Accounting 
Standards’ includes Standards and Interpretations issued by the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB). 

The Office has adopted any applicable new and revised Australian 
Accounting Standards from their operative dates.

Early adoption of standards
The Office cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless 
specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting 
Standards and Other Pronouncements. There has been no early 
adoption of Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued or 
amended (but not operative) by the Office for the annual reporting period 
ended 30 June 2015.

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies

(a) General statement
The Office is a not‑for‑profit reporting entity that prepares general 
purpose financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and 
other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB as applied by the 
Treasurer’s Instructions. Several of these are modified by the Treasurer’s 
Instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording.

The Financial Management Act 2006 (Western Australia) and the 
Treasurer’s Instructions impose legislative provisions that govern the 
preparation of financial statements and take precedence over Australian 
Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting 
Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB.

Where modification is required and has had a material or significant 
financial effect upon the reported results, details of that modification and 
the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial 
statements.

(b) Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of 
accounting using the historical cost convention.

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial 
statements have been consistently applied throughout all periods 
presented unless otherwise stated.
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The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all 
values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000).

Note 3 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ discloses key 
assumptions made concerning the future, and other key sources of 
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

(c) Reporting entity
The reporting entity comprises the Office of the Auditor General.

Mission
The Office’s mission is to improve public sector performance and 
accountability by reporting independently to Parliament.

The Office is partly funded by Parliamentary appropriation. It also 
charges for certain audit services to agencies and fees are based on full 
cost recovery. The financial statements encompass all funds through 
which the Office controls resources to carry on its functions.

Services
The Office provides the following service:

Public Sector Auditing

This comprises the external audit of the Western Australian public sector 
through audits of financial statements, controls and key performance 
indicators and audits of efficiency and effectiveness of public sector 
operations.

(d) Contributed equity
AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-
Owned Public Sector Entities requires transfers in the nature of equity 
contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative 
arrangements, to be designated by the Government (the owner) as 
contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) before 
such transfers can be recognised as equity contributions. Capital 
appropriations have been designated as contributions by owners by 
TI 955 Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector 
Entities and have been credited directly to Contributed Equity.

The transfers of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a 
result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, are designated as 
contributions by owners where the transfers are non‑discretionary and 
non-reciprocal.

(e) Income

Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration 
received or receivable. Revenue is recognised for the major business 
activities as follows:

Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other 
assets when the significant risks and rewards of ownership transfer to 
the purchaser and can be measured reliably.

Provision of services
Revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the 
transaction.
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Service appropriations
Service appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair value in the 
period in which the Office gains control of the appropriated funds. The 
Office gains control of appropriated funds at the time those funds are 
deposited into the bank account or credited to the ‘Amounts receivable 
for services (holding account)’ held at Treasury.

Net Appropriation Determination
The Treasurer may make a determination providing for prescribed 
receipts to be retained for services under the control of the Office. In 
accordance with the determination specified in the 2014‑15 Budget 
Statements, the Office retained $17.3 million in 2015 ($16.8m in 2014) 
from the following:

yy Assurance audit fees

yy Government vehicle scheme

yy Other Office revenue.

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions
Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Office obtains control over 
the assets comprising the contributions, usually when cash is received.

Other non‑reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners 
are recognised at their fair value. Contributions of services are only 
recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services 
would be purchased if not donated.

Gains
Realised and unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net basis. 
These include gains arising on the disposal of non-current assets.

(f) Property, plant and equipment

Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Items of property, plant and equipment costing $5 000 or more are 
recognised as assets and the cost of utilising assets is expensed 
(depreciated) over their useful lives. Items of property, plant and 
equipment costing less than $5 000 are immediately expensed direct 
to the Statement of Comprehensive Income other than where they form 
part of a group of similar items which are significant in total.

Initial recognition and measurement
Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost.

For items of property, plant and equipment acquired at no cost or for 
nominal cost, the cost is the fair value at the date of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement
All items of property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost 
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation
All non‑current assets having a limited useful life are systematically 
depreciated over their estimated useful lives in a manner that reflects the 
consumption of their future economic benefits.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method, using rates 
which are reviewed annually. Estimated useful lives for each class of 
depreciable asset are:

Office and computer equipment 2 to 10 years



96  |  Office of the Auditor General WA  |  Annual Report 2014-2015

(g) Intangible assets

Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5 000 or more and internally 
generated intangible assets costing $50 000 or more are capitalised. The 
cost of utilising the assets is expensed (amortised) over their useful lives. 
Costs incurred below these thresholds are immediately expensed directly 
to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired 
at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the date of 
acquisition.

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the 
asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated 
for the period of the expected benefit (estimated useful life which is 
reviewed annually) on the straight line basis. All intangible assets 
controlled by the Office have a finite useful life and zero residual value.

The expected useful lives for each class of intangible asset are:

Software(a) 3 years

(a) Software that is not integral to the operation of any related hardware.

Computer software
Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as 
property, plant and equipment. Software that is not an integral part of the 
related hardware is recognised as an intangible asset. Software costing 
less than $5 000 is expensed in the year of acquisition.

Website costs
Website costs are charged as expenses when they are incurred unless 
they relate to the acquisition or development of an asset when they may 
be capitalised and amortised. Generally, costs in relation to feasibility 
studies during the planning phase of a website, and ongoing costs of 
maintenance during the operating phase are expensed. Costs incurred 
in building or enhancing a website that can be reliably measured, are 
capitalised to the extent that they represent probable future economic 
benefits.

(h) Impairment of assets
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are tested for any 
indication of impairment at the end of each reporting period. Where there 
is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. 
Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the 
asset is considered impaired and is written down to the recoverable 
amount and an impairment loss is recognised. Where an asset 
measured at cost is written down to recoverable amount, an impairment 
loss is recognised in profit or loss. As the Office is a not‑for‑profit entity, 
unless a specialised asset has been identified as a surplus asset, the 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell 
and depreciated replacement cost.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an 
asset’s depreciation is materially understated, where the replacement 
cost is falling or where there is a significant change in useful life. 
Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that the 
accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of consumption 
or expiration of the asset’s future economic benefits and to evaluate any 
impairment risk from falling replacement costs.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets 
not yet available for use are tested for impairment at the end of each 
reporting period irrespective of whether there is any indication of 
impairment.
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The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the 
higher of fair value less costs to sell and the present value of future cash 
flows expected to be derived from the asset. Surplus assets at cost are 
tested for indications of impairment at the end of each reporting period.

(i) Leases
The Office holds operating leases for office accommodation, certain 
equipment and motor vehicles. Lease payments are expensed on a 
straight line basis over the lease term as this represents the pattern of 
benefits derived from the leased items.

(j) Financial instruments
In addition to cash and cash equivalents, the Office has two categories 
of financial instruments:

yy Loans and receivables; and

yy Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the following 
classes:

yy Financial Assets

y� Cash and cash equivalents

y� Restricted cash and cash equivalents

y� Receivables

y� Amounts receivable for services

yy Financial Liabilities

y� Payables

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair 
value which normally equates to the transaction cost or the face value. 
Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method.

The fair value of short‑term receivables and payables is the transaction 
cost or the face value because there is no interest rate applicable and 
subsequent remeasurement is not required as the effect of discounting is 
not material.

(k) Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash 
equivalent (and restricted cash and cash equivalent) assets comprise 
cash on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of three 
months or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash 
and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.

(l) Accrued salaries

Accrued salaries (see note 21 ‘Payables’) represent the amount due 
to staff but unpaid at the end of the financial year. Accrued salaries are 
settled within a fortnight of the financial year end. The Office considers 
the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to its fair value.

The accrued salaries suspense account (see note 14 ‘Restricted 
cash and cash equivalents’) consists of amounts paid annually into a 
suspense account over a period of 10 financial years to largely meet the 
additional cash outflow in each eleventh year when 27 pay days occur 
instead of the normal 26. No interest is received on this account.
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(m) Amounts receivable for services (holding account)
The Office receives funding on an accrual basis. The appropriations are 
paid partly in cash and partly as an asset (holding account receivable). 
The accrued amount receivable is accessible on the emergence of 
the cash funding requirement to cover leave entitlements and asset 
replacement.

(n) Receivables
Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less an allowance 
for any uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment). The collectability of 
receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables 
identified as uncollectible are written‑off against the allowance account. 
The allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when 
there is objective evidence that the Office will not be able to collect the 
debts. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due for 
settlement within 30 days.

(o) Payables
Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Office 
becomes obliged to make future payments as a result of a purchase of 
assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as 
settlement is generally within 30 days.

(p) Provisions
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount and are 
recognised where there is a present legal or constructive obligation as 
a result of a past event and when the outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can be made of 
the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting period.

Provisions – employee benefits
All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of 
employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period.

Annual leave
Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after 
the end of the reporting period and is therefore considered to be ‘other 
long‑term employee benefits’. The annual leave liability is recognised 
and measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when 
the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at 
the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments, consideration is given to 
expected future wage and salary levels including non‑salary components 
such as employer superannuation contributions, as well as the 
experience of employee departures and periods of service. The expected 
future payments are discounted using market yields at the end of the 
reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity 
that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability as the 
Office does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the 
liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

Long service leave
A liability for long service leave is recognised after an employee has 
completed three years of service based on remuneration rates current as 
at the end of the reporting period. 

An actuarial assessment of long service leave undertaken by 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Actuaries at 30 June 2014 determined that the 
liability measured using the short‑hand measurement technique above 
was not materially different from the liability determined using the present 
value of expected future payments. This calculation is consistent with the 
Office’s experience of employee retention and leave taken.
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Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current 
liabilities as the Office does not have an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period. Pre‑conditional and conditional long service leave 
provisions are classified as non‑current liabilities because the Office 
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability until the 
employee has completed the requisite years of service.

Deferred leave
The provision for deferred leave relates to Public Service employees who 
have entered into an agreement to self‑fund an additional 12 months 
leave in the fifth year of the agreement. The provision recognises the 
value of salary set aside for employees to be used in the fifth year. This 
liability is measured on the same basis as annual leave. Deferred leave 
is reported as a current provision as employees can leave the scheme at 
their discretion at any time.

Purchased leave
The provision for purchased leave relates to Public Service employees 
who have entered into an agreement to self‑fund up to an additional 10 
weeks leave per calendar year. The provision recognises the value of 
salary set aside for employees and is measured at the undiscounted 
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.

Superannuation
The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) and other 
fund providers administer public sector superannuation arrangements 
in Western Australia in accordance with legislative requirements. 
Eligibility criteria for membership in particular schemes for public sector 
employees vary according to commencement and implementation dates.

Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit 
pension scheme closed to new members since 1987, or the Gold State 
Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum scheme 
closed to new members since 1995.

Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were 
not members of either the Pension Scheme or the GSS became 
non‑contributory members of the West State Superannuation 
Scheme (WSS). Employees commencing employment on or after 
16 April 2007 became members of the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). 
From 30 March 2012, existing members of the WSS or GESBS and new 
employees have been able to choose their preferred superannuation 
fund provider. The Office makes contributions to GESB or other fund 
providers on behalf of employees in compliance with the Commonwealth 
Government’s Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992. 
Contributions to these accumulation schemes extinguish the Office’s 
liability for superannuation charges in respect of employees who are not 
members of the Pension Scheme or GSS.

The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees 
and whole‑of‑government reporting. However, it is a defined contribution 
plan for Office purposes because the concurrent contributions (defined 
contributions) made by the Office to GESB extinguishes the Office’s 
obligations to the related superannuation liability.

The Office has no liabilities under the Pension Scheme or the GSS. 
The liabilities for the unfunded Pension Scheme and the unfunded 
GSS transfer benefits attributable to members who transferred from 
the Pension Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer. All other GSS 
obligations are funded by concurrent contributions made by the Office to 
the GESB.

The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension 
Scheme and GSS, and is recouped from the Treasurer for the 
employer’s share.
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Provisions – other
Employment on-costs
Employment on‑costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are 
not employee benefits and are recognised separately as liabilities and 
expenses when the employment to which they relate has occurred. 
Employment on‑costs are included as part of ‘Other expenses’ and are 
not included as part of the Office’s ‘Employee benefits expense’. The 
related liability is included in ‘Employment on‑costs provision’.

(q) Superannuation expense
Superannuation expense is recognised in the profit or loss of the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income and comprises employer 
contributions paid to the GSS (concurrent contributions), the WSS, the 
GESBS, or other superannuation funds. The employer contribution paid 
to the GESB in respect of the GSS is paid back into the Consolidated 
Account by the GESB.

(r) Assets and services received free of charge or for nominal 
cost
Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost that the 
Office would otherwise purchase if not donated, are recognised as 
income at the fair value of the assets or services where they can be 
reliably measured. A corresponding expense is recognised for services 
received. Receipts of assets are recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Position.

Assets or services received from other State Government agencies 
are separately disclosed under Income from State Government in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(s) Comparative figures
Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be 
comparable with the figures presented in the current financial year.

Note 3. Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on 
historical experience and various other factors that have a significant risk 
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year.

Long Service Leave
Several estimations and assumptions used in calculating the Office’s 
long service leave provision include expected future salary rates, 
discount rates, employee retention rates and expected future payments. 
Changes in these estimations and assumptions may impact on the 
carrying amount of the long service leave provision.

Work-in-Progress Percentage of Completion
For audits conducted in‑house by Office staff, the percentage completed 
is estimated from the percentage of budget hours completed as at 
30 June 2015.

For contract audits, the percentage completed as at 30 June 2015 is 
estimated on the basis of actual invoices received from contract audit 
firms, supplemented by their estimate of subsequent work completed but 
not yet billed.
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Note 4. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates

Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard
The Office has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014 that 
impacted the Office.

Int 21 Levies

This interpretation clarifies the circumstances under which a liability to pay a government levy imposed should be recognised. 
There is no financial impact for the Office at the reporting date.

AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and Int 112 
Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities, introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.

The adoption of the new Standard has no financial impact for the Office as it does not impact accounting for related bodies and the 
Office has no interests in other entities.

AASB 11 Joint Arrangements

This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures, introduces new principles for determining 
the type of joint arrangement that exists, which are more aligned to the actual rights and obligations of the parties to the 
arrangement.

There is no financial impact for the Office as the new standard continues to require the recognition of the Office’s share of assets 
and share of liabilities for the unincorporated joint operation.

AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes disclosure requirements in AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements, AASB 128 Investments in Associates and AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures. There is no financial impact.
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AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements

This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements removing the 
consolidation requirements of the earlier standard whilst retaining accounting and disclosure requirements for the preparation of 
separate financial statements. There is no financial impact.

AASB 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

This Standard supersedes AASB 128 Investments in Associates, introducing a number of clarifications for the accounting 
treatments of changed ownership interest.

The adoption of the new Standard has no financial impact for the Office as it does not hold investments in associates and joint 
ventures.

AASB 1031 Materiality

This Standard supersedes AASB 1031 (February 2010), removing Australian guidance on materiality not available in IFRSs and 
refers to guidance on materiality in other Australian pronouncements. There is no financial impact.

AASB 1055 Budgetary Reporting

This Standard requires specific budgetary disclosures in the general purpose financial statements of not‑for‑profit entities within 
the General Government Sector. The Office will be required to disclose additional budgetary information and explanations of major 
variances between actual and budgeted amounts, though there is no financial impact.

AASB 2011-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Consolidation and Joint Arrangements Standards [AASB 1, 2, 3, 
5, 7, 101, 107, 112, 118, 121, 124, 132, 133, 136, 138, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 5, 9, 16 & 17]

This Standard gives effect to consequential changes arising from the issuance of AASB 10, AASB 11, AASB 127 Separate 
Financial Statements and AASB 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. There is no financial impact for the Office.

AASB 2012-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities [AASB 132]

This Standard adds application guidance to AASB 132 to address inconsistencies identified in applying some of the offsetting 
criteria, including clarifying the meaning of ‘currently has a legally enforceable right of set‑off’ and that some gross settlement 
systems may be considered equivalent to net settlement. There is no financial impact.

Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard (continued)
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AASB 2013-3 Amendments to AASB 136 – Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets

This Standard introduces editorial and disclosure changes. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2013-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting [AASB 139]

This Standard permits the continuation of hedge accounting in circumstances where a derivative, which has been designated as 
a hedging instrument, is novated from one counterparty to a central counterparty as a consequence of laws or regulations. The 
Office does not routinely enter into derivatives or hedges, therefore there is no financial impact.

AASB 2013-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Australian Implementation Guidance for Not-for-Profit Entities – Control and 
Structured Entities [AASB 120, 12 & 1049]

The amendments, issued in October 2013, provide significant guidance in determining whether a not‑for‑profit entity controls 
another entity when financial returns are not a key attribute of the investor’s relationship. The Standard has no financial impact in 
its own right, rather the impact results from the adoption of the amended AASB 10.

AASB 2013-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Conceptual Framework, Materiality and Financial Statements

Part B of this omnibus Standard makes amendments to other Standards arising from the deletion of references to AASB 1031 in 
other Standards for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014. It has no financial impact.

AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards

Part A of this Standard consists primarily of clarifications to Accounting Standards and has no financial impact for the Office.

Part B of this Standard has no financial impact as the Office contributes to schemes that are either defined contribution plans, or 
deemed to be defined contribution plans.

Part C of this Standard has no financial impact as it removes references to AASB 1031 Materiality from a number of Accounting 
Standards.

Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard (continued)
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Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative
The Office cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting 
Standards and Other Pronouncements. Consequently, the Office has not applied early any of the following Australian Accounting Standards that have 
been issued that may impact the Office. Where applicable, the Office plans to apply these Australian Accounting Standards from their application 
date.

Operative for  
reporting periods  

beginning on/after

AASB 9 Financial Instruments

This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, introducing a 
number of changes to accounting treatments.

The mandatory application date of this Standard is currently 1 January 2018 after being amended by AASB 
2012-6, AASB 2013-9 and AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards. The Office has not 
yet determined the application of the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

This Standard establishes the principles that the Office shall apply to report useful information to users of 
financial statements about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from 
a contract with a customer. The Office has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the 
Standard.

1 Jan 2017

AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 6, 
101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 
127]

This Standard makes consequential amendments to other Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 9 in December 2010.

The mandatory application date of this Standard has been amended by AASB 2012‑6 and AASB 2014‑1 to 1 
January 2018. The Office has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard. 

1 Jan 2018
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Operative for  
reporting periods  

beginning on/after

AASB 2013-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards Conceptual Framework, Materiality and Financial 
Instruments

Part C of this omnibus Standard defers the application of AASB 9 to 1 January 2017. The application date of 
AASB 9 was subsequently deferred to 1 January 2018 by AASB 2014‑1. The Office has not yet determined 
the application or the potential impact of AASB 9.

1 Jan 2015

AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards

Part E of this Standard makes amendments to AASB 9 and consequential amendments to other Standards. It 
has not yet been assessed by the Office to determine the application or potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2014-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations 
[AASB 1 & 11]

The Office establishes Joint Operations in pursuit of its objectives and does not routinely acquire interest in 
Joint Operations. Therefore, there is no financial impact on application of the Standard.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2014-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and 
Amortisation [AASB 116 & 138]

The adoption of this Standard has no financial impact for the Office as depreciation and amortisation is not 
determined by reference to revenue generation, but by reference to consumption of future economic benefits. 

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2014-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 15

This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (including 
Interpretations) arising from the issuance of AASB 15. The Office has not yet determined the application or the 
potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2017

AASB 2014-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2014)

This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (including 
Interpretations) arising from the issuance of AASB 9 (December 2014). The Office has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jul 2018

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative (continued)
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Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative (continued)

Operative for  
reporting periods  

beginning on/after

AASB 2014-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2014) – Application of 
AASB 9 (December 2009) and AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 9 (2009 & 2010)]

This Standard makes amendments to AASB 9 Financial Instruments (December 2009) and AASB 9 Financial 
Instruments (December 2010), arising from the issuance of AASB 9 Financial Instruments in December 2014. 
The Office has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2015

AASB 2015-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual Improvements to Australian Accounting Standards 
2012-2014 Cycle [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 11, 110, 119, 121, 133, 134, 137 & 140]

These amendments arise from the issuance of International Financial Reporting Standard Annual 
Improvements to IFRSs 2012‑2014 Cycle in September 2014, and editorial corrections. The Office has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2015-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to AASB 101 [AASB 7, 
101, 134 & 1049]

This Standard amends AASB 101 to provide clarification regarding the disclosure requirements in AASB 101. 
Specifically, the Standard proposes narrow‑focus amendments to address some of the concerns expressed 
about existing presentation and disclosure requirements and to ensure entities are able to use judgement 
when applying a Standard in determining what information to disclose in their financial statements. There is no 
financial impact.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2015-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Withdrawal of AASB 1031 Materiality

This Standard completes the withdrawal of references to AASB 1031 in all Australian Accounting Standards 
and Interpretations, allowing that Standard to effectively be withdrawn. There is no financial impact.

1 Jul 2015

AASB 2015-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Extending Related Party Disclosures to Not-for-Profit 
Public Sector Entities [AASB 10, 124 & 1049]

The amendments extend the scope of AASB 124 to include application by not‑for‑profit public sector entities. 
Implementation guidance is included to assist application of the Standard by not‑for‑profit public sector 
entities. The Office has not yet determined the application of the Standard, though there is no financial impact.

1 Jul 2016
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2015 2014
$000 $000

Note 5. Employee benefits expense
Wages and salaries(a) 14 318 12 814
Superannuation – defined contribution plans(b) 1 343 1 242

15 661 14 056

(a) Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits tax component, 
leave entitlements including superannuation contribution component.

(b) Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State, GESB and other eligible funds.

Employment on‑costs expenses, such as workers’ compensation insurance, 
are included at note 9 ‘Other expenses’.
Employment on‑costs liability is included at note 22 ‘Provisions’.

Note 6. Supplies and services
Contracted audit work 4 353 4 401
Other services and contracts 391 545
Other staffing costs 223 319
Repairs and maintenance 517 498
Travel and accommodation 187 218
Administration 185 246
Consumables 102 122
Lease expenses 122 128
Communications 121 123
Advertising 4 3
Other - 1

6 205 6 604

2015 2014
$000 $000

Note 7. Depreciation and amortisation expense
Depreciation
Office and computer equipment 390 346
Total depreciation 390 346

Amortisation
Intangible assets 137 96
Total amortisation 137 96
Total depreciation and amortisation 527 442

Note 8. Accommodation expenses
Office lease rentals (a) 1 702 1 604
Office parking 81 70
Monthly outgoings 472 542

2 255 2 216
(a) Refer to note 26 ‘Commitments’

Note 9. Other expenses
Employment on-costs 23 23
Audit fee 32 38

55 61

Note 10. User charges and fees
Audit fees 17 305 16 780

17 305 16 780
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2015 2014
$000 $000

Note 11. Other revenue
Contributions for the use of motor vehicle 21 22
Miscellaneous 20 11

41 33

Note 12. Net gain/(loss) on disposal of  
non-current assets
Proceeds from disposal on non-current assets
Office and computer equipment 16 -

Carrying amount of non-current assets disposed of
Office and computer equipment - -

16 -

2015 2014
$000 $000

Note 13. Income from State Government
Appropriation received during the period:

Service appropriation(a) 6 902 6 790
6 902 6 790

Services received free of charge from other State 
government agencies during the period:(b)

State Solicitor’s Office 5 37
Department of Finance 503 494

508 531

7 410 7 321

(a) Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered. Appropriation revenue 
comprises a cash component and a receivable (asset). The receivable (holding account) 
comprises the budgeted depreciation expense for the year and any agreed increase in leave 
liabilities during the year.

(b) Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost are recognised as revenues at 
the fair value of the assets and/or services that can be reliably measured and which would 
have been purchased if they were not donated. Contributions of assets or services in the 
nature of contributions by owners are recognised direct to equity.

Note 14. Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Current (a) 538 -
Non-current (a) - 538

538 538

(a) Funds held in the accrued salaries suspense account for the purpose of meeting the 27th pay 
in a financial year that occurs every 11 years. The next 27th pay year is 2015‑16.
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2015 2014
$000 $000

Note 15. Receivables
Current
Accrued revenue 7 300 7 079
Receivables 14 24
GST receivables 157 223
Amounts receivable for employees seconded 10 –
Salary over‑payments 25 21
Total current 7 506 7 347

Note 16. Amounts receivable for services 
(Holding Account)
Current 314 297
Non-current 2 088 1 708

2 402 2 005

Represents the non‑cash component of service appropriations. It is restricted 
in that it can only be used for asset replacement or payment of leave liability.

Note 17. Other assets
Current
Prepayments 331 535
Total current 331 535

2015 2014
$000 $000

Note 18. Property, plant and equipment
Office and computer equipment
At cost 1 786 2 081
Accumulated depreciation (1 392) (1 331)
Accumulated impairment losses - -

394 750

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant, and equipment at 
the beginning and end of the reporting period are set out in the table below.

Office and  
Computer  

Equipment Total
$000 $000

      
2015
Carrying amount at start of period 750 750
Additions 34 34
Depreciation (390) (390)
Carrying amount at end of period 394 394

2014
Carrying amount at start of period 534 534
Additions 562 562
Depreciation (346) (346)
Carrying amount at end of period 750 750
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2015 2014
$000 $000

Note 19. Intangible assets
Computer software
At cost 1 159 1 053
Accumulated amortisation (958) (821)
Total intangible assets 201 232

Reconciliations:
Computer software
Carrying amount at start of period 232 204
Additions 106 124
Amortisation expense (137) (96)
Carrying amount at end of period 201 232

Note 20. Impairment of assets
There were no indications of impairment to property, plant and equipment or 
intangible assets at 30 June 2015. The Office held no goodwill or intangible 
assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting period. At the end of the 
reporting period there were no intangible assets not yet available for use.

Note 21. Payables
Current
Accrued expenses 90 83
Accrued salaries 451 397
Paid parental leave 4 2
Amounts payable for employees seconded 19 –
GST payable 5 –
Work in progress contractor audit work 506 625
Total current 1 075 1 107

2015 2014
$000 $000

Note 22. Provisions
Current
Employee benefits provision
Annual leave(a) 1 260 1 154
Long service leave(b) 1 413 1 256
Purchased leave(c) 59 71
Deferred salary scheme(d) 57 59

2 789 2 540
Other provisions
Employment on-costs(e) 12 11

12 11
2 801 2 551

Non-current
Employee benefits provision
Long service leave(b) 1 163 870

1 163 870
Other provisions
Employment on-costs(e) 5 4

5 4
1 168 874

(a) Annual leave liabilities have been classified as 
current as there is no unconditional right to defer 
settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual 
settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as 
follows:

 Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 848 777
 More than 12 months after the end of the reporting 

period 412 377
1 260 1 154
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2015 2014
$000 $000

Note 22. Provisions (continued)
(b) Long service leave liabilities have been classified as 

current where there is no unconditional right to defer 
settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual 
settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as 
follows:

 Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 634 524
 More than 12 months after the end of the reporting 

period 1 942 1 602
2 576 2 126

(c) Purchased leave liabilities have been classified as 
current where there is no unconditional right to defer 
settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period. Actual settlement of the liabilities is 
expected to occur as follows:

 Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 59 71
 More than 12 months after the end of the reporting 

period - -
59 71

(d) Deferred salary scheme liabilities have been 
classified as current where there is no unconditional 
right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after 
the end of the reporting period. Actual settlement of 
the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

 Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 57 59
 More than 12 months after the end of the reporting 

period - -
57 59

2015 2014
$000 $000

Note 22. Provisions (continued)
(e)The settlement of annual and long service leave 

liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment 
on‑costs including workers’ compensation insurance. 
The provision is the present value of expected future 
payments.

 The associated expense, apart from the unwinding 
of the discount (finance cost), is disclosed in note 9 
‘Other expenses’.

Movements in other provisions
Movements in each class of provisions during the period, other than employee 
benefits, are set out below:

Employment on-cost provision
Carrying amount at start of period 15 14
Additional/(reversals of) provisions recognised 2 1
Carrying amount at end of period 17 15
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2015 2014
$000 $000

Note 23. Equity
The Western Australian Government holds the equity interest in the Office 
on behalf of the community. Equity represents the residual interest in the net 
assets of the Office.

Contributed equity
Balance at start of period 7 481 7 181

Contributions by owners
Capital appropriation 300 300
Total contributions by owners 300 300
Balance at end of period 7 781 7 481

Accumulated surplus
Balance at start of period 2 013 1 258
Result for the period 69 755
Balance at end of period 2 082 2 013

Total Equity at end of period 9 863 9 494

Note 24. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows
Reconciliation of cash
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows 
is reconciled to the related items in the Statement of Financial Position as 
follows:

Cash and cash equivalents 3 535 2 619
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 538 538
(note 14 ‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents)

4 073 3 157

2015 2014
$000 $000

Note 24. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows 
(continued)
Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by/(used 
in) operating activities

Net cost of services (7 341) (6 566)

Non-cash items
Depreciation and amortisation expense (note 7 
‘Depreciation and amortisation expense’) 527 442
Services received free of charge (note 13 ‘Income from 
State Government’) 508 531
Net (gain)/loss on disposal of non-current assets (note 
12 ‘Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets’) (16) -

(Increase)/decrease in assets
Current receivables(a) 45 (462)

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities
Current payables(a) 29 (129)
Current provisions 250 (105)
Non‑current provisions 294 82
Net GST receipts/(payments)(b) 5 -
Change in GST in receivables/payables(c) (66) 73

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities (5 765) (6 134)

(a) Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST and the 
receivable/payable in respect of the sale/purchase of non‑current assets are not included in 
these items as they do not form part of the reconciling items.

(b) This is the net GST paid/received, i.e. cash transactions.
(c) This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables.
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2015 2014
$000 $000

Note 25. Services provided free of charge
During the year audit services were provided by the Office free of charge to the 
following departments, statutory authorities and request audits:

Chowerup Cemetery Board 3 8
Dwellingup Cemetery Board - 8
South Caroling Cemetery - 2

3 18

Note 26. Commitments
Non-cancellable operating lease commitments

Commitments for minimum lease payments are payable as follows:

Within 1 year 2 335 2 338
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 4 754 10
Later than 5 years - -

7 089 2 348

The Office has entered into a memorandum of understanding with the 
Department of Finance’s Building Management and Works division for leasing 
floor space at Albert Facey House. The memorandum of understanding 
is not a legally binding agreement, however, it has been agreed that all 
parties will comply with the terms and conditions as if they were legally 
enforceable obligations. The memorandum of understanding covers a three 
year occupancy period from 2011-12 with an option to renew occupancy for 
an additional three years. This option was recently exercised by Department 
of Finance. Accordingly, the revised lease expiry date is now 30 June 2018. 
Rent is payable monthly in arrears. Contingent rent provisions within the 
memorandum of understanding require that the minimum lease payments shall 
be increased by market indices from 2015‑16.

2015 2014
$000 $000

Note 26. Commitments (continued)
Other expenditure commitments
The commitments below are inclusive of GST where relevant.

Audit services contracted through private sector audit firms at the end of the 
reporting period but not recognised as liabilities, are payable as follows:

Within 1 year 2 283 2 316
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 251 821
Later than 5 years - -

2 534 3 137

Note 27. Events occurring after the end of the 
reporting period
There were no events occurring after the end of the reporting period that 
warrant disclosure.

Note 28. Explanatory statement
Variances between estimates (original budget) and actual results for 2015, and 
between the actual results for 2015 and 2014, as presented in the financial 
statements are shown below.  Major variances, for which explanations are 
given, are those greater than 10% or $10 million. The Office’s estimates have 
been recategorised to match the presentation and classification of actual 
balances in the financial statements.
The estimates (original budget) for the Office are unaudited.
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Note 28. Explanatory statement (continued)

Variance
Note

Estimate
2015

Actual 
2015

Actual 
2014

Variance 
between 

estimate and 
actual

Variance 
between actual 

results for 
2015 and 2014

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Statement of Comprehensive Income

Expenses
Employee benefits expense 1 A 13 920 15 661 14 056 1 741 1 605
Supplies and services 6 754 6 205 6 604 (549) (399)
Depreciation and amortisation expense 2 B 694 527 442 (167) 85
Accommodation expenses 2 154 2 255 2 216 101 39
Other expenses 3 176 55 61 (121) (6)
Total cost of services 23 698 24 703 23 379 1 005 1 324

Income
Revenue
User charges and fees 16 823 17 305 16 780 482 525
Other revenue 4 C - 41 33 41 8
Total Revenue 16 823 17 346 16 813 523 533

Gains
Gain on disposal of non-current assets 5 D - 16 - 16 16
Total Gains - 16 - 16 16
Total income other than income from State 
Government 16 823 17 362 16 813 539 549
NET COST OF SERVICES 6 875 7 341 6 566 466 775

Income from State Government
Service appropriation 6 926 6 902 6 790 (24) 112
Services received free of charge 467 508 531 41 (23)
Total income from State Government 7 393 7 410 7 321 17 89
SURPLUS FOR THE PERIOD 518 69 755 (449) (686)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD 518 69 755 (449) (686)
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Note 28. Explanatory statement (continued)

Variance
Note

Estimate
2015

Actual 
2015

Actual 
2014

Variance 
between 

estimate and 
actual

Variance 
between actual 

results for 
2015 and 2014

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Statement of Financial Position

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6 E 2 762 3 535 2 619 773 916
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 7 F - 538 - 538 538
Receivables 8 8 533 7 506 7 347 (1 027) 159
Amounts receivable for services 314 314 297 – 17
Other current assets 9 G 282 331 535 49 (204)
Total Current Assets 11 891 12 224 10 798 333 1 426

Non-Current Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 10 H 547 - 538 (547) (538)
Amounts receivable for services I 2 088 2 088 1 708 – 380
Property, plant and equipment 11 J 173 394 750 221 (356)
Intangible assets 12 K 398 201 232 (197) (31)
Total Non-Current Assets 3 206 2 683 3 228 (523) (545)

TOTAL ASSETS 15 097 14 907 14 026 (190) 881

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables 13 1 368 1 075 1 107 (293) (32)
Provisions 2 856 2 801 2 551 (55) 250
Total Current Liabilities 4 224 3 876 3 658 (348) 218

Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions 14 L 980 1 168 874 188 294
Total Non-Current Liabilities 980 1 168 874 188 294
TOTAL LIABILITIES 5 204 5 044 4 532 (160) 512

NET ASSETS 9 893 9 863 9 494 (30) 369

EQUITY
Contributed equity 7 781 7 781 7 481 – 300
Accumulated surplus 2 112 2 082 2 013 (30) 69
TOTAL EQUITY 9 893 9 863 9 494 (30) 369
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Note 28. Explanatory statement (continued)

Variance
Note

Estimate
2015

Actual 
2015

Actual 
2014

Variance 
between 

estimate and 
actual

Variance 
between actual 

results for 
2015 and 2014

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Statement of Cash Flows

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation 6 232 6 208 6 124 (24) 84
Capital appropriations 300 300 300 - -
Holding account drawdown 297 297 297 - -
Net cash provided by State Government 6 829 6 805 6 721 (24) 84

Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee benefits (13 872) (15 059) (13 998) (1 187) (1 061)
Supplies and services M (6 534) (6 107) (7 026) 427 919
Accommodation (1 703) (1 752) (1 723) (49) (29)
GST payments on purchases 15 N (1 800) (788) (932) 1 012 144
GST payments to taxation authority 16 - (1 114) (1 026) (1 114) (88)
Other payments 17 (176) (55) (60) 121 5

Receipts
User charges and fees 15 979 17 163 16 640 1 184 523
GST receipts on sales 1 630 1 749 1 710 119 39
GST receipts from taxation authority O 170 157 248 (13) (91)
Other receipts 18 P - 41 33 41 8
Net cash used in operating activities (6 306) (5 765) (6 134) 541 369

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Purchase of non-current assets 19 Q (597) (140) (686) 457 546
Receipts
Proceeds from sale of non-current assets 20 R - 16 - 16 16
Net cash used in investing activities (597) (124) (686) 473 562

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (74) 916 (99) 990 1 015
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 3 383 3 157 3 256 (226) (99)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 3 309 4 073 3 157 764 916
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Note 28. Explanatory statement (continued)

Major Estimate and Actual Variance Narratives 
1. Employee benefits expense exceeded estimates by $1 741 000 (12.5%) 

due to higher staffing costs in the performance audit and limited scope 
performance audit business units. Higher staffing costs in the limited scope 
performance audit business unit arose due to employment of contractors to 
replace individuals on leave. Performance audit business unit staffing costs 
were higher due to filling positions that were vacant in 2013‑14. In addition, 
the Office was unable to achieve salaries expense savings targets. 

2. Depreciation and amortisation expense was under estimates by $167 000 
(24.0%) due to a corollary underspend in purchase of non‑current assets.

3. Other expenses underspent by $121 000 (68.5%) as the estimate includes a 
contingency provision of $100 000 which was not actually utilised.

4. Other revenue exceeded estimates by $41 000 (Budget: nil) as the Office 
did not budget for additional revenue.

5. Gain on disposal of non‑current assets exceeded estimates by $16 000 
(Budget: nil) as the Office did not budget to make a gain on the disposal of 
old laptop assets.

6. Current cash and cash equivalents exceeded estimates by $773 000 
(28.0%) predominantly due to higher user charges and fees receipts. In 
addition, payments for the purchase of non-current assets were underspent.

7. Current restricted cash and cash equivalents exceeded estimates by 
$538 000 (Budget: nil) due to reclassification of the actual balance from non‑
current restricted cash and cash equivalents. This balance relates to the 
27th pay which occurs every 11 years. The next 27th pay year is 2015‑16.

8. Current receivables was under estimates by $1 027 000 (12.0%) as accrued 
income (user charges and fees income recognised but not yet received) 
was lower than estimated.

9. Other current assets exceeded estimates by $49 000 (17.2%) as the level of 
prepayments exceeded the Office’s expected value.

10. Non‑current restricted cash and cash equivalents was under estimates by 
$547 000 (100.0%) due to reclassification of the actual balance to current 
restricted cash and cash equivalents. This balance relates to the 27th pay 
which occurs every 11 years. The next 27th pay year is 2015‑16.

11. Property, plant and equipment exceeded estimates by $221 000 (127.6%) 
as actual depreciation expense was lower than budgeted.

12. Intangible assets was under estimates by $197 000 (49.4%) as payments 
for the purchase of intangible non‑current assets were lower than expected.

13. Current payables was under estimates by $293 000 (21.4%) as the actual 
level of year‑end accrued expenses and work‑in‑progress was lower than 
expected.

14. Non‑current provisions exceeded estimates by $188 000 (19.2%) due to 
higher than expected accrual of long service leave entitlements.

15. GST payments on purchases was under estimates by $1 012 000 (56.2%) 
due to difference in budget classification for GST payments. For the 
purposes of the financial statements, GST payments on purchases and GST 
payments to taxation authority are reported separately. However, these two 
categories are reported jointly in the published budget papers.

16. GST payments to taxation authority exceeded estimates by $1 114 000 
(Budget: nil) due to difference in budget classification for GST payments. 
For the purposes of the financial statements, GST payments on purchases 
and GST payments to taxation authority are reported separately. However, 
these two categories are reported jointly in the published budget papers.

17. Other payments was under estimates by $121 000 (68.5%) as the estimate 
includes a contingency provision of $100 000 which was not actually 
utilised.

18. Other receipts exceeded estimates by $41 000 (Budget: nil) as the Office 
did not budget for additional receipts. 

19. Purchase of non‑current assets underspent by $457 000 (76.5%) as a result 
of a review of the Office’s hardware and software replacement program. 
Several replacement projects were cancelled and others were deferred to 
2015‑16 so that further consultation with internal stakeholders could be 
undertaken.

20. Proceeds from sale of non‑current assets exceeded estimates by $16 000 
(Budget: nil) as the Office did not budget to make a gain on the disposal of 
old laptop assets.
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Note 28. Explanatory statement (continued)

Major Actual (2015) and Comparative (2014) Variance 
Narratives 
A. Employee benefits expense increased by $1 605 000 (11.4%) due to higher 

staffing costs in the performance audit and limited scope performance 
audit business units, an increase in leave liability expense and a 2.5 per 
cent increase in salary rates. Higher staffing costs in the limited scope 
performance audit business unit arose due to employment of contractors to 
replace individuals on leave. Performance audit business unit staffing costs 
were higher due to filling positions that were vacant in 2013‑14.

B. Depreciation and amortisation expense increased by $85 000 (19.3%). 
Assets acquired in 2013‑14 were predominantly purchased in the final 
quarter of that year. Accordingly, these assets were only depreciated for part 
of a year whereas they were depreciated for a full year in 2014-15.

C. Other revenue increased by $8 000 (23.2%) due to an employee repaying 
salary overpaid in the prior year.

D. Gain on disposal of non‑current assets increased by $16 000 (2014: nil) as 
old laptops were disposed via auction.

E. Current cash and cash equivalents increased by $916 000 (35.0%) 
predominantly due to higher user charges and fees receipts. In addition, 
funding received for investing activities exceeded payments for the purchase 
of non-current assets.

F. Current restricted cash and cash equivalents increased by $538 000 
(2014: nil) due to reclassification from non‑current restricted cash and cash 
equivalents. The restricted cash and cash equivalents balances relates to the 
27th pay which occurs every 11 years. The next 27th pay year is 2015‑16.

G. Other current assets decreased by $204 000 (38.2%) as several software 
and hardware licence maintenance renewals for a three-year period were 
prepaid in the prior year. In addition, last year, several annual software and 
hardware licence maintenance renewals were received prior to 30 June 2014 
and prepaid. This year, the same annual renewals were not received until 
after 30 June 2015 and accordingly were not prepaid.

H. Non‑current restricted cash and cash equivalents decreased by $538 000 
(100.0%) due to reclassification of this account to current restricted cash 
and cash equivalents. The restricted cash and cash equivalents balances 
relates to the 27th pay which occurs every 11 years. The next 27th pay year 
is 2015-16.

I. Non‑current amounts receivable for services increased by $380 000 (22.2%) 
as additions to the holding account (depreciation expense) were higher than 
the amount drawn down to fund asset replacement purchases.

J. Property, plant and equipment decreased by $356 000 (47.5%) due 
to depreciation expense outpacing new property, plant and equipment 
additions.

K. Intangible assets decreased by $31 000 (13.3%) due to amortisation 
expense outpacing new intangible asset additions.

L. Non‑current provisions increased by $294 000 (33.6%) due to an increase in 
long service leave entitlement accruals and 2.5 per cent Award increase in 
June 2015.

M. Supplies and services payments decreased by $919 000 (13.1%) due to 
lower contractors, consultants, travel, accommodation and training payments 
in 2015.

N. GST payments on purchases decreased by $144 000 (15.5%) due to lower 
supplies and services, accommodation and other expense purchases in 
2014-15.

O. GST receipts from taxation authority decreased by $91 000 (36.8%) due to 
lower supplies and services, accommodation and other expense purchases 
in 2014-15.

P. Other receipts increased by $8 000 (23.2%) due to an employee repaying 
salary overpaid in the prior year.

Q. Purchase of non‑current assets decreased by $546 000 (79.6%) as a result 
of a review of the Office’s hardware and software replacement program. 
Several replacement projects were cancelled and others were deferred to 
2015‑16 so that further consultation with internal stakeholders could be 
undertaken.

R. Proceeds from sale of non‑current assets increased by $16 000 (2014: nil) 
as old laptops were disposed via auction.
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Note 29. Financial instruments
(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies
Financial instruments held by the Office are cash and cash equivalents, 
restricted cash and cash equivalents, receivables and payables. The Office 
has limited exposure to financial risks. The Office’s overall risk management 
program focuses on managing the risks identified below.

Credit risk
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Office’s receivables 
defaulting on their contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the 
Office.
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in 
relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the gross carrying 
amount of those assets inclusive of any allowance for impairment as shown 
in the table at note 29(c) ‘Financial instruments disclosures’ and note 15 
‘Receivables’.
Credit risk associated with the Office’s financial assets is minimal because the 
main receivables are the amounts receivable for services (holding account) 
and audit receivables. The Office does not have any significant credit risks as 
services are provided only to government agencies. In addition, receivable 
balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Office’s 
exposure to bad debts is minimal. At the end of the reporting period there were 
no significant concentrations of credit risk, other than in respect of government 
agencies.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises when the Office is unable to meet its financial obligations 
as they fall due.
The Office is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course 
of business.
The Office has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including 
drawdown of appropriations by monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that 
sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.

2015 2014
$000 $000

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange 
rates and interest rates will affect the Office’s income or the value of its 
holdings of financial instruments. The Office does not trade in foreign currency 
and is not materially exposed to other price risks. The Office is not exposed 
to interest rate risk because all cash and cash equivalents are non‑interest 
bearing and the Office has no borrowings.

(b) Categories of financial instruments
The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets 
and financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period are:

 Financial Assets
 Cash and cash equivalents 3 535 2 619
 Restricted cash and cash 

equivalents 538 538
 Loans and receivables(a) 9 751 9 129

13 824 12 286
 Financial Liabilities
 Financial liabilities 

measured at amortised cost 1 075 1 107
1 075 1 107

(a) The amount of loans and receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory 
receivable).
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Note 29. Financial instruments (continued)
(c) Financial instrument disclosures
Credit risk
The following table discloses the Office’s maximum exposure to credit risk and the ageing analysis of financial assets. The Office’s maximum exposure to credit 
risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of financial assets as shown below. The table discloses the ageing of financial assets that are past 
due but not impaired and impaired financial assets. The table is based on information provided to senior management of the Office.
The Office does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancement relating to the financial assets it holds.

Ageing analysis of financial assets
Past due but not impaired

Carrying 
Amount

Not past 
due 

and not 
impaired

Up to 
1 month

1-3 
months

3 months 
to 1 year 1-5 years

More than 
5 years

Impaired 
financial 

assets
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

2015
Cash and cash equivalents 3 535 3 535 - - - - - -
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 538 538 - - - - - -
Receivables(a) 7 349 7 192 129 - 15 13 - -
Amounts receivable for services 2 402 2 402 - - - - - -

13 824 13 667 129 - 15 13 - -
2014
Cash and cash equivalents 2 619 2 619 - - - - - -
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 538 538 - - - - - -
Receivables(a) 7 124 6 927 100 19 24 54 - -
Amounts receivable for services 2 005 2 005 - - - - - -

12 286 12 089 100 19 24 54 - -

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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Note 29. Financial instruments (continued)
Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure 
The following table details the Office’s interest rate exposure and the contractual maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities. The maturity analysis 
section includes interest and principal cash flows. The interest rate exposure section analyses only the carrying amounts of each item.

Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities

Interest rate exposure Maturity dates
Weighted 

Average 
Effective 
Interest 

Rate
Carrying 
Amount

Fixed 
interest 

rate

Variable 
interest 

rate

Non-
interest 
bearing

Nominal 
Amount

Up to 1 
month

1-3 
months

3  
months 

to 1 year
1-5 

years

More 
than 

5 years
% $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

2015
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents - 3 535 - - 3 535 3 535 3 535 - - - -
Restricted cash and cash equivalents - 538 - - 538 538 - - 538 - -
Receivables(a) - 7 349 - - 7 349 7 349 7 349 - - - -
Amounts receivable for services - 2 402 - - 2 402 2 402 - 314 - 2 088 -

13 824 - - 13 824 13 824 10 884 314 538 2 088 -

Financial Liabilities
Payables - 1 075 - - 1 075 1 075 1 075 - - - -

1 075 - - 1 075 1 075 1 075 - - - -

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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Note 29. Financial instruments (continued)
Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities

Interest rate exposure Maturity dates
Weighted 

Average 
Effective 
Interest 

Rate
Carrying 
Amount

Fixed 
interest 

rate

Variable 
interest 

rate

Non-
interest 
bearing

Nominal 
Amount

Up to 1 
month

1-3 
months

3 
months 

to 1 year
1-5 

years

More 
than 5 
years

% $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

2014
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents - 2 619 - - 2 619 2 619 2 619 - - - -
Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents - 538 - - 538 538 - - - 538 -
Receivables(a) - 7 124 - - 7 124 7 124 7 124 - - - -
Amounts receivable for services - 2 005 - - 2 005 2 005 - 297 - 1 708 -

12 286 - - 12 286 12 286 9 743 297 - 2 246 -

Financial Liabilities
Payables - 1 107 - - 1 107 1 107 1 107 - - - -

1 107 - - 1 107 1 107 1 107 - - - -

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The Office has no financial assets or financial liabilities for which a change in interest rates would have an impact on the surplus for the period and equity.

Fair values

All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial Position are recognised at amounts that represent a reasonable approximation of fair value 
unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes.
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2015 2014
$000 $000

Note 30. Remuneration of senior officers
The number of senior officers whose total fees, salaries, superannuation, 
non‑monetary benefits and other benefits for the financial year fall within the 
following bands are:

Remuneration Band ($) 2015 2014

130 001 – 140 000 - 1
180 001 – 190 000 1 1
190 001 – 200 000 1 -
200 001 – 210 000 - 1
210 001 – 220 000 1 1
220 001 – 230 000 1 -
250 001 – 260 000 1 1
280 001 – 290 000 1 1
430 001 – 440 000 1 -
440 001 – 450 000 - 1

$000 $000
Base remuneration and superannuation 1 519 1 538
Annual leave and long service leave accruals 67 (44)
Other benefits 219 253
Total remuneration of senior officers 1 805 1 747

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the 
Office in respect of senior officers.
A Senior Officer left the Office in 2013‑14, with the Officer’s remuneration 
included in the prior year remuneration disclosures up until the termination 
date. An Officer was temporally appointed to the vacant position in April 
2014 and was not included in the prior year as the Officer acted for less than 
three months during that year. The Officer was subsequently appointed on 
a permanent basis in August 2014. Accordingly, the full amount of the new 
Senior Officer’s salary in 2014‑15 is included in the current year remuneration 
disclosures.

2015 2014
$000 $000

Note 31. Remuneration of auditor
An independent auditor is appointed by the Governor under section 38(2) 
of the Auditor General Act 2006 to audit the accounts, financial statements, 
controls and performance indicators of the Office with the fee being paid by 
this Office. Remuneration in respect of the audit for the current financial year is 
as follows:

Auditing the accounts, financial statements, controls 
and key performance indicators 39 38

39 38

Note 32. Related bodies
The Office did not have any related bodies during the financial year.

Note 33. Affiliated bodies
The Office did not have any affiliated bodies during the financial year.

Note 34. Special purpose accounts
The Office did not have any special purpose accounts at the end of the 
financial year.
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2015 2014
$000 $000

Note 35. Supplementary financial information
(a) Write-offs
During the financial year, nil (2014: $1 000) was written‑off the Office’s 
accounts receivable ledger under the authority of:

The Accountable Authority - 1
- 1

The prior year write‑off related to overpaid salary paid to an ex‑employee who 
terminated at short notice. All attempts to recover the overpaid amount were 
unsuccessful.

(b) Losses through theft, defaults and other causes

Losses of public money and public and other property 
through theft or default - -
Amounts recovered - -

- -

(c) Gifts of public property

Gifts of public property provided by the Office - -
- -
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Certification of Key Performance Indicators
For the year ended 30 June 2015

I hereby certify that the key performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to 
assess the Office of the Auditor General’s performance, and fairly represent the performance of the Office for the financial year ended 
30 June 2015.

COLIN MURPHY FCPA FCA
ACCOUNTABLE AUTHORITY
3 August 2015 
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Performance Indicators
The Office of the Auditor General exists to serve the public interest 
by providing Parliament with independent and impartial information 
regarding public sector accountability and performance. This Office 
reports directly to Parliament and ultimately the people of Western 
Australia.

Our desired outcome, ‘an informed Parliament on public sector 
accountability and performance’, is consistent with the government goal 
Financial and Economic Responsibility – Responsibly managing the 
State’s finances through the efficient and effective delivery of services, 
encouraging economic activity and reducing regulatory burdens on the 
private sector.

Key Effectiveness Performance Indicators
Our key effectiveness performance indicator is: 

The extent that the Office of the Auditor General is effective 
in informing Parliament about public sector accountability and 
performance is measured by the number of tabled reports compared 
to targets for each of the following categories of audit matter:

yy Service delivery – reports tabled

yy Economic development – reports tabled

yy Social and environment – reports tabled

yy Governance – reports tabled.

Table 26 shows our actual result for the preceding four years, and our 
performance against the 2014-15 target. 

Report Type 2010-11 
Actual

2011-12 
Actual

2012-13 
Actual

2013-14 
Actual

2014-15 
Actual

2014-15 
Target

Actual over 
3 years

Target over 
3 years

Service Delivery 2 4 4 5 4 5 13 13

Economic Development 1 1 2 4 2 3 8 8

Social and Environment 2 2 3 2 2 3 7 9

Governance 10 17 15 15 12 14 42 45

Total 15 24 24 26 20 25 70 75

Table 26



Office of the Auditor General WA  |  Annual Report 2014-2015  |  127

A crucial element of this key performance indicator is the establishment 
of a three year target for each category of report. The current target over 
three years encompasses the financial years 2012‑13 to 2014‑15. Table 
27 also shows our performance against this three year target. While 
the Office aims to meet its report targets, we are also concerned with 
the quality of our reports and will not sacrifice this requirement in order 
to achieve a quantitative measure. Nevertheless, some unexpected 
long‑term staff absences and project overruns did delay the tabling of a 
number of reports planned for 2014‑15.

Our topic selection process aims to provide Parliament with advice 
and assurance across all four categories of public sector activity. Our 
targets are one factor in our selection of topics. Other factors include the 
significance of identified issues and regards for matters referred to us by 
Parliament. For this reason, our category targets may not always be met 
in any one year.

Key Efficiency Performance Indicators
The key efficiency performance indicators measure the overall 
efficiency in delivering the Office’s service ‘Public Sector Auditing’. The 
Office is responsible for undertaking the external audit of the Western 
Australian public sector. This is done through audits of controls, financial 
statements, performance indicators, efficiency, effectiveness and 
reporting the results to Parliament.

Our key efficiency performance indicators are:

yy total audit cost per million dollars of gross government expenditure

yy attest (financial) audit cost per million dollars of gross government 
expenditure

yy performance audit cost per million dollars of gross government 
expenditure

yy average number of days taken after balance date to issue financial 
audit opinions.

Efficiency Indicator 2010-11
Actual

2011-12
Actual

2012-13
Actual

2013-14 
Actual

2014-15 
Actual

2014-15 
Target

Total audit cost per million dollars of gross government expenditure $509 $516 $497 $472 $509 $466

Attest (financial) audit cost per million dollars of gross government expenditure $382 $387 $373 $355 $370 $326

Performance audit cost per million dollars of gross government expenditure $127 $129 $124 $117 $139 $140

Average number of days taken after balance date to issue financial audit opinions 72.2  
days

69.5  
days

70.8  
days

69.1  
days

67.0  
days

70.0  
days

Table 27
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The gross government expenditure value incorporates total public sector 
expenditure together with expenditure by universities, superannuation 
boards and other entities whose expenditure is not reported within 
total public sector expenditure. The estimated actual total public sector 
expenditure from the Government Mid‑Year Financial Projections 
Statement is used rather than actual total public sector expenditure as 
the actual results are not available at the time these key performance 
indicators are produced. The estimated total public sector expenditure 
is considered a reasonable estimate of actual total public sector 
expenditure.

The audit costs used to calculate the key efficiency indicators are 
extracted from the Office’s Financial Management Information System. 
The proportion of total cost assigned to financial and performance audits 
is based on recorded direct hours charged to audits and an activity 
based allocation of Office overhead.

The increase in total audit cost per million dollars of gross government 
expenditure in 2014‑15 compared with the prior year arose because the 
Office’s expenditure increased by 5.7 per cent during 2014‑15, compared 
to gross government expenditure which decreased by 2.0 per cent. 

The increase in total audit cost per million dollars of gross government 
expenditure in 2014‑15 compared to target was mainly due to two 
factors. Firstly, the Office’s actual expenditure exceeded the budget by   
$1 006 000 (4.3 per cent). Secondly, gross government expenditure was 
$2 297 million (4.5 per cent) lower than estimated. 

The increase in the attest (financial) audit cost per million dollars of 
gross government expenditure in 2014‑15 compared to the target was 
mainly due to two factors. Firstly, the 2014‑15 target for financial audit 
costs was based on an Office strategy of directing 70 per cent of overall 
audit effort towards financial audits and the remaining 30 per cent 
towards performance audits. However, the desired strategy was not 
achieved. The actual result was 72.6 per cent financial audit : 27.4 per 
cent performance audit. Secondly, attest (financial) audit expenditure 
exceeded target by 8.1 per cent mainly due to higher than expected 
employee expenses. 

The increase in the performance audit cost per million dollars of gross 
government expenditure, compared to the prior year, was mainly due 
to higher than expected employee expenses, primarily, leave liability 
expense and the employment of contractors to replace individuals on 
leave. 

The average number of days taken after balance date to issue financial 
audit opinions is a new efficiency indicator, introduced in 2014‑15. 
Comparative information for the previous four years has also been 
presented. Section 64 of the Financial Management Act 2006 requires 
Ministers to table agency annual reports, including the audit opinion 
on the financial statements, controls and key performance indicators in 
Parliament within 90 days of the end of a financial year of an agency. 
Accordingly, our target has been set with regard to this statutory 
requirement for all financial audits.

The favourable variance between 2014‑15 actual and target is due to 
agencies preparing financial statements and key performance indicators 
in a more timely manner and efficiency improvements achieved in the 
audit process.
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Other Financial Disclosures
Pricing policies
We have based our fee model on our legislation and Department of 
Treasury guidelines. Under this model, we invoice agencies only for 
financial audits. However, our fees also incorporate a loading to recover 
one third of our narrow scope performance audits, the focus of which is 
on governance and has a strong relevance to financial accountability.

We base our fees on the hours required to undertake each financial 
audit. Where a contractor conducts the audit on the Office’s behalf, we 
base the fees on the contractor’s fees. The model also assumes:

yy full recovery of direct costs including salary, superannuation and 
training

yy full recovery of identified overheads with these costs being spread 
over all financial audit engagements.

Employees
The profile of the Office is shown in Table 28.

At June 
2013

At June 
2014

At June 
2015

Full time permanent employees 108 115 109

Full time contract employees 17 12 14

Part time employees 18 18 11

Part time contract employees 4 5 2

Secondees into the Office 2 3 1

Total 149 153 137

Table 28

Full employee disclosures are outlined from page 60.
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Capital works
During 2014-15, we continued our ongoing asset replacement program 
and made some significant advancements in process automation and 
collaboration. 

Capital projects this year included:

yy a new platform to enhance team collaboration on audit reports to 
Parliament ($21 730) (page 65)

yy a new Microsoft Word reporting template which standardises the 
format of audit reports to Parliament in addition to providing enhanced 
collaboration features to audit teams ($9 180) (page 67)

yy an automated accounts payable process which captures and 
workflows creditor invoices to authorising officers and transmits 
approved metadata to the Office’s financial management information 
system for payment ($63 660) (page 65)

yy an automated information gathering process for our internal monthly 
executive management reports ($12 000) (page 66)

yy upgraded server hardware ($9 380) (page 65)

yy upgraded laptop RAM memory ($8 700) (page 65)

Senior officers
At the date of reporting, other than normal contracts of employment of 
service, no senior officers, or firms of which senior officers are members, 
or entities in which senior officers have any substantial interests, had any 
interests in existing or proposed contracts with the Office.

Other employment
Under Schedule 1, Clause 3 of the Auditor General Act 2006, the Auditor 
General must not, except so far as authorised by law or by resolutions 
of both Houses of Parliament, hold certain offices, places or positions 
referred to in the Constitution Acts Amendment Act 1899. The Schedule 
also prohibits the Auditor General from engaging in any paid employment 
outside the duties of the Office of the Auditor General.

At no time while acting as the Auditor General or since my appointment 
to that Office have I engaged in any paid employment outside the duties 
of my Office. I am also a member of the State Records Commission, as 
authorised by the State Records Act 2000, section 58n(a).

– Colin Murphy.
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Other Legal Requirements
Disability Access and Inclusion Plan
Our Disability Access and Inclusion Plan (DIAP) ensures that people 
with disability, their families and carers are able to access our services 
and facilities, providing them with the same opportunities, rights and 
responsibilities enjoyed by all. 

We recently updated our DAIP and further information is available on 
page 62. 

Our plan outlines a suite of strategies against the seven outcomes. We 
report our progress to the Disability Services Commission annually and 
present this information to employees and the Executive Management 
Group.

We have completed all the strategies we planned to complete over the 
life of our current plan (2011 – 2016). In June 2015, the Disabilities 
Services Commission asked us to assess the effectiveness of each 
strategy using the following ratings:

1. Ineffective – did not enhance access and inclusion 

2. Average – enhanced access and inclusion in the interim but was not 
sustainable 

3. Effective – enhanced access and inclusion 

4. Unsure – unsure or too early to tell whether access and inclusion was 
enhanced. 

The table below shows our assessment against each strategy, as 
reported to the Disability Services Commission.

Outcome Strategies Rating

Outcome 1
People with disability 
have the same 
opportunities as 
other people to 
access the services 
of, and any events 
organised by, the 
Office.

Ensure that people with disability are provided 
with an opportunity to comment on access to 
services. 

4

Redevelop an Access and Inclusion Policy 
to ensure it supports equitable access to 
services by people with disabilities. 

3

Incorporate the objectives of the DAIP into 
our strategic business planning, budgeting 
processes, and procedures and policies. 

3

Ensure that our employees and contractors 
are aware of our DAIP and relevant policies 
and strategies. 

4

Ensure that events conducted by, or on behalf 
of the OAG, are accessible to people with 
disability.

3

Outcome 2
People with disability 
have the same 
opportunities as 
other people to 
access the buildings 
and other facilities of 
the Office.

Ensure that our offices are accessible and 
meet the legislative and access standards for 
accessibility.

3

Ensure that our signage is clear and easy to 
read. 3

Information is available as to access options. 3

Parking – close to public transport and close 
to other facilities. 4
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Outcome Strategies Rating

Outcome 3
People with 
disability receive 
information from the 
Office in a format 
that will enable 
them to access 
the information as 
readily as other 
people are able to 
access it.

The community is aware that our information is 
available in alternative formats upon request. 3

Improve our employees’ awareness of 
accessible information needs and how to 
obtain information in other formats. 

3

Establish a process for ensuring that, when 
requested, the use of specialist support is 
made available at meetings. 

3

Ensure W3C Web Content Accessibility 
guidelines are incorporated during the design 
of web pages.

3

Improve the awareness of Office Receptionist 
about information needs of people who are 
hearing impaired, and people with speech 
impediments. 

3

Ensure that our printed information is 
accessible to people with a disability. 3

Outcome 4
People with disability 
receive the same 
level and quality 
of service from our 
employees as other 
people.

Improve employee awareness and cultural 
awareness of disability and access issues 
and relevant legislation. Conducted as part of 
regular employee professional development 
sessions.

3

Improve skills to better our service to people 
with disability. Conducted as part of regular 
employee professional development sessions.

3

Improve the awareness of new employees 
about disability and access issues. 
Communicated to new starters as part of the 
Office induction process and induction packs.

3

Outcome Strategies Rating

Outcome 5
People with disability 
have the same 
opportunities as 
other people to 
make complaints to 
the Office.

Ensure that our referral system and policies 
are accessible for people with disability. 3

Improve employees’ knowledge so they can 
facilitate the receipt of complaints from people 
with disability.

3

Outcome 6
People with disability 
have the same 
opportunities as 
other people to 
participate in any 
public consultation 
we may carry out.

Ongoing monitoring of our DAIP to ensure 
implementation and satisfactory outcomes. 3

Outcome 7
People with disability 
have the same 
opportunities as 
other people to 
obtain and maintain 
employment with a 
public authority.

Advertisements for vacancies include 
the statement that the OAG is an Equal 
Opportunity Employer.

3

Flexible employment options are available for 
employees with disability. 3

Workplace set‑up and equipment is tailored to 
employee needs. 3

Awareness sessions conducted annually as 
part of our PD and Office forum program. 3

Table 29
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Expenditure on advertising
In accordance with s175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, the Office 
incurred the following expenditure in recruitment advertising, conducting 
of surveys and our contribution to the benchmarking survey of the 
Australasian Council of Auditors‑General. The total expenditure for 
2014‑15 was $68 198.

Total $ (ex GST)

2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15

Advertising agencies

Adcorp Marketing non‑staff 5 143 525 690 – –

Adcorp Marketing staff 
vacancies – 6 126 10 061 2 175 1 226

Market research organisations

Orima Research Pty Ltd 51 069 54 526 61 265 86 480 66 673

Surveymonkey.com 333 299 295 299 299

Total 56 545 61 476 72 311 88 954 68 198

Table 30

Compliance with public sector standards 
and ethical codes
The Office has procedures and policies in place designed to ensure 
compliance with public sector standards, public sector code of ethics 
and public sector standards in human resource management. In 
addition, our internal code of conduct specifies appropriate standards of 
employee behaviour, with direct relevance to the Office’s unique role and 
responsibilities. Employees must also adhere to requirements imposed 
upon professional auditors.

This year one application for breach of standards was lodged. This 
related to performance management and was dismissed.   

Measures we use to inform our employees of these standards and 
requirements include providing information to new employees as part of 
the induction process, publishing the documentation on our intranet and 
regular information sharing sessions for all employees.

In addition, a Human Resources representative participates in all 
recruitment and selection processes, providing advice, support and 
guidance particularly in relation to the Public Sector human resource 
standards. Our correspondence to all applicants includes details 
on how to access the Public Sector Standards and all recruitment 
and appointment processes are independently reviewed to ensure 
compliance.

Further information relating to our code of conduct is on page 63.
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Records management
Our Recordkeeping Plan acknowledges our responsibility to ensure all 
employees are aware of their compliance responsibilities and provided 
with training in these areas. We achieve this through a range of tools 
including:

yy a mandatory online Recordkeeping Awareness Training program for 
all employees

yy graduate induction training, specifically targeted at their role and use 
of the records management system

yy focus group sessions, as required, for specific user groups or 
individuals on issues or emerging topics requiring additional training.

In addition to training for all existing employees, we place particular 
focus and effort on informing new employees of the compliance 
requirements and their personal responsibilities. We do this through our 
induction process, which includes awareness of records management 
policies, procedures and responsibilities, as well as training in the use 
of the Office’s electronic document and records management system 
(EDRMS).

To complement our formal instructor‑led training, we also use interactive 
online multimedia training presentations and quick reference guidebooks. 
Our mix of formal, informal and self guided training packages has proven 
to be both effective and appreciated by employees. 

Our Service Request Tracking software includes requests for information 
management and recordkeeping assistance. This software allows us to 
track and report on common issues across the Office. Common issues 
then become the focus of specific targeted training.

Our recordkeeping system is included in the internal and external audit 
programs of the Office (page 75) and all recommendations made as a 
result of these reviews are addressed.

The State Records Commission approved our current Recordkeeping 
Plan in December 2013, noting that: ‘The Plan demonstrates significant 
progress towards better practice recordkeeping and compliance with the 
minimum requirements of SRC Standard 2: Recordkeeping Plans and 
SRC Standard 6: Outsourcing.’
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Government Policy Requirements
Occupational safety and health and injury 
management
We are committed to providing and maintaining a safe and healthy 
work environment and acknowledge the responsibilities under 
the Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984 and the Workers’ 
Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981. 

Table 21 on page 62 shows our performance in 2014‑15 against the 
targets set out in the Public Sector Commissioner’s Circular 2012‑05.

Occupational safety and health (OSH) is a priority for us at all times. 
While we are fortunate that our employees work in a very low risk 
environment, we do not take this for granted and have elevated 
responsibility for overseeing our OSH commitments to our Audit and Risk 
Management Committee (page 72). 

All our employees have received online OSH training and we have 
designated and trained OSH safety officers. All our practices comply with 
legislative and policy requirements in Western Australia.    
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KRA 1  
Our Clients

Our clients are Parliament, government agencies and the community of Western Australia. We continue to maintain our independence 
to ensure our credibility. We strive to add value to Parliament and client agencies

Objective 1.1 Quality relationships with Parliament as a key stakeholder, parliamentary committees, client 
agencies and other integrity bodies Success indicators Status

Strategy 1.1.1 Provide relevant and timely information through advice, briefings and reports to Parliament
Client feedback – page 30
Working with Parliament  
– page 52
Communications – page 67
Working with our peers  
– page 54


Strategy 1.1.2 Liaison with clients about changes in public sector auditing and reporting 
Strategy 1.1.3 Effective communications activity and internet development project 
Strategy 1.1.4 Be an active member of the Integrity Coordinating Group (ICG) where information is shared and our 

role and responsibility is reinforced through meetings and the annual forum 
Objective 1.2 Our clients understand the role of the Office

Strategy 1.2.1 Continue to develop our professional relationships with Parliament Client feedback – page 30
Working with Parliament  
– page 52
Communications – page 67


Strategy 1.2.2 Advance our professional relationship with public sector entities to raise awareness and usage of 

our products and services 
Strategy 1.2.3 Appropriately inform clients about audit plans, processes and activities 
Objective 1.3 Timely, relevant and quality assured reports to our clients on public sector performance and 

accountability

Strategy 1.3.1 Seek feedback from our stakeholders to ensure our products and services serve the public interest Client feedback – page 30
Key performance indicators  
– page 23
Quality, efficiency and 
continuous improvement  
– page 77



Strategy 1.3.2 Aim to table reports as planned, on time —

Appendix 1:  
Our Strategic Progress

Legend 

 Complete / satisfactory ongoing results

— Target not met but no immediate cause for concern

 Not yet started / poor results – we are taking action to address
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KRA 1  
Our Clients

Our clients are Parliament, government agencies and the community of Western Australia. We continue to maintain our independence 
to ensure our credibility. We strive to add value to Parliament and client agencies

Objective 1.4 Quality relationships with ACAG audit offices Success indicators Status

Strategy 1.4.1 Involvement in sub committees Working with our peers  
– page 54
Quality, efficiency and 
continuous improvement  
– page 77


Strategy 1.4.2 Participation in quality assurance reviews of other ACAG audit offices 
Strategy 1.4.3 Information sharing between audit offices to improve practice 
Objective 1.5 Quality relationships with relevant agencies including Treasury to ensure that common goals 

are met

Strategy 1.5.1 Liaison with central agencies and ICG member organisations to ensure that we understand common 
themes and areas of focus

Working with our peers  
– page 54 

Objective 1.6 Consider partnering with relevant professional organisations and universities

Strategy 1.6.1 Liaison with member organisations such as ICAA, CPA, to ensure that our audit approach and 
understanding of current issues is current University liaison program  

– page 58


Strategy 1.6.2 Liaison with universities to ensure that the OAG performance and outcomes is strategic and 
contemporary 

KRA 2  
Our Products 
and Services

Our products and services include independent financial statement audits, performance and compliance audits, assurance reports, 
certifications and the sharing of knowledge and expertise. We aim to increase opportunities for improvement

Objective 2.1 The Auditor General has confidence in every audit report

Strategy 2.1.1 An effective Technical and Audit Quality Business Unit

Quality, efficiency and 
continuous improvement – 
page 77


Strategy 2.1.2 An effective Quality Assurance Plan 
Strategy 2.1.3 An effective Quality Framework 
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KRA 2  
Our Products 
and Services

Our products and services include independent financial statement audits, performance and compliance audits, assurance reports, 
certifications and the sharing of knowledge and expertise. We aim to increase opportunities for improvement

Objective 2.2 Reports and opinions that lead to improved public sector performance and accountability and 
are readily accessible to all potential users Success indicators Status

Strategy 2.2.1 Enhance processes to ensure the Office is aware of emerging issues in public sector administration

Client feedback – page 30
Referrals and enquiries  
– page 79
Topic selection – page 36
Reports tabled 2014-15  
– page 40



Strategy 2.2.2 We seek input into our topic selection process from stakeholders in line with our independence 
mandate 

Strategy 2.2.3 Ensure that we are always abreast of the latest technology and information by providing the reports 
in the most appropriate format to ensure that they are accessible by all potential users 

Strategy 2.2.4
Deliver an appropriate mix of timely and relevant products on topics including leveraging off our 
product range to provide the greatest opportunity for improvement in administration across the WA 
public sector



Objective 2.3 Completion of audits of the financial statements of client agencies in accordance with auditing 
and professional standards

Strategy 2.3.1 Maintain a contemporary auditing approach that efficiently delivers high quality audit work compliant 
with auditing, ethical and professional standards Quality, efficiency and 

continuous improvement  
– page 77



Strategy 2.3.2 Continuous improvement of our quality assurance processes to enable audit methodologies and 
quality control systems to exceed standards and statutory requirements 

Objective 2.4 Contribution to Australian and international activities that support and advance public sector 
auditing

Strategy 2.4.1 Maintain our targeted activities in the region
Reports tabled 2014-15 
(including regional-based 
reports) – page 40
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KRA 3  
Our People

We not only want to meet the standards we expect of others, we want to exceed those standards. We aim to continue to build the capacity 
of the Office

Objective 3.1 High performing people working in an environment that maximises their contribution to our 
strategic objectives Success indicators Status

Strategy 3.1.1 Ongoing leadership development to facilitate a motivated and productive workforce

Developing our workforce  
– page 55


Strategy 3.1.2 Identify complementary productivity and performance measures which support our business direction 
Strategy 3.1.3 Develop an appropriate mix of innovative training and development initiatives as part of a structured 

learning and professional development program to support employees 
Strategy 3.1.4 Ensure employees have the skills and ability to effectively communicate OAG role and tasks with 

client agencies 
Strategy 3.1.5 Assessment of ‘motivational fit’ by employee survey 
Objective 3.2 Build the capacity of the staff of the Office

Strategy 3.2.1 Investment in organisational capability that will give the Office a long term benefit
Developing our workforce  
– page 55
Our people – page 60



Strategy 3.2.2
A Workforce Development Plan which identifies a number of strategies in the key areas of; data 
management and utilisation; leadership and management; organisational structure; attraction and 
retention; and knowledge management


Objective 3.3 Career progression is valued and supported at the OAG  

Strategy 3.3.1 A Performance Development Review Framework that supports employees in career progression and 
responds to the evolving expectations of our workforce

Developing our workforce  
– page 55


Strategy 3.3.2 Employees to demonstrate their required competency and believe that they can meet their capability 

within their job description form and PDR process 
Strategy 3.3.3 Develop and communicate a succession plan so that employees understand where the leadership 

team will come from 
Objective 3.4 A working environment that is recognised has a ‘Workplace of Choice’ where people choose 

to work

Strategy 3.4.1
Recognised Employer Programs for CPA, ICAA and other member organisations Developing our workforce  

– page 55
Learning and professional 
development – page 55


Strategy 3.4.2 Attract external people to our Office 
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KRA 3  
Our People

We not only want to meet the standards we expect of others, we want to exceed those standards. We aim to continue to build the capacity 
of the Office

Objective 3.5 Service Level Agreements for each business unit which has divisional objectives, strategies, 
tasks, targets and timeframes Success indicators Status

Strategy 3.5.1 Service level agreement for each business unit Our strategic direction  
– page 18 

Objective 3.6 Supporting a safe and healthy workplace

Strategy 3.6.1 An active OSH function at the OAG Occupational Safety and Health 
– page 135
Wellness committee – page 63


Strategy 3.6.2 Hours of employees are monitored to ensure that the allocation of work is correct and to encourage 

work life balance 

KRA 4  
Our Business 
Performance

We recognise the need to act on opportunities to improve and enhance the efficiency of our work. We work to shift effort to things  
that matter

Objective 4.1 Business innovation which is able to respond effectively to future demands and requirements

Strategy 4.1.1 Encourage innovate approaches in our planning and business practices

Employee suggestions and 
ideas – page 64
Focus on continuous 
improvement – page 78



Objective 4.2 Efficient and effective office operations that meet our business needs

Strategy 4.2.1 Time, effort and resources are shifted to things that matter to help us achieve our business goals Our strategic direction  
– page 18
Quality, efficiency and 
continuous improvement – 
page 77



Strategy 4.2.2 Keep our business operations lean and straight forward while recognising broader information risks 
and reporting responsibilities 

Objective 4.3 Respond effectively to changes in our environment

Strategy 4.3.1 Continually review and improve our corporate governance and risk management framework and 
processes

Our strategic direction  
– page 18
Quality, efficiency and 
continuous improvement – 
page 77
Audit and risk management  
– page 72


Strategy 4.3.2 Maintain a strategic focus that recognises changes and facilitate a timely and appropriate response 
Strategy 4.3.3 Develop an effective Business Continuity Management Plan that allows the business to plan for and 

respond to any business interruptions caused by incidents, events or crises 
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KRA 4  
Our Business 
Performance

We recognise the need to act on opportunities to improve and enhance the efficiency of our work. We work to shift effort to things  
that matter

Objective 4.4
Sound financial management of our business which means operating at a sustainable surplus 
with adequate reserves facilitating operating effectiveness and independence in line with our 
mandate

Success indicators Status

Strategy 4.4.1 Perform zero based budgeting for significant items within the financial statements

Our financial performance  
– page 22
Internal, external and peer 
reviews – page 73
Financial statements – page 88


Strategy 4.4.2 Accurate budgeting process when compared to actual 
Strategy 4.4.3 A robust, transparent and sustainable audit fee setting policy that is fair and equitable and shows full 

cost recovery 
Strategy 4.4.4 ACAG Quality Assurance review – Section 1 and 2 
Strategy 4.4.5 Robust internal audit program with recommendations implemented on a timely basis 
Strategy 4.4.6 Robust external audit program with recommendations implemented on a timely basis 
Objective 4.5 Sound information systems to support the operational needs 

Strategy 4.5.1 Analyse optimum IT strategy that provides cost benefit Information technology and 
management – page 65
Information and Communication 
Technology Committee  
– page 65
Internal Information Systems 
audits – page 76


Strategy 4.5.2 Implement ITC strategic framework as part of a robust capital funding plan that addresses 

operational and strategic initiatives 
Strategy 4.5.3 Active IT committee 
Strategy 4.5.4 Reduce reliance upon IT systems provided by external service providers —

Objective 4.6 As a responsible corporate citizen we must do what we can to minimise harm to the planet and 
play our part in leading lower carbon imprint impacts and supporting the community

Strategy 4.6.1 Corporate Social Responsibility Policy 

Energy Management Plan  
– page 68


Strategy 4.6.2 Green Team responsible for assisting our Office consider the environment in decisions that we make 
Strategy 4.6.3 Understand the carbon tax and the impact on the audit plan for the Office 
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Appendix 2: Audit Clients at 30 June 2015

Audits under Financial 
Management Act 2006
Departments
Commissioner for Equal Opportunity
Department for Child Protection and 

Family Support
Department of Aboriginal Affairs 
Department of Agriculture and Food 
Department of Commerce 
Department of Corrective Services 
Department of Culture and the Arts 
Department of Education 
Department of Education Services
Department of Environment Regulation 
Department of Finance
Department of Fire and Emergency 

Services
Department of Fisheries 
Department of Health 
Department of Housing 
Department of Lands
Department of Local Government and 

Communities
Department of Mines and Petroleum 
Department of Parks and Wildlife 
Department of Planning
Department of Racing, Gaming and 

Liquor
Department of Regional Development

Department of Sport and Recreation 
Department of State Development
Department of the Attorney General 
Department of the Legislative Assembly 
Department of the Legislative Council 
Department of the Premier and Cabinet 
Department of the Registrar, Western 

Australian Industrial Relations 
Commission

Department of the State Heritage Office
Department of Training and Workforce 

Development
Department of Transport 
Department of Treasury 
Department of Water 
Governor’s Establishment 
Mental Health Commission
Office of the Commissioner for Children 

and Young People
Office of the Director of Public 

Prosecutions
Office of the Environmental Protection 

Authority
Office of the Information Commissioner 
Office of the Inspector of Custodial 

Services
Parliamentary Commissioner for 

Administrative Investigations
Parliamentary Services Department 
Police Service
Public Sector Commission 

State Emergency Management 
Committee Secretariat

Western Australian Electoral Commission

Statutory authorities
Agricultural Produce Commission 
Animal Resources Authority
Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority
Building and Construction Industry 

Training Board
Central Institute of Technology
Challenger Institute of Technology 
Chemistry Centre (WA)
Combat Sports Commission 
Commissioner of Main Roads
Construction Industry Long Service 

Leave Payments Board
Corruption and Crime Commission 
Country High School Hostels Authority 
Country Housing Authority
Curtin University of Technology 
C Y O’Connor Institute 
Disability Services Commission 
Durack Institute of Technology 
Economic Regulation Authority 
Edith Cowan University
Fire and Emergency Services 

Superannuation Board
Forest Products Commission
Gaming and Wagering Commission of 

Western Australia

Gascoyne Development Commission 
Gold Corporation
Goldfields-Esperance Development 

Commission
Goldfields Institute of Technology
Government Employees Superannuation 

Board
Great Southern Development 

Commission 
Great Southern Institute of Technology 
Health and Disability Services 

Complaints Office
Heritage Council of Western Australia 
Housing Authority
Insurance Commission of Western 

Australia
Keep Australia Beautiful Council (W.A.) 
Kimberley Development Commission 
Kimberley Training Institute
Landcare Trust
Law Reform Commission of Western 

Australia
Legal Aid Commission of Western 

Australia
Legal Contribution Trust 
Legal Costs Committee
Local Health Authorities Analytical 

Committee
Lotteries Commission 
Metropolitan Cemeteries Board
Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority 
Mid West Development Commission
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Minerals Research Institute of Western 
Australia 

Murdoch University
Parliamentary Inspector of the Corruption 

and Crime Commission
Peel Development Commission
Perth Market Authority
Perth Theatre Trust
Pilbara Development Commission 
Pilbara Institute
Polytechnic West
Potato Marketing Corporation of Western 

Australia
Professional Standards Council 
Public Transport Authority of Western 

Australia
Public Trustee
Quadriplegic Centre Board
Racing and Wagering Western Australia
Racing Penalties Appeal Tribunal of 

Western Australia
Rottnest Island Authority
Rural Business Development 

Corporation 
School Curriculum and Standards 

Authority
ScreenWest Inc
Small Business Development 

Corporation 
South West Development Commission 
South West Institute of Technology
State Supply Commission 
Swan Bells Foundation Inc 
Swan River Trust

The Aboriginal Affairs Planning Authority 
The Anzac Day Trust
The Board of the Art Gallery of Western 

Australia
The Burswood Park Board
The Coal Miners’ Welfare Board of 

Western Australia
The Library Board of Western Australia
The Minister for Health in his capacity 

as the Deemed Board of Metropolitan 
Public Hospitals

The National Trust of Australia (W.A.) 
The Queen Elizabeth II Medical Centre 

Trust
The University of Western Australia 
The Western Australian Museum 
Trustees of the Public Education 

Endowment
WA Country Health Service 
West Coast Institute of Training
Western Australian Alcohol and Drug 

Authority
Western Australian Building Management 

Authority
Western Australian Coastal Shipping 

Commission
Western Australian Energy Disputes 

Arbitrator
Western Australian Greyhound Racing 

Association
Western Australian Health Promotion 

Foundation
Western Australian Institute of Sport 
Western Australian Land Information 

Authority

Western Australian Meat Industry 
Authority

Western Australian Planning Commission 
Western Australian Sports Centre Trust 
Western Australian Tourism Commission 
Western Australian Treasury Corporation 
Wheatbelt Development Commission 
WorkCover Western Australia Authority 
Zoological Gardens Authority

Subsidiaries
Goldmaster Enterprises Pty Ltd
Homeswest Loan Scheme Trust 
Innovative Chiropractic Learning Pty Ltd 
Keystart Bonds Limited
Keystart Housing Scheme Trust 
Keystart Loans Limited  
Keystart Support Trust
Murdoch Retirement Services Ltd 
Murdoch University Foundation
Murdoch University Veterinary Centre 

Trust
The University Club of Western Australia 

Pty Ltd
UWA Accommodation Services Pty Ltd

Request audits
Perth USAsia Centre Pty Ltd
South West Cogeneration Joint Venture 
South West Hub Joint Venture
South West Hub Pty Ltd
Tertiary Institutions Service Centre (Inc)
Vinalco Energy Pty Ltd
Vinalco Energy Trust

Audits under other 
legislation
Cemeteries
Albany Cemetery Board 
Bunbury Cemetery Board 
Chowerup Cemetery Board 
Dwellingup Cemetery Board 
Geraldton Cemetery Board
Kalgoorlie-Boulder Cemetery Board
South Caroling Cemetery Board

Port authorities
Fremantle Port Authority 
Kimberley Ports Authority
Mid West Ports Authority
Pilbara Ports Authority
Southern Ports Authority

Other legislation
Annual Report on State Finances 
Bunbury Water Corporation 
Busselton Water Corporation 
Horizon Power – Regional Power 

Corporation
Independent Market Operator 
Synergy – Electricity Generation and 

Retail Corporation
Water Corporation
Western Australian Land Authority 
Western Power – Electricity Networks 

Corporation
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Appendix 3: Glossary
Accountability is traditionally 
established when Parliament 
confers responsibility on public 
sector agencies to account through 
a Minister of the Crown for all that 
is done in the exercise of their 
authority, the manner in which it is 
done and the ends sought to be 
achieved.

Accrual Accounting provides 
information on the effects of 
transactions and other events when 
they occur rather than when cash 
or its equivalent is received or 
paid, and they are recorded in the 
accounting records and reported 
in the financial statements of the 
periods to which they relate.

Across Government 
Benchmarking Audits build 
on the annual assurance audits 
and are aimed at providing an 
indication to Parliament and agency 
management of how agencies are 
performing relative to each other on 
selected key control activities.

Agency means a department, 
a sub-department or a statutory 
authority as defined in the Financial 
Management Act 2006.

Annual Report on State Finances 
is a report prepared in accordance 
with the Government Financial 
Responsibility Act 2000 that 
provides the State’s public sector 
financial results for the financial year 
and outlines material differences 
between these results and the 
financial forecasts contained in the 
State Budget for that financial year.

Assurance Audit or Financial 
Audit is audit work performed to 
enable an opinion to be expressed 
on the financial statements of an 
entity. For most entities, it also 
includes audit work to enable an 
opinion to be expressed on their 
controls and key performance 
indicators. 

Attestation Engagement where 
the assurance practitioner 
expresses a conclusion in a written 
report in another party’s evaluation 
or measurement of an entity’s 
activities.

Audit includes to examine, 
investigate, inspect and review. 

Auditor General’s Report is 
the vehicle used to report to 
Parliament the results of audits 
and examinations conducted under 
sections 12 to 20 of the Auditor 
General Act 2006. 

Clear Audit Opinion is expressed 
when the audit concludes, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, 
that, in all material respects, the 
financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, the key 
performance indicators are relevant 
and appropriate and fairly represent 
indicated performance, or controls 
are adequate.

Compliance Audits are audits that 
provide information about agency 
compliance with legislation, public 
sector policies and good practice.

Corporatised Entities operate 
under enabling legislation in a 
similar manner to companies under 
the Corporations Act 2001. 

Department means a department of 
the public sector established under 
the Public Sector Management Act 
1994. 

Direct Engagement where the 
assurance practitioner directly 
evaluates or measures an 
entity’s activities and expresses a 
conclusion in a written report.

Effectiveness Indicators are key 
performance indicators that provide 
information on the extent to which 
agency level government desired 
outcomes have been achieved, or 
contributed to, through the delivery 
of services.

Efficiency Indicators are key 
performance indicators that 
generally relate services to the 
level of resource inputs required to 
deliver them.

Entrance Interviews are formal 
meetings with senior management 
of agencies and other entities 
conducted during the audit planning 
phase to provide the opportunity to 
canvass with management issues 
of importance and to explore the 
proposed audit emphasis and areas 
of coverage.

Exit Interviews are formal 
meetings with senior management 
of agencies and other entities 
at the final stage of audits 
and examinations to confirm 
understandings and to explain audit 
findings and conclusions.
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Financial Statements are 
a structured set of financial 
information including explanatory 
notes derived from accounting 
records to communicate for a 
period of time an entity’s financial 
performance and cash flows, 
and at a point of time its financial 
position, that is useful to a wide 
range of users in making economic 
decisions.

A Follow-up Audit reviews the 
extent to which recommendations 
from the previous performance audit 
have been implemented, generally 
three to five years after tabling a 
report. 

A Follow-on Audit examines 
the progress in implementing 
recommendations from a previous 
report and has additional scope 
in covering significant issues or 
developments in the area or activity. 

Follow the Dollar Audits examine 
how government grants are being 
spent by receiving non public sector 
organisations.

Key Performance Indicator 
(KPI) is information about 
critical or material aspects of 
service performance or outcome 
achievement.

Key Performance Indicator 
Audit is an audit performed to 
enable an opinion to be expressed 
about whether or not the key 
performance indicators are relevant 
and appropriate having regard to 
their purpose and fairly represent 
indicated performance.

Management Letter is a letter to 
senior management of an agency or 
other entity that conveys the audit 
findings and results of an audit. It 
may include recommendations for 
improvements in controls and other 
matters.

Materiality is the characteristic 
based on the size and /or nature 
of an omission or misstatement 
of accounting, performance or 
compliance information that, in the 
light of context or circumstances, 
has the potential to adversely 
affect the economic decisions of 
users of the information or the 
discharge of accountability by senior 
management.

Matters of Significance (MoS) 
are the ‘key messages’ in Auditor 
General’s reports. ‘key messages’ 
are defined as the issues a general 
parliamentary reader would take 
away from the report after the 

detail of specific findings and 
recommendations has receded into 
the background.

Outcomes are the effect, impact, 
result on or consequence for the 
community, environment or target 
clients of government services.

Performance Audits are audits 
that examine efficiency and 
effectiveness of public sector 
agencies or specific areas within 
an agency or across a number of 
agencies.

Qualified Audit Opinion is 
expressed when, based on the 
audit evidence obtained, or 
where sufficient appropriate audit 
evidence is unable to be obtained, 
the financial statements are not 
free from material misstatement, 
or where the key performance 
indicators are not relevant or 
appropriate or do not fairly 
represent indicated performance, or 
controls are inadequate. 

Service means the supply of an 
activity or good to a user external 
to the entity providing the service. 
Services comprise programs and 
outputs.

Significance is the relative 
importance in the circumstances, 
in relation to audit objectives, of 
an item, event or information, or 
problem the auditor identifies.

Statutory Authority means 
a person or body specified in 
Schedule 1 of the Financial 
Management Act 2006. These 
agencies are established by 
Parliament under legislation for 
specified purposes.

Sub-department means an entity 
in respect of which a declaration 
under section 56(2) of the Financial 
Management Act 2006 has effect.

Treasurer’s Instructions are 
prescribed requirements at a 
minimum level with respect to 
matters of financial administration 
that have the force of law and 
must be observed by public sector 
agencies under the Financial 
Management Act 2006.

Working Papers are documents 
that record the auditor’s planning, 
the audit procedures performed, 
the audit evidence obtained, 
the auditor’s findings and the 
conclusions drawn for an audit.
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Over 180 years of audit in Western Australia
The origins of the Office of the Auditor General for Western Australia herald back to the first months of settlement of the 
Swan River colony in 1829. Captain Stirling formed in May (before even landing)‘ a Board of Counsel and Audit in the 
management of the property of the Crown, and of public property within the settlement’.

This started out as a voluntary role:‘… I am to acquaint you that his Excellency expects from your zeal the performance of 
the service required of you without reward of remuneration beyond the satisfaction you will derive from the fulfilment of a 
duty of this confidential nature’.

Stirling commanded the Office of the Commissioners of the Board of Counsel and Audit be opened ‘for the despatch of 
business’ on 12 August 1829. But they were very humble beginnings, operating out of a tent on the site chosen for the Town 
of Perth.

The Swan River Colony’s first Auditor, Captain Mark Currie, was appointed 1 July 1831, paid 300 pounds per annum, and 
was responsible to the Colonial Office through the Governor.

Western Australia has had 18 Auditors General.

Captain Mark John Currie 
1831

John Lewis 
1832

Peter Broun 
1844

William Knight 
1846

Edward Lane Courthope 
1872

Fred Spencer 
1891

Charles Samuel Toppin 
1904

Sydney Arnold Taylor 
1936

William Robert Nicholas 
1945

Constantine Paul Mathea 
1954

Clifford Charles Press 
1962

Alan Elliott Tonks 
1975

William Frederick Rolston 
1982

Allan Smith 
1987

Des Pearson 
1991

Colin Murphy 
2007

1830 1840 1850 1860 1870 1880 1890 1900 1910 1920 1930 1940 1950 1960 1970 1980 1990 2000 2010

Ormond Bowyer 
1968

Will Adams 
1969



150  |  Office of the Auditor General WA  |  Annual Report 2014-2015

Office of the Auditor General for Western Australia
7th Floor, Albert Facey House 
469 Wellington Street, Perth

Mail to:  
Perth BC, PO Box 8489 
Perth WA 6849

T: 08 6557 7500    |    F: 08 6557 7600
E: info@audit.wa.gov.au    |    W: www.audit.wa.gov.au

Download QR Code Scanner app and scan code 
to access more information about our OfficeFollow us on Twitter @OAG_WA
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